
City of Twin Oaks – Public Meeting - Board of Aldermen Agenda; December 16, 2020 
Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF TWIN OAKS  
BOARD OF ALDERMEN MEETING  

VIRTUAL MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2020, 7:00 p.m. 

To balance both the need for continuity of government and protection of the health and safety of our residents, 
business persons and employees, this meeting of the Board of Aldermen will not be open to public attendance in 
person but shall be accessible by the public by telephone (audio only) or by using their tablet/laptop/pc 
(audio/video) at: 

Telephone: (312) 626-6799
Computer: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5197276201?pwd=SHZXODU1cGtKOWJNSTFUUFRSQnY5Zz09 
Webinar ID: 519-727-6201
Passcode: 9YgwmB 

In addition, the meeting will also be livestreamed on Facebook so that the public may watch and listen to the 
meeting virtually. The livestream of the meeting will be accessible by tablet/laptop/PC or mobile device at 
www.facebook.com/twinoaksmo.  

The Board apologizes for any inconvenience these requirements may pose but it is extremely important all 
measures in compliance with the orders issued by public health authorities be taken to protect employees, 
residents, and elected officials during these extraordinary times. 

Residents and others who wish to comment may also email their comments to City Clerk Frank Johnson, 
fjohnson@cityoftwinoaks.com, by 6 p.m. on December 16, 2020, and their comments will be shared with the 
Board at the appropriate time. There is also an ability to comment during the videoconference meeting by 
opening the participants tab and clicking “raise hand” during the meeting when the Board reaches the “Citizen 
Comment” agenda items. The Agenda Packet for this meeting is available for viewing and download on the 
City’s Website – www.cityoftwinoaks.com. 

Tentative Agenda 

1) REGULAR MEETING CALLED TO ORDER

2) PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3) ROLL CALL

4) APPROVAL OF AGENDA

5) APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA
a) Board of Aldermen Regular Session Minutes from December 2, 2020
b) Board of Aldermen Work Session Minutes from December 2, 2020
c) Bills List from November 28 to December 11, 2020
d) Credit Card List from October 17 to November 15, 2020

6) REPORT OF COMMITTEES/COMMISSIONS/CONTRACTORS
a) Park Committee — Cindy Slama

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5197276201?pwd=SHZXODU1cGtKOWJNSTFUUFRSQnY5Zz09
http://www.facebook.com/twinoaksmo
mailto:fjohnson@cityoftwinoaks.com
http://www.cityoftwinoaks.com/


City of Twin Oaks – Public Meeting - Board of Aldermen Agenda; December 16, 2020 
Page 2 of 2 

b) Financial Statements — Jeff Blume 
c) Budget Narrative — Jeff Blume 

 
7) PUBLIC HEARING: 

a) Public comment on and consideration of the recommendation of the Planning & Zoning 
Commission concerning amendments to Chapters 400 (Zoning Regulations) of the Land Use 
Code (Title IV) of the City of Twin Oaks as part of a review of the City’s Zoning regulations.  

 
8) OLD BUSINESS 

a) Bill No. 20-21:  AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE 
ZONING CODE OF THE CITY OF TWIN OAKS AND ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
 

9) NEW BUSINESS 
a) Resolution No. 20-27:  A RESOLUTION OF THE TWIN OAKS BOARD OF 

ALDERMEN APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH GERSTNER 
ELECTRIC, INC. FOR WORK ON WOODLAND OAKS DRIVE. 

b) Resolution No. 20-28:  A RESOLUTION OF THE TWIN OAKS BOARD OF 
ALDERMEN APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH NUTOYS 
LEISURE PRODUCTS, INC., FOR INSTALLATION OF SOFT PLAYGROUND SURFACE. 
 

10) DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

11) ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
12) CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 
13) MAYOR AND ALDERMEN COMMENTS 

 
14) FINAL CITIZEN COMMENTS 

(Remarks shall be limited to three (3) minutes on any one subject unless time is extended by 
the Board) 

 
15) ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

Frank Johnson 
City Clerk              POSTED: Dec. 14, 2020, 3 p.m. 

 
 
Please note: Any person requiring physical or verbal accommodations should contact the city office 12 hours 
prior to meeting at 636-225-7873. Copies of public records for this agenda are available for public inspection 
before and at the time of the meeting. 
 



City of Twin Oaks-Board of Aldermen-Regular Meeting Minutes–December 2, 2020 
Page 1 of 6 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                           
BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF TWIN OAKS, 

VIRTURAL MEETING 
ST. LOUIS COUNTY, MISSOURI 

             WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 2, 2020 
 

The meeting of the Twin Oaks Board of Aldermen was called to order at 7:00 pm.   Roll 
Call was taken: 
 
Mayor: Russ Fortune – yea 
 
Aldermen: April Milne – yea                                     Lisa Eisenhauer – yea 
 Dennis Whitmore – yea                           Tim Stoeckl – yea                               

   
  
Also Present:   Frank Johnson, City Clerk 
 Erin Seele, Attorney from Cunningham, Vogel & Rost   
  
Permanent records are kept of all minutes and ordinances.  Each ordinance is read a 
minimum of two times by title, unless otherwise noted. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
Mayor Fortune asked if there were any changes to the agenda.  Hearing none, Alderman 
Milne motioned to approve the Agenda, seconded by Alderman Eisenhauer.  The motion 
passed by a voice vote.   
 

APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Mayor Fortune asked if there were any changes to the Consent Agenda consisting of the 
November 18, 2020 Regular Session Minutes, the November 18, 2020 Work Session 
Minutes, the November 4, 2020 Closed Session Minutes and the Bills List from November 
14, 2020 to November 27, 2020.  Alderman Eisenhauer motioned to approve the Consent 
Agenda seconded by Alderman Stoeckl. The motion passed by voice vote of four yes, zero 
no. 
 

BUDGET 2021 PUBLIC HEARING 
 
The Public Hearing regarding the Budget for 2021 was called to order by Mayor Fortune at 
7:03 p.m.  Mayor Fortune welcomed Jeff Blume, Financial Consultant.  Mr. Blume 
reviewed the Balance for Revenues for the years 2019 through 2021.  Mr. Blume stated 
that sales tax is the main source of revenue for the City.  The City is very fortunate to have 
not seen a great effect from the pandemic at this point.  It is possible that the City will end 



City of Twin Oaks-Board of Aldermen-Regular Meeting Minutes–December 2, 2020 
Page 2 of 6 

 

up even for the year.  Mr. Blume stated that there is still a lot of economic uncertainty for 
the future.   
 
The City had a decrease in spending during 2020 which was a good thing.  However, the 
City is projecting a deficit in 2021 with the discretionary spending and the money that is 
being put into the sinking fund.   
 
Mr. Blume reviewed the proposed project budget for 2021.  The Birnamwood 
Condominiums have asked the City to look into repair of curbing within the condos.  This 
project was added to the budget.  The landscaping for Crescent Road has been moved to 
2022 to offset the cost of the curbing.   
 
Mayor Fortune stated that by State statute the City is required to present a balanced budget, 
however if you look at the 2021 Budget it is not a balanced budget.  Mr. Blume stated that 
the State considers the Budget balanced because the City’s reserves can be used to cover 
the shortfall. 
 
There being no further questions or discussion, Mayor Fortune closed the Public Hearing at 
7:24 p.m. 
 

REPORTS OF COMMITTEES/COMMISSIONS/CONTRACTORS 
 
Police Report:  Officer John Wehner reviewed the November Police Report as well as the 
hours he logged on the bike for November.  
 
Mayor Fortune asked Officer Wehner to review the dog incident which occurred in the 
Park.  Officer Wehner gave an overview of what occurred.  Officer Wehner stated he had 
done his investigation and by County regulation the incident has now been turned over to 
St. Louis County Animal Control.  They will do their investigation and will decide what 
action will be taken.  Discussion ensued. 
 
Since it was a dog-on-dog incident and the dog did not attack the resident, the dog can be 
quarantined at home.  City Clerk Johnson stated that the City’s ordinance deals when a dog 
bites a person.  He will have Attorney Rost look at the situation when he returns to the 
office and see if there are any restrictions the City can implement at this time.   
 

PRELIMINARY CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

There were no preliminary citizen comments at this time. 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Twin Oaks-Board of Aldermen-Regular Meeting Minutes–December 2, 2020 
Page 3 of 6 

 

OLD BUSINESS 
 
Bill No. 20-18-An Ordinance Approving A Temporary Amendment To The Second 
Amended Final Development Plan For The Big Bend Square Mixed-Use 
Development:  First reading of Bill No. 20-18 was read.  City Clerk Johnson gave an 
overview of the ordinance contents.  Mayor Fortune ask if there was any discussion on Bill 
No. 20-18.  The second reading of Bill No. 20-18 was read.  Alderman Milne motioned to 
approve Bill No. 20-18, seconded by Alderman Eisenhauer and the motion passed on a roll 
call vote as follows:  Aldermen Milne-yea, Eisenhauer-yea Whitmore-yea and Stoeckl-yea.  
Mayor Fortune stated that Bill No. 20-18 being duly passed becomes Ordinance No. 20-18. 
 
Bill No. 20-19-An Ordinance Approving An Amendment To Section 217.030 Relating 
To Open Storage Of inoperable Vehicles:  First reading of Bill No. 20-19 was read.  City 
Clerk Johnson stated that this ordinance is a clarification the regulations of the section.  
Mayor Fortune ask if there was any discussion on Bill No. 20-19.  The second reading of 
Bill No. 20-19 was read.  Alderman Stoeckl motioned to approve Bill No. 20-19, seconded 
by Alderman Whitmore and the motion passed on a roll call vote as follows:  Aldermen 
Milne-yea, Eisenhauer-yea Whitmore-yea and Stoeckl-yea.  Mayor Fortune stated that Bill 
No. 20-19 Being duly passed becomes Ordinance No. 20-19. 
 
Bill No. 20-20-An Ordinance Approving Adopting A Budget For The 2021 Fiscal 
Year:  First reading of Bill No. 20-20 was read.  Mayor Fortune ask if there was any 
discussion on Bill No. 20-20.  The second reading of Bill No. 20-20 was read.  Alderman 
Stoeckl motioned to approve Bill No. 20-20, seconded by Alderman Eisenhauer and the 
motion passed on a roll call vote as follows:  Aldermen Milne-yea, Eisenhauer-yea 
Whitmore-yea and Stoeckl-yea.  Mayor Fortune stated that Bill No. 20-20 Being duly 
passed becomes Ordinance No. 20-20. 
 
Bill No. 20-21-An Ordinance Approving Text Amendments To The Zoning Code Of 
The City Of Twin Oaks And Adopting Revisions To The Official Zoning Map:  First 
reading of Bill No. 20-21 was read.  Mayor Fortune ask the Board to review the revisions 
to the Zoning Code.  The Board will vote on the revisions at the December 18th meeting. 
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

There were no discussion items. 
 

ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Attorney Seele had nothing to report.   
 
 
 
 



City of Twin Oaks-Board of Aldermen-Regular Meeting Minutes–December 2, 2020 
Page 4 of 6 

 

CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 

General Updates 
 
Additional Signage for Crescent Road 

● The City recently received a complaint from a resident at 143 Crescent Road after 
she was nearly hit trying to back out of her driveway. According to the resident, 
drivers on Crescent often don’t realize that the one way travel doesn’t start until 
several hundred feet past the intersection with Crescent Avenue and will drive in 
the middle of the road instead of on the right side of the double-yellow centerline.  

● As a result, the City is currently exploring adding additional signage to Crescent 
Road that would clearly state where the one-way traffic begins with the goal of 
educating drivers to stay in their proper lane. The City may also look at restriping 
the centerline for added visibility.  

 
HR Training 

● I attended a 6-hour training session hosted by the Missouri City Clerks and Finance 
Officers Association on Nov. 20 covering best practices in human resource 
management.  

 
Village of Twin Oaks Inspection Report 

● The City and BFA Engineering held a conference call with Propper to address 
several outstanding items from the property inspection performed on August 16, 
2019. See the report included in your packet for details. 

 
Aldi’s Development 

● The City received a preliminary development plan application from Aldi’s for the 
former Shop n’ Save location on Dec. 2. The plans will be sent to BFA for review 
and will likely go through a few rounds of comments and revisions before being 
sent to the P&Z and Board.  

Project Updates 
Woodland Oaks Light 

● The City has received a preliminary estimate for this work from Gerstner Electric 
for approximately $6,900. However, the proposed location near 1302 Woodland 
Oaks is likely on private property as the ROW is very narrow in that area. We are 
working with BFA to acquire information on existing easements.  

 
Creek Bed Repair 

● DJM started work on this project on Monday, Nov. 30. 



City of Twin Oaks-Board of Aldermen-Regular Meeting Minutes–December 2, 2020 
Page 5 of 6 

 

Crescent Road Sidewalk Project 
● Topographic survey completed on Nov. 23. BFA expects to have preliminary 

design completed by the end of December. 
 
Autumn Leaf Runoff 

● City Attorney Paul Rost has drafted an initial agreement for a Stormwater 
Management Easement. We are continuing to work with BFA to put together the 
necessary documentation.  

 
Autumn Leaf Sewer Backups 

● Approval for this work was issued on Nov. 17. Contractor is estimating the week of 
Dec. 7. We will send out information to residents once it’s confirmed.  

 
Stop Signs 

• On Nov. 12, the stop sign at the intersection of Crescent Road and Crescent Avenue 
was damaged. Maintenance staff have repaired the sign, as well as the stop sign at 
the intersection at Crescent  
 

MAYOR AND ALDERMAN COMMENTS 
 

Alderman Stoeckl stated that in the ads for Sauce on the Side the address listed is Ballwin.   
 
Alderman Milne said the Christmas lights in the Park looked great.  Mayor Fortune asked if 
it may be possible for Maintenance Supervisor John Williams to run the racetrack lights 
that are used for July 3rd to light the pathways.  The Board asked of a notice could be sent 
out to the residents about the lights for those that may not be aware of them.   
 

FINAL CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 
There were no final citizen comments.   
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business, Alderman Milne motioned to adjourn the regular meeting 
at 8:21 p.m., seconded by Alderman Whitmore and the motion passed with the unanimous 
consent of the Board of those present. 
 
 
 
Drafted By:  _____________________________ 
                     Theresa Gonzales,  
                     Administrative Assistant  
 



City of Twin Oaks-Board of Aldermen-Regular Meeting Minutes–December 2, 2020 
Page 6 of 6 

 

Date of Approval:  ________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________  _____________________________ 
Frank Johnson                        Russ Fortune, 
City Clerk                                              Mayor, Board of Aldermen  



 
 

 
City of Twin Oaks - Board of Aldermen Work Session Meeting Minutes  

 December 2, 2020 
Page 1 of 3 

 

MINUTES OF THE WORK SESSION  
VIRTURAL MEETING  

CITY OF TWIN OAKS BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 2, 2020 

 
The Work Session was called to order by Mayor Fortune at 6:00 p.m. pursuant to public 
notice and agenda.  Roll Call was taken:     

 
Mayor Russ Fortune – yea 
 
Aldermen Lisa Eisenhauer – yea     
 Tim Stoeckl – yea                       
 April Milne – yea 
 Dennis Whitmore – yea 
    
Also Present:   Frank Johnson, City Clerk 
 Erin Seele, Attorney from Cunningham, Vogel & Rost 
     

ASSISTANCE PROGRAM FOR BUSINESS IMPACTED BY COVID-19 
 

Mayor Fortune stated that at the last Board meeting Alderman Milne has requested the 
City look into possible ways the City can help businesses in the City impacted by the 
pandemic.  He asked City Clerk Johnson to report his findings. 
 
City Clerk Johnson reported he had looked into developing a Grant program that would 
be applied for and benefit Twin Oaks businesses.  City Clerk Johnson stated that 
Attorney Rost cautioned the City to be careful with distribution in regards to issues of 
fairness.  Attorney Seele also emphasized that fairness in distribution is important.   
 
Another issue to consider is the City has a limited budget and what the City could offer 
may not help the businesses who are in need of more substantial help. Also the cost 
involved in developing the program, staff and legal cost makes doing this type of 
program not wise for the City at this time.  
 
City Clerk Johnson stated that St. Louis County has a new program where small 
businesses can apply and receive assistance from the County.  A letter has been sent to 
each business in Twin Oaks as well as the information is on the website.  County, State 
and the Federal governments have more resources available to provide substantial help 
for small businesses.   
 
The City is also looking into other avenues which may help the restaurants.  They did 
have an inquiry from 1356 Public House to possibly expand their outdoor dining into the 



 
 

 
City of Twin Oaks - Board of Aldermen Work Session Meeting Minutes  

 December 2, 2020 
Page 2 of 3 

 

parking lot.  City Clerk Johnson stated that one of the ordinances on tonight’s agenda 
would grant temporary accommodations in times of a public health emergency.   
 
Alderman Whitmore asked if there is a way the City can check if businesses in Twin 
Oaks have applied for the County program.  City Clerk Johnson said that he will follow 
up with the businesses to see if they have any questions or if the City can provide any 
help in their application.   
 
Alderman Milne thanked City Clerk Johnson for looking into this issue and that the City 
is looking into other avenues which may help our businesses.   Discussion ensued by the 
Board.   The decision of the Board was to encourage businesses to go after the County 
money and see if there is anything the City can assist with.  
 

THE VILLAGES OF TWIN OAKS INSPECTION REPORT 
  
City Clerk Johnson received the inspection report from The Villages of Twin Oaks.  The 
report included the item to be addressed, if it has been addressed and an explanation of 
what action is being taken.   
 
Mayor Fortune stated that he is not happy with the look of the retaining wall along 141 
ramp and the lack of grass on the hill.  He will be contacting Tim Breece of Propper 
Development to discuss this issue.   
 
Alderman Stoeckl questioned why Propper is not looking at the property and taking care 
of some of these issues.  This was something that was discussed in the early stages of the 
development and he feels that the Board was assured the property would be kept up. 
 
Alderman Whitmore inquired where Dunkin Donuts was in their development process.  
City Clerk Johnson said that the developer was still in the process of applying for 
building permits through St. Louis County.     
 
City Clerk Johnson did a brief discussion of the Zoning Code changes that will be 
discussed in the Regular Board meeting.  The changes that have been made take into 
consideration the different lot sizes within Twin Oaks and it is no longer a one size fits all 
code.   
 
Alderman Whitmore asked since we have recently encountered some things that were 
dropped from the code during recodification is there anything that can be done to prevent 
this in the future.  Alderman Eisenhauer stated that this will occur at times but not on a 
consistent basis.   
 



 
 

 
City of Twin Oaks - Board of Aldermen Work Session Meeting Minutes  

 December 2, 2020 
Page 3 of 3 

 

Mayor Fortune stated that William Herbold, a resident of Twin Oaks, passed away from 
complications from Covid-19.  Since his wife Janet is a member of the Park Committee, 
the City will be making a donation to Circle of Concern in his name.   
 
Discussion ensued if the Board would like to keep the last leaf pick up as scheduled on 
December 8th or change to a week or two later.  The Board agreed they would like to 
keep the pick up as scheduled since residents have this on their calendar.   
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Alderman Whitmore motioned to adjourn the Work Session Meeting at 6:51 p.m., 
seconded by Alderman Milne and motion passed with the unanimous consent of the 
Board of those present. 
 
 
 
 
Drafted By:  _____________________________ 
                     Theresa Gonzales,  
                     Administrative Assistant    
 
 
 
 
Date of Approval:  ________________________ 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________  _____________________________ 
Frank Johnson,                                                    Russ Fortune, 
City Clerk                                                                     Mayor, Board of Aldermen 
 



Check No. Invoice Date Memo/Description Invoice No. Bill Amt Check Amt Payment Date

11764 Hendel Lawncare 12/9/2020 Fall leaf pick up 14183 $9,850.00 $9,850.00 12/16/2020

11765 Botz, Deal & Company 11/30/2020 Audit services for the year ending December 31, 2019 560813 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 12/16/2020

11766 11/27/2020
(3) trees cut down, stumps ground, debris hauled away; top dressing and 
fertilizing in Park 915233987 $7,001.00 $7,001.00 12/16/2020

11767 DJM Ecological Services 12/4/2020
Creek Restoration-drainage swale repair

1181463 $9,960.00 $9,960.00 12/16/2020

11768 Harvey's Services, Inc. 11/30/2020
Leaf clean up in Park-11-6-2020 and 11-28-2020; Final grass cutting within City

SJN#19620 $1,226.14 $1,226.14 12/16/2020

11769 Jan-Pro of St. Louis 12/1/2020
Cleaning of Comfort Station and Playground for December

92228 $1,560.00 $1,560.00 12/16/2020

11770 Nu-Toys Leisure Products 11/16/2020
Nuts & bolts for playground

51029 $179.85 $179.85 12/16/2020

11771 Sam's Club 11/22/2020
Membership for 1-1-2021 to 12-31-2021

$45.00 $45.00 12/16/2020

11772 St. Louis County Treasurer 11/12/2020
Police contract for November

132400 $11,092.49 $11,092.49 12/16/2020

11773 Tech Electronics 12/3/2020
Fire monitoring for City Hall-1-2-2021 to 1-1-2022

N000054807 $720.00 $720.00 12/16/2020

11774 NewsMagazine Network 12/2/2020
Election Notice Publication

5889-R $660.00 $660.00 12/16/2020

Online Missouri Lawyers Media
11/25/2020 Notice of Public Hearing Dec. 16, 2020

744892722 $37.12 $37.12 12/14/2020

Online Marco
11/24/2020 Lease payment for copier-10-25-2020 to 11-24-2020

INV8195404 $41.47 $41.47 12/14/2020

Online Spire
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for City Hall

$57.82 $57.82 12/10/2020

Online Mastercard
11/15/2020 Monthly statement

$2,294.62 $2,294.62 12/8/2020

AutoPay The Brain Mill
11/21/2020 Phone, Internet and remote connection

5559 $922.00 $922.00 12/2/2020

AutoPay Spire
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for 50 Crescent Ave

$58.65 $58.65 12/8/2020

AutoPay Ameren
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for 50 Crescent Ave

$23.32 $23.32 12/8/2020

AutoPay Ameren
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for 1 Twin Oaks Ct. 

$289.08 $289.08 12/8/2020

AutoPay Ameren
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for 141 & Big Bend

$65.18 $65.18 12/8/2020

AutoPay Ameren
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for City Hall

$983.50 $983.50 12/8/2020

AutoPay
11/23/2020 Monthly charge for 50 Crescent Ave-Waterpump

$162.21 $162.21 12/8/2020

AutoPay Metropolitan Sewer District
11/19/2020 Monthly charge for 50 Crescent Ave

$31.40 $31.40 12/9/2020

AutoPay
MO American Water 
Company

11/19/2020 Monthly charge for City Hall Irrigation
$166.30 $166.30 12/11/2020

AutoPay
MO American Water 
Company

11/19/2020 Monthly charge for 1240 Derbyshire Dr. Irrigation
$974.50 $974.50 12/11/2020

AutoPay
MO American Water 
Company

11/19/2020 Monthly charge for City Hall
$46.35 $46.35 12/11/2020

AutoPay MO American Water 
Company

11/23/2020 Monthly charge for 50 Crescent Ave
$22.98 $22.98 12/15/2020

AutoPay MO American Water 
Company

11/24/2020 Monthly charge for 1312 Big Bend Irrigation
$638.17 $638.17 12/16/2020

AutoPay Ameren 12/4/2020 Monthly charge for street lights
$606.03 $606.03 12/18/2020

AutoPay MO American Water 
Company

12/2/2020 Monthly charge for 1 Twin Oaks Ct. Firepark
$25.20 $25.20 12/24/2020

Alderman

______________________________

Alderman

_____________________________________

City of Twin Oaks
Bills and Applied Payments

November 28, 2020-December 11, 2020

Davey Tree Expert 
Company

Ameren



Credit Card List
October 17 - November 15

, 2020

Date Name Memo/Description Amount
10/19/2020 Amazon Otterbox and charging cables 60.25  

10/19/2020 Office Depot Office supplies 43.75  

10/21/2020 Adobe Monthly charge 14.99  

10/22/2020 Fish Window cleaning Outside windows and doorway 170.00  

10/23/2020 Lowes Road paint 35.88  

10/25/2020 Menards Office cleaning supplies 13.94  

10/27/2020 Jon-Don Electrostatic Disinfectant Sprayer 1,617.69  

10/29/2020 Amazon Low voltage transformer for landscape lighting-Golden Oak lights 79.99  

10/30/2020 Sam's Club Office supplies 94.88  

11/1/2020 Intuit Monthly charge 70.00  

11/2/2020 Menards Park and office supplies 37.68  

11/3/2020 Amazon (2) pairs of googles 40.58  

11/4/2020 Zoom Monthly charge 14.99  

2,294.62 



CITY OF 
TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI

MONTHLY OPERATING 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF AND FOR THE ELEVEN 
MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 

2020 AND NOVEMBER 30, 2019



2020 2019
ASSETS
         3-115 Enterprise Bank - Sewer Lateral 5757 52,703$       56,449$       
         4-113 US Bank Trust Account 136              136              
         9-100 Petty Cash 100              100              
         9-111 Meramec Money Market 10,482         10,462         
         9-112.1 Enterprise Bank- General Checking 5732 27,992         25,826         
         9-112.2 Enterprise Bank - Reserve Fund MMA 5740 897,426       815,210       
         9-112.3 Enterprise Bank - Special Account 5765 59,811         59,670         
         9-112.4 Enterprise Bank - Debt Service Retirment 6108 75,006         -               
         9-122.2 CD Meramec Valley .5987 9/8/19 115,191       114,164       
         9-128 Escrow Deposits Payable (5,000)         (10,000)       
         9-129 Accrued Interest 88                88                
      Total Bank Accounts 1,233,934    1,072,106    
         9-130 Accounts Receivable 854              854              
         1-180 Taxes Receivable - Road 8,324           9,239           
         2-180 Taxes Receivable - Park 62,578         27,996         
         3-180 Taxes Receivable - Sewer Lateral 1,497           1,373           
         4-180 Taxes Receivable - CI 53,192         23,797         
         9-144 Prepaid Items 7,057           7,057           
         9-180 Taxes Receivable - GF 151,372       104,462       
         9-180.1 Deferred Property Taxes Receivable 14,741         -               
         9-181 Other receivables -               1,210           

TOTAL ASSETS 1,533,548$  1,248,093$  
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
            9-210 MVB Credit MasterCard 2,894$         9,436$         
            1-201 Accounts Payable - Cap Improve 9,540           5,275           
            2-201 Accounts Payable - Parks 7,386           17,045         
            2-240 Park Reservation Deposits 1,600           400              
            4-201 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE - CIST -               154              
            9-201 Accounts Payable - GF 10,673         13,619         
            9-233 LAGER Liability 91                1,558           
            9-239 Accrued Payroll 14,512         4,945           
            9-240 Community Room Deposits 470              60                
            9-281 Deferred property tax revenue-Annual Assessement 14,741         14,741         

   Total Liabilities 61,907         67,233         
FUND BALANCE
      1-301 Road Fund Balance 24,122         -               
      2-301 Park & Storm Fund Balance 231,363       509,480       
      3-301 Sewer Lateral Fund Balance 65,427         61,149         
      3050 Fund Balance Offset -               -               
      4-301 Cap Impr Fund Balance 458,445       503,431       
      9-301 General Fund Balance 502,293       562,354       
      9-390 Retained Earnings -               (1)                 

Net Change in Fund Balance 189,991       (455,553)     
   Total Fund Balance 1,471,641    1,180,860    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 1,533,548$  1,248,093$  

City of Twin Oaks
Balance Sheet

NOVEMBER 30, 2020 and 2019

PAGE 1 OF 5



CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES, FUND BALANCE AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

  

Amount %
REVENUES RECEIVED

Sales Taxes -$        214,344$  -$           252,170$  421,368$  887,882$     1,007,300$  88 % 828,762$    59,120$     7 %
Property Taxes -          -            32,913       -            19,572      52,486         55,600         94 % 25,035        27,450       110 %
Intergovernmental Taxes -          -            9,057         -            18,395      27,452         27,400         100 % 22,045        5,406         25 %
Licenses, Permits & Fees 3,421      -            -             -            95,656      99,076         102,000       97 % 83,774        15,302       18 %
Miscellaneous Revenue -          -            -             400           17,396      17,796         3,200           556 % 3,300          14,496       439 %
Interest Income 1,708      -            -             -            2,130        3,838           5,000           77 % 5,513          (1,675)        (30)%

5,129      214,344    41,970       252,570    574,517    1,088,530    1,200,500    91 % 968,430      120,100     12 %

EXPENDITURES PAID
Personnel Services -          -            42,378       28,487      142,548    213,412       261,100       82 % 232,511      19,099       8 %
Administrative -          -            -             -            89,167      89,167         104,500       85 % 110,081      20,914       19 %
Operating 3,993      -            78,963       37,540      63,516      184,011       244,900       75 % 226,242      42,231       19 %
Contractual -          -            -             -            74,223      74,223         105,300       70 % 115,346      41,123       36 %
Police -          -            -             -            110,925    110,925       126,200       88 % 117,903      6,978         6 %
Lease -          -            -             500           -            500              100              500 % (76)              (576)           756 %
Repairs and Maintenance -          -            17,658       20,615      -            38,273         44,200         87 % 55,861        17,588       31 %
Debt Service -          142,772    -             -            -            142,772       142,800       100 % 142,628      (144)           (0)%
Capital additions

Stormwater -          -            -             1,459        -            1,459           700              208 % 713             (746)           (105)%
Other -          -            17,895       25,902      -            43,797         151,500       29 % 422,775      378,978     90 %

Total 3,993      142,772    156,894     114,502    480,378    898,539       1,181,300    76 % 1,423,983   525,444     37 %
-        

1,136      71,572      (114,924)    138,068    94,139      189,991       19,200         990 % (455,553)     645,544     (142)%

-          16,076      114,924     (52,400)    (78,600)    -               -               -              -             
1,136      87,648      0                85,668      15,539      189,991       19,200         990 % (455,553)     645,544$   (142)%

FUND BALANCE - 
Beginning of Year 65,427    458,445    24,118       231,363    502,293    1,281,646    1,281,646    1,772,401   
End of Period 66,563$  546,093$  24,118$     317,031$  517,832$  1,471,637$  1,300,846$  1,316,848$ 

Budget 100         (9,000)       -             67,600      (39,500)    19,200         
Actual Over/(Under) Budget 1,036$    96,648$    0$              18,068$    55,039$    170,791$       

FOR THE ELEVEN MONTHS ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2020 AND NOVEMBER 30, 2019

NOVEMBER 30, 2019

TotalGeneralRoad Actual

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

OTHER SOURCES(USES) OF FUNDS
Transfers

Excess (deficiency) of revenues  over 
(under) expenditures

DIFFERENCE
FAV / (UNFAV)% Bdgt

NOVEMBER 30, 2020

Sewer Parks BudgetCIST 

C:\Users\jblume\Dropbox\VOTO Fin Sts\2020\
VOTO SRAE 2020.xls
Clssfd

12/6/2020
9:22 PM

PAGE 2 OF 5



CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES,
FUND BALANCE AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

Sewer CIST Road Parks General Total
REVENUES RECEIVED

Sales Taxes -$         239,100$     -$          292,900$   475,300$   1,007,300$   
Property Taxes -           -               15,200      -             40,400       55,600          
Intergovernmental Taxes -           -               10,400      -             17,000       27,400          
Licenses, Permits & Fees 4,700       -               -            -             97,300       102,000        
Grants -           -               -            -             -             -                
Miscellaneous Revenue -           -               -            -             3,200         3,200            
Interest Income 400          -               -            -             4,600         5,000            

5,100       239,100       25,600      292,900     637,800     1,200,500     

EXPENDITURES PAID
Court -              -               -            -             -             -                
Personnel Services -              -               39,700      42,800       178,600     261,100        
Administrative -           -               -            -             104,500     104,500        
Operating 5,000       -               79,800      83,200       76,900       244,900        
Contractual -           -               -            -             105,300     105,300        
Police -           -               -            -             126,200     126,200        
Lease -           -               -            -             100            100               
Repairs and Maintenance -           -               10,800      33,400       -             44,200          
Debt Service -           142,800       -            -             -             142,800        
Capital additions

Stormwater -           -               -            700            -             700               
Other -           65,000         78,500      8,000         -             151,500        

Total 5,000       207,800       208,800    168,100     591,600     1,181,300     

100          31,300         (183,200)   124,800     46,200       19,200          

-           (40,300)        183,200    (57,200)      (85,700)      -                
-           (40,300)        183,200    (57,200)      (85,700)      -                
100          (9,000)          -            67,600       (39,500)      19,200          

FUND BALANCE - 
Beginning of Year 65,427     458,445       24,118      231,363     502,293     1,281,646     
End of Period 65,527$   449,445$     24,118$    298,963$   462,793$   1,300,846$   

Budget
Actual Over/(Under) Budget

BUDGET - FYE 12/31/2020

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

Excess (deficiency) of revenues  
over (under) expenditures

OTHER SOURCES(USES) OF F
Transfers

TOTAL

C:\Users\jblume\Dropbox\VOTO Fin Sts\2020\
VOTO SRAE 2020.xls
Spprt

12/6/2020
9:22 PMPAGE 3 OF 5



CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES,
FUND BALANCE AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

REVENUES RECEIVED
Sales Taxes
Property Taxes
Intergovernmental Taxes
Licenses, Permits & Fees
Grants
Miscellaneous Revenue
Interest Income

EXPENDITURES PAID
Court
Personnel Services
Administrative
Operating
Contractual
Police
Lease
Repairs and Maintenance
Debt Service
Capital additions

Stormwater
Other

Total

FUND BALANCE - 
Beginning of Year
End of Period

Budget
Actual Over/(Under) Budget

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

Excess (deficiency) of revenues  
over (under) expenditures

OTHER SOURCES(USES) OF F
Transfers

TOTAL

Sewer CIST Road Parks General Total

-$         214,344$      -$            252,170$   421,368$   887,882$      
-           -                32,913        -             19,572       52,486          
-           -                9,057          -             18,395       27,452          

3,421       -                -              -             95,656       99,076          
-           -                -              -             -             -                
-           -                -              400            17,396       17,796          

1,708       -                -              -             2,130         3,838            
5,129       214,344        41,970        252,570     574,517     1,088,530     

-           -                -              -             -             -                
-           -                42,378        28,487       142,548     213,412        
-           -                -              -             89,167       89,167          

3,993       -                78,963        37,540       63,516       184,011        
-           -                -              -             74,223       74,223          
-           -                -              -             110,925     110,925        
-           -                -              500            -             500               
-           -                17,658        20,615       -             38,273          
-           142,772        -              -             -             142,772        

-           -                -              1,459         -             1,459            
-           -                17,895        25,902       -             43,797          

3,993       142,772        156,894      114,502     480,378     898,539        

1,136       71,572          (114,924)     138,068     94,139       189,991        

-           -                -              -             -             -                
-           -                -              -             -             -                

1,136       71,572          (114,924)     138,068     94,139       189,991        

65,427     458,445        24,118        231,363     502,293     1,281,646     
66,563$   530,017$      (90,806)$     369,431$   596,432$   1,471,637$   

100          (9,000)           -              67,600       (39,500)      19,200          
1,036       80,572          (114,924)     70,468       133,639     170,791        

ACTUAL - NOVEMBER 30, 2020

C:\Users\jblume\Dropbox\VOTO Fin Sts\2020\
VOTO SRAE 2020.xls
Spprt

12/6/2020
9:22 PMPAGE 4 OF 5



CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES,
FUND BALANCE AND CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

REVENUES RECEIVED
Sales Taxes
Property Taxes
Intergovernmental Taxes
Licenses, Permits & Fees
Grants
Miscellaneous Revenue
Interest Income

EXPENDITURES PAID
Court
Personnel Services
Administrative
Operating
Contractual
Police
Lease
Repairs and Maintenance
Debt Service
Capital additions

Stormwater
Other

Total

FUND BALANCE - 
Beginning of Year
End of Period

Budget
Actual Over/(Under) Budget

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE

Excess (deficiency) of revenues  
over (under) expenditures

OTHER SOURCES(USES) OF F
Transfers

TOTAL

Sewer CIST Road Parks General Total

-$         199,446$    -$             234,643$   394,674$   828,762$      
-           -              8,022           -             17,014       25,035          
-           -              10,138         -             11,908       22,045          

1,386       -              -               -             82,388       83,774          
-           -              -               -             -             -                
-           -              -               100            3,200         3,300            
406          -              -               -             5,107         5,513            

1,792       199,446      18,159         234,743     514,290     968,430        

-           -              -               -             -             
-           -              45,784         35,707       151,020     232,511        
-           -              -               -             110,081     110,081        
-           -              94,917         72,637       58,688       226,242        
-           -              -               -             115,346     115,346        
-           -              -               -             117,903     117,903        
-           -              -               -             (76)             (76)                
-           -              18,344         37,517       -             55,861          
-           142,628      -               -             -             142,628        

-           -              -               713            -             713               
-           4,333          115,375       303,067     -             422,775        
-           146,962      274,420       449,641     552,961     1,423,983     

1,792       52,485        (256,260)      (214,899)    (38,670)      (455,553)       

-           -              -               -             -             -                
-           -              -               -             -             -                

1,792       52,485        (256,260)      (214,899)    (38,670)      (455,553)       

56,196     589,782      24,118         470,276     632,029     1,772,401     
57,988$   642,267$    (232,142)$    255,377$   593,359$   1,316,848$   

ACTUAL - NOVEMBER 30, 2019

C:\Users\jblume\Dropbox\VOTO Fin Sts\2020\
VOTO SRAE 2020.xls
Spprt

12/6/2020
9:22 PMPAGE 5 OF 5



BILL NO.  20-21                               ORDINANCE NO. 20-21 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING TEXT AMENDMENTS TO THE 
ZONING CODE OF THE CITY OF TWIN OAKS AND ADOPTING 

REVISIONS TO THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 400.550 of the Twin Oaks City Code, the Board of Aldermen 
may from time to time, on its own motion or on petition of the Planning and Zoning Commission, 
amend, supplement, change, modify or repeal by ordinance the regulations or districts herein or 
subsequently established after receiving the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommendation 
and report; and  

WHEREAS, for over a year the Planning and Zoning Commission has methodically and 
systematically review the entire Twin Oaks Zoning Regulations, Chapter 400 of the Municipal 
Code (hereinafter the “Zoning Code”); and 

WHEREAS, on October 27th 2020, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended 
that the Board of Aldermen approve of the proposed amendment of the Zoning Code attached 
hereto and incorporated herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Aldermen, after careful and due deliberation and following a 
duly noticed public hearing held on December 16, 2020 in accordance with § 400.550 and § 89.060 
RSMo., has concluded that the adoption of the proposed amended Zoning Code would be in the 
interests of health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF 
THE CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Chapter 400 of the Twin Oaks Municipal Code, the Zoning Regulations, is 
hereby amended by repealing Chapter 400 in its entirety and adopting in its place a new Chapter 
400 as set forth in Attachment 1 hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

Section 2. The Twin Oaks Zoning Map, attached as Attachment 2 hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference, is hereby amended and adopted. The Zoning Map, together with 
all officially authorized notations, references and other information shown thereon and all 
amendments thereto, shall be a part of the Zoning Code and shall have the same force and effect 
as if the Zoning Map, together with all notations, references and other information shown thereon, 
were fully set forth and described herein. The City Clerk or his/her designee is directed to maintain 
the Zoning Map and make any officially approved changes thereto.  

Section 3. The recitals contained in the Whereas clauses are expressly incorporated in 
and made a part of this Ordinance. 

Section 4. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect on and after its passage and 
approval by the Mayor. 

 
 



PASSED AFTER HAVING BEEN READ IN FULL OR BY TITLE TWO TIMES PRIOR TO 
PASSAGE BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI, 
THIS 16th DAY OF DECEMBER 2020. 
 

 
 
 

Russ Fortune, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: 

 
 
 

Frank Johnson, City Clerk  
 
 
 

  

  



Attachment 1 

Amended Zoning Code 

  



Article I  

General Provisions 

Section 400.010 Title.  

This Chapter shall be known and cited as the "Zoning Code of the City of Twin Oaks, Missouri," 

hereinafter referred to as "this Chapter." 

Section 400.020 Comprehensive Zoning Plan; Zoning Map.  

A. Establishment. The locations and boundaries of the zoning districts established herein 

shall be and are shown on the zoning map that is hereby incorporated into and made a 

part of this Code. The zoning map, together with all officially authorized notations, 

references and other information shown thereon and all amendments thereto, shall be a 

part of this Zoning Code and shall have the same force and effect as if the zoning map, 

together with all notations, references and other information shown thereon, were fully 

set forth and described herein. 

B. Maintenance. The City Clerk or his/her designee shall maintain the zoning map and shall 

be responsible for making any officially approved changes thereto. 

C. Zoning of streets, alleys, public ways, and railroad rights-of-way. All streets, alleys, 

public ways, and railroad rights-of-way, if not otherwise specifically designated, shall be 

deemed to be in the same zone as the property immediately abutting upon such alleys, 

streets, public ways, or railroad rights-of-way. Where the centerline of a street, alley, 

public way, or railroad right-of-way serves as a district boundary, the zoning of such 

areas, unless otherwise specifically designated, shall be deemed to be the same as that of 

the abutting property up to such centerline. 

D. General revisions to zoning map. The city may from time to time formally replace the 

zoning map of the city by ordinance as may be deemed appropriate in the public interest. 

Such ordinance shall not be subject to any procedures for adoption above and beyond the 

mandatory requirements for amending zoning district boundaries and regulations as set 

forth in RSMo 89.050—89.060. Any revisions to the zoning map thereafter as authorized 

by subsection (B) of this section by the City Clerk shall include placement on the map of 

the date the map has been revised. 

Section 400.030 Purpose.  

A. This Chapter is enacted to promote the health, safety and general welfare of the citizens of 

the City and to avoid street congestion, achieve appropriate population distribution, provide 

necessary spaces for light, air and recreation, protect the natural environment and existing 

property values, and secure the proper future development of the City in accordance with 

the Master Development Plan by regulating the use, bulk and density of land and structures 

and providing standards and procedures.  

B. This Chapter is not intended to abrogate, annul, or void any easement, covenant, indenture 



or other private agreement or legal relationship. This Chapter and amendments shall be 

separate from any such private agreement or relationship.  

Section 400.040 Interpretation.   

A. In interpreting and applying this Chapter, the provisions contained herein are minimum 

requirements for the purposes set forth. Whenever the requirements of this Chapter are at 

variance with the requirements of any easement, covenant, agreement or other lawfully 

adopted rules, regulations, or ordinances, the most restrictive, or that imposing the higher 

standards shall govern.  

B. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense include the future; 

words used in the singular include the plural, and words used in the plural include the 

singular; the words "shall," "will," or "must" are mandatory, not merely directory.  

Section 400.050 Effect on Previous Ordinances.  

Ordinances relating to the zoning of land existing on January 4, 1984, are superseded and 

amended as herein set forth; provided, however, that this Chapter shall be construed as a 

continuation of previous ordinances and not a new enactment insofar as the substance of 

revisions of previous ordinances is included herein. Furthermore, this Chapter shall be so 

interpreted with regard to tenure of officers and boards established by previous ordinances. 

Section 400.060 Validity and Severability.  

A. If any court of competent jurisdiction shall declare any Article, Section, Subsection, 

sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Chapter to be invalid or unconstitutional, or 

unlawful for any reason, such portion shall be deemed and is hereby declared to be a 

separate, distinct, and independent provision of this Chapter and such ruling shall not affect 

the validity of any other provisions of this Chapter not specifically included in said ruling.  

B. If any court of competent jurisdiction shall declare any Article, Section, Subsection, 

sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Chapter to be invalid or unconstitutional, or 

unlawful for any reason as applied to a particular land, parcel, lot, district, use, building or 

structure, such ruling shall not affect the application of such portion to any other land, 

parcel, lot, district, use, building or structure not specifically included in said ruling.  

 

 



Article II 

Definitions 

 

Section 400.070 General. 

In addition to the terms expressly defined in this Article, the word "building" shall include the 

word "structure" and the phrases "used" or "used for" shall include the meanings "designed for" 

and "intended for." Terms used in this Chapter and not defined in this Article, but which are 

defined in the Building Code shall be construed to have the meanings set forth in the Building 

Code. Where terms used in this Chapter are not defined, such terms shall have their ordinarily 

accepted meanings or such as the context may imply. 

 

Section 400.080. Definitions. 

 

The following words, when used in this Chapter, shall have the meanings set out herein: 

 

ACCESSORY BUILDING 

A subordinate roofed building, enclosed on all sides, clearly incident t and located on the same 

lot occupied by the principal use or building. 

 

ACESSORY STRUCTURE 

A structure, the use of which is clearly customarily incidental and subordinate to the principal 

building or use on the same lot. Examples include gazebos, detached pergolas, unenclosed 

outbuildings, pavilions, arbors, playground equipment, and similar structures. 

 

ACCESSORY USE  

A subordinate use clearly incident to and located on the same lot occupied by the principal use or 

building. 

 

ADULT ENTERTAINMENT ESTABLISHMENT 

Any business, premises, or establishment, including, without limitation, adult bookstores, adult 

video stores, adult motion picture theaters, adult mini-motion picture theaters, adult cabarets, or 

adult live performance theaters, which has any of the following: 

1. Thirty percent (30%) or more of its annual gross receipts derived from: 

a.  The offering of entertainment, performances, scenes, visual representations, or other 

presentations which are characterized by emphasis on depiction or description of 

"specified sexual activities" or of "specified anatomical areas" as herein defined; or 

b.  The offering of stock in trade of print, digitally produced or reproduced books, 

magazines, periodicals or other printed matter or photographs, films, motion pictures, 

DVDs, video in any format, slides or other materials or data compilations which are 

characterized by emphasis on depiction or description of "specified sexual activities" 

or of "specified anatomical areas" as herein defined and instruments, devices or 

paraphernalia designed for use in connection with "specified sexual activities" as herein 

defined; or 

2. Thirty percent (30%) or more of its inventory on hand at any time consisting of stock in trade 

of books, magazines, periodicals or other printed matter or photographs, films, motion pictures, 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 2 of 12 

video cassettes, DVDs, slides or other photographic materials which are characterized by emphasis 

on depiction or description of "specified sexual activities" or of "specified anatomical areas" as 

herein defined or instruments, devices or paraphernalia designed for use in connection with 

"specified sexual activities" as herein defined; or 

3. Ten percent (10%) or more of its total floor area allocated to: 

a.  The offering of entertainment, performances, scenes, visual representations, or other 

presentations which are characterized by emphasis on depiction or description of 

"specified sexual activities" or of "specified anatomical areas" as herein defined; or 

b.  The offering, display and storage of stock in trade of books, magazines, periodicals or 

other printed matter or photographs, films, motion pictures, video cassettes, DVDs, 

slides or other photographic materials which are characterized by emphasis on 

depiction or description of "specified sexual activities" or of "specified anatomical 

areas," as herein defined and instruments, devices or paraphernalia designed for use in 

connection with "specified sexual activities" as herein defined. 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

The Twin Oaks Board of Adjustment. 

BOARD OF ALDERMEN 

The Twin Oaks Board of Aldermen. 

BUFFER STRIP 

A landscaped area intended to separate and partially obstruct the view of two (2) adjacent land 

uses or properties from one another. 

400080B.tif 

BUILDING CODE 

The duly adopted Building Code of the Village as set forth in Section 500.010 of the Municipal 

Code of the Village of Twin Oaks, Missouri. 

CARPORT 

A structure not completely enclosed by walls or doors which is designed or used for the storage of 

vehicles, whether attached to or detached from the Principal Building. A Carport is not a Private 

Garage. 

CITY 

The City of Twin Oaks, Missouri. 

CITY CLERK 

The duly appointed and serving City Clerk of the City. 

CITY ATTORNEY 

The duly appointed and serving City Attorney of the City. 

CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICIAL 

http://ecode360.com/27979537#27979537
http://ecode360.com/27979537#27979537


Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 3 of 12 

The person(s) or agency(ies) designated from time to time by the Board of Trustees to enforce this 

Chapter in accordance with Article XIII, Administration and Enforcement. Throughout this Title 

IV, the terms "Code Enforcement Official" and "Zoning Enforcement Official" are used 

interchangeably. 

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE 

A vehicle as defined in Section 300.010 of the Code and, for the purposes of this Title, being 

further defined as a vehicle that is either commercially used, placquered and/or licensed by the 

State. 

LIGHT DUTY COMMERCIAL VEHICLE 

A commercial vehicle with a GVWR of less than 14,000 pounds. These vehicles are 

primarily Class 1-3 vehicles. 

HEAVY DUTY COMMERCIAL VEHICLE 

A commercial vehicle with a GVWR of 14,000 pounds or more. These vehicles are 

primarily Class 4-9 trucks but also includes heavy construction equipment, such as 

excavators, backhoes, bulldozers, dump trucks, graders, and cranes, tracked vehicles, etc. 

COURT 

An unoccupied space on a lot other than a yard, intended or designated to be partially surrounded 

by a group of buildings. 

COVERAGE 

That percentage of the lot area occupied by a building or structure. 

CURB CUT 

A portion of the edge of a street in the right-of-way as identified on a plot plan/survey that is used 

to access a driveway. In the instance where a curb exists, the curb may need to be adjusted to 

facilitate vehicular movement taking into account storm water issues. 

DENSITY 

The number of dwelling units per acre of land. 

DRIVEWAY 

The surfaced portion of a lot constructed for the purpose of access to a garage, attached or 

detached, on a lot or for the purposes of parking.  

[Ord. No. 426 § 1, 4-16-2014] 

DRIVEWAY APPROACH or APRON 

The portion of the driveway located in the right-of-way between the curb or pavement edge of a 

public street and the private property line intended to provide access to vehicles from a roadway 

or a public street to a driveway on private property. 

DWELLING, MULTI-FAMILY 

A building or portion of a building containing six (6) or more dwelling units. 

DWELLING, SINGLE-FAMILY 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 4 of 12 

A freestanding residential building located on a single lot containing not more than one (1) 

dwelling unit. As used in this Chapter, the term "single-family dwelling" shall include Group 

Homes and Foster Homes. 

DWELLING, SINGLE-FAMILY ATTACHED 

A building containing not more than five (5) dwelling units, each of which has primary ground 

floor access to the outside and which are attached to each other by party walls without openings. 

DWELLING UNIT 

A room or group of rooms physically arranged to create an independent habitable unit having 

separate sanitary, cooking, and sleeping facilities and designed for residential occupancy. 

ELEVATION 

The external face of the principal building or structure on a lot 

ELEVATION LINE, FRONT  

A line that follows the contours of the elevation of the principal building facing the front lot line 

and that extends out from the corners of that elevation on a line generally parallel to the front lot 

line to the lot lines intersecting the applicable front lot line.  

ELEVATION LINE, REAR  

A line that follows the contours of the elevation of the principal building facing the rear lot line 

and that extends out from the corners of that elevation on a line generally parallel to the front lot 

line to the lot lines that intersect (or form a vertex at) the rear lot line. 

ELEVATION, FRONT  

The elevation of a building that is architecturally designed and constructed as the front façade of 

a building as determined by the Director. 

ELEVATION, REAR 

The elevation of a building that is most closely opposite of the front elevation. 

FAMILY 

An individual or two (2) or more persons who are related by blood, marriage or adoption or a 

group of not more than three (3) persons who need not be related by blood, marriage or adoption 

occupying a single dwelling unit or in combination with an accessory dwelling, living together and 

subsisting in common as a single non-profit housekeeping unit. This definition shall not exclude 

groups of three (3) or more persons who are required by State or Federal law to be treated as a 

family for residential zoning purposes. This definition expressly excludes any other group of two 

(2) or more persons where meals or lodging are made available in exchange for payment or other 

consideration. 

FINANCIAL SERVICES 

An office establishment or business that primarily performs central banking functions (such as 

issuing currency, managing national money supply and international reserves, and acting as fiscal 

agent for the central government) and accepts deposits (or share deposits) and lends funds from 

these deposits, and which establishment may include these services to patrons and customers 

through an accessory, drive-through use. Financial services shall also include establishments 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 5 of 12 

primarily engaged in one (1) or more of the following: (1) underwriting securities issues or making 

markets for securities and commodities; (2) acting as agents (i.e., brokers) between buyers and 

sellers of securities and commodities; (3) providing securities and commodity exchange services; 

and (4) providing other services, such as managing portfolios of assets; providing investment 

advice; and trust, fiduciary, and custody services. Typical uses include banks, savings associations, 

savings and loan institutions, investment banking, securities, and brokerages, certified financial 

planning, accounting, auditing, bookkeeping, and similar services. Financial services do not 

include Short-term Loan Establishments or pawnbrokers (which are prohibited money 

changing/money brokering uses). 

FOSTER HOME 

A private residence licensed by the Division of Family Services or Department of Mental Health 

to provide foster care to one (1) or more but less than seven (7) children who are unrelated to either 

foster parent by blood, marriage, or adoption. 

GROUP HOME 

A permitted form of single-family residential occupancy in which eight (8) or fewer unrelated 

mentally or physically handicapped persons reside and may include two (2) additional persons 

acting as house parents or guardians who need not be related to each other or to any of the mentally 

or physically handicapped persons residing in the home. 

FLOOR AREA 

The sum of the gross horizontal areas of the floor(s) of a building or buildings measured from the 

exterior faces of exterior walls. 

GARAGE, ATTACHED 

A Private Garage which has a roof or wall, or a major portion of a roof or wall, in common with a 

Dwelling Unit. Where attached to a Dwelling Unit in this manner, the Attached Garage shall be 

considered part of the Dwelling for purposes of all yard requirements of the Principal Building. 

 

GARAGE, DETACHED  

A Private Garage not having a roof or wall, or a major portion of a roof or wall, in common with 

a Dwelling Unit. 

 

GARAGE, PRIVATE 

An accessory building to or a component of a Dwelling Unit, enclosed on all sides and roofed, 

designed, or used for the storage of vehicles owned and used by the occupant of and located on 

the same lot as the Dwelling Unit and in which no occupation or business is carried on. 

GROSS VEHICLE WEIGHT RATING (GVWR) 

The maximum operating weight of a vehicle as specified by the manufacturer including the 

vehicle's chassis, body, engine, engine fluids, fuel, accessories, driver, passengers, and cargo but 

excluding that of any trailers. 

HARD SURFACE 

Any surface paved with impervious materials such as concrete, asphalt, brick pavers or similar 

materials, whether pervious or impervious to water. 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 6 of 12 

HEIGHT 

For all buildings and structures, other than structures governed by Section 400.400, the vertical 

distance above the average ground level of the original, undisturbed grade at the foundation 

corners of a building measured to the highest point of the building. 

HEALTHCARE USES— 

HEALTH CARE FACILITY - A building or portion of a building where the establishment is 

principally engaged in providing services for inpatient and outpatient services for physical 

health maintenance, diagnosis (including testing) and treatment of human diseases, pain, or 

other physical condition of patients. Care may be provided on a short term or long-term basis. 

Outpatient services may also be provided as a secondary service. Inherent within this use are 

laundry and kitchen facilities for patients, cafeterias and gift shops for patients and their 

visitors, incidental laboratory uses and offices for social, psychological, and medical personnel, 

but not to include a behavioral health care facility or long-term care facility. 

MEDICAL OFFICE - A building or portion of a building principally engaged in providing 

services for health maintenance, diagnosis (including overnight testing) and treatment of 

human diseases, pain or other physical or mental condition of patients solely on an outpatient 

basis. No overnight patients shall be kept on the premises. Examples of medical offices shall 

include but not be limited to general physicians, dentists, chiropractors, psychologists, physical 

therapist, speech pathologists, cardiologists, and other various specialties, but shall not include 

medical clinics, urgent care centers or behavioral health care facility. 

MINUTE CLINIC - An accessory walk-in use within a pharmacy or supermarket for the 

diagnosis and treatment of common household illnesses such as strep throat and ear, eye, sinus, 

and other infections; the treatment of minor wounds; abrasions and joint sprains; the injection 

or ingestion of common vaccinations; wellness services and routine lab tests. 

URGENT CARE CENTERS - A medical use in a building or portion of a building, whether 

private or institution, principally engaged in providing walk-in, extended hour access for acute 

illness and injury care that is either beyond the scope or availability of the typical primary care 

practice or medical clinic. Patients shall be served solely on an outpatient basis and no 

overnight patients shall be kept on the premises. 

HOME GROWN PRODUCE SALES 

Sale to the public of fresh, uncut produce products raised on land owned and occupied by the 

resident-seller within the Village of Twin Oaks. 

HOME OCCUPATION 

An occupation or profession of a service character performed entirely within a dwelling unit which 

is clearly incidental to the primary residential use of the dwelling unit. To be a permitted use, the 

Home Occupation must conform to the standards and provisions of Section 400.130.   

KENNEL 

See Chapter 205. 

LOT— A platted parcel of land intended to be separately owned, developed and otherwise used as 

a unit.  The word “lot” shall include the word “plot”, “tract” or “parcel”.  The derivations of a lot 

shall maintain the following definitions. 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 7 of 12 

LOT AREA — The area of a horizontal plane bounded by the front, side, and rear lines of 

a lot.    

LOT, CORNER — A lot, or portion thereof, situated at the intersection of two (2) or more 

streets, having an angle of intersection of not more than one hundred thirty-five degrees 

(135°).    

LOT DEPTH — The average distances between the front and rear lot lines.    

LOT, FLAG — A residential lot with two (2) discernible portions described as follows: 

1.   Access portion. That portion of the lot having frontage on or abutting a public road, 

with the frontage being sufficient in width for a private drive to serve the building 

site portion. 

2.   Building site portion. That portion of the lot not fronting on or abutting a public 

road but connected to a public road by the access portion of the lot.   

LOT, INTERIOR — Any lot other than a through or corner lot.    

LOT, THROUGH — A lot other than a corner lot which has a street on two (2) opposite 

sides of the lot (Also known as a “double-frontage” lot).    

LOT WIDTH — The horizontal distance between the lot lines perpendicular to the front 

lot line, measured at right angles to the lot depth at the building lines.    

LOT LINE 

A line dividing one lot from another, or from a public or private street right-of-way or any 

other public right-of-way (also see Property Line). The derivations or modifications of a 

lot line shall maintain the following definitions: 

LOT LINE, FRONT 

The line separating the lot from the right-of-way of the street on which it fronts.  

LOT LINE, REAR 

The line or lines that are most closely parallel to the front lot line. On a corner lot in 

Residential Districts, one side lot line may be established in lieu of a rear lot line; 

provided that, in no case may the rear lot line that is mostly parallel with the rear 

elevation of the principal building be established as a side lot line in lieu of the rear lot 

line. On through lots in the Residential District, one rear lot line may be established in 

lieu of a front lot line; provided that the rear lot line established in lieu of a front lot 

line is the line most parallel with the rear elevation of the principal building. 

LOT LINE, SIDE 

Any lot line that intersects with the front lot line and is not a front lot line or rear lot 

line. On an interior lot that is triangular in shape, the vertex of the side lot lines is 

considered to be a rear lot line parallel with the rear elevation of the principal building. 

Types of Lot Lines 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 8 of 12 

 

 

MASTER DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

The Amended Master Development Plan for the Village of Twin Oaks approved by the Planning 

and Zoning Commission by Resolution No. 16, adopted on October 15, 2003, together with such 

further amendments thereto as may be adopted from time to time in accordance with Chapter 89, 

RSMo., as amended. 

MASTER LANDSCAPING PLAN 

The Village of Twin Oaks Landscape Master Plan dated April 2003 prepared by SWT Associates. 

MOTOR VEHICLE ORIENTED BUSINESS (MVOB) 

Any commercial use or activity which as a principal part of its operations provides goods or 

services to motor vehicles or occupants of motor vehicles in a short time span or provides goods 

or services to occupants of motor vehicles remaining within the vehicles. Such uses and activities 

shall include, by way of illustration and not limitation, convenience stores, filling stations, 

automobile service stations and car washes, whether singly or in combination, facilities containing 

drive-up or drive-through operations, and restaurants which as a principal part of operations 

provide food for off-premises consumption. 

NON-CONFORMING USE  

A use, building or yard existing legally at the time of the passage of this Chapter (January 4, 1984) 

or any amendment thereto which does not, by reason of design, use or dimensions, conform to the 

regulations of the district in which it is situated. 

OPEN SPACE 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 9 of 12 

Any area of a lot which is completely free of and unobstructed by any structure. Such areas may 

include walkways, patio areas, bike paths, etc. Other ornamental features such as light poles, trees, 

shrubs, etc. shall not be considered as occupying the area for purposes of this Chapter. 

PARKING SPACE 

An area used exclusively for temporary accommodation of one (1) vehicle. It does not include 

commercial vehicle loading areas. 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

The Planning and Zoning Commission of the Village. 

POROUS SURFACE 

Any surface consisting of permeable joint pavers or other permeable construction materials. 

PRINCIPAL BUILDING 

A building or, where the context so indicates, a group of buildings in or on which is conducted the 

principal use of the lot on which such building is located. 

PRINCIPAL USE 

The primary use of land or buildings as distinguished from an accessory use. 

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE (RV) 

Often abbreviated as RV, it is a motor vehicle or trailer which includes living quarters designed 

for accommodation. Types of RVs include motorhomes, campervans, caravans (also known as 

travel trailers and camper trailers), fifth-wheel trailers, popup campers and truck campers. 

OFF-ROAD VEHICLES 

Any vehicle used for outdoor, off-road recreation including, but not limited to, boats, personal 

watercraft, ATVs, OHVs, UVs, dirt bikes, and all other similar motorized vehicles made for off-

road use and including trailers used to convey an off-road vehicle. Off-Road Vehicles does not 

include Recreational Vehicles. 

ALL-TERRAIN VEHICLE (ATV) 

See Section 300.010 of the Twin Oaks Municipal Code.  

RECREATIONAL OFF-HIGHWAY VEHICLE (OHV) 

See Section 300.010 of the Twin Oaks Municipal Code.  

UTILITY VEHICLE (UV) 

See Section 300.010 of the Twin Oaks Municipal Code.  

RESTAURANT  

A food service establishment primarily oriented to the service of food, beverages, and other 

refreshments and includes carry-out incidental to that use. 

RESTAURANT, DRIVE-IN OR DRIVE-THROUGH 

A restaurant where food, beverages or other refreshments are available for consumption by 

persons who remain in their automobiles. 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 10 of 12 

RESTAURANT, SERVICE 

An establishment whose principal business is the sale of food, frozen desserts, or beverages 

in ready-to-consume individual servings, for consumption on the premises or for carry-out 

and where: 

1. Foods, frozen desserts or beverages are usually served in edible containers or in 

paper, plastic, or other disposable containers, 

2. There is no drive-up or drive-through service, and 

3. The business is principally to serve the occupants and the employees, customers, or 

invitees thereof, in the same building in which the restaurant premises are located or 

nearby buildings. 

SETBACK — The minimum horizontal distance between a lot line and the nearest allowable 

portion of a building or structure.    

 

SPECIFIED ANATOMICAL AREAS 

As used in this Chapter, "specified anatomical areas" means and includes any of the following: 

1.  Less than completely or opaquely covered human genitals, pubic region, buttocks, 

anus, or female breast area below a point immediately above the top of the areola; or 

2.  Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and opaquely 

covered. 

SPECIFIED SEXUAL ACTIVITIES 

As used in this Chapter, "specified sexual activities" means and includes any of the following: 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 11 of 12 

1.  Fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region, buttocks, anus, 

or female breasts; or 

2.  Actual or simulated acts of sexual intercourse, masturbation, sodomy, or oral 

copulation; or 

3.  Excretory functions as part of or in connection with any of the activities set forth in 

paragraphs (1) or (2) of this definition. 

SHORT-TERM LOAN ESTABLISHMENT  

Any business which loans money on a short-term basis to members of the general public as an 

element of its operation, including businesses offering title loans, payday loans, signature loans 

and small loans under RSMo Ch. 367 or RSMo 408.500 and other similar businesses. The term 

"short-term loan establishment" does not include a bank, savings and loan association or credit 

union that is licensed by the appropriate state or federal agency or a retail credit financing 

institution that is licensed under RSMo Ch. 364 or Ch. 365 or pawnbrokers governed by RSMo 

Ch. 367 or retail merchants governed by RSMo Ch. 400, Art. 2 ) (RSMo 400.2-101—400.2-725 ). 

SHORT TERM RENTAL 

The letting or offering for let of a single-family dwelling or single-family attached dwelling, or a 

portion thereof, to one (1) or more guests for a period of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days or 

less. Examples include bed-and-breakfast facilities and rentals arranged through Internet 

marketing or facilitation services.  

STREET FRONTAGE 

The linear distance which property abuts a public or private street and is measured at the street lot 

line. When a lot has more than one (1) street lot line, street frontage shall be measured at each such 

line. 

[Ord. No. 426 § 1, 4-16-2014] 

URBAN DESIGN GUIDELINES 

The Urban Design Guidelines of the City adopted by the Board in Appendix A to Title IV of the 

Village Code, together with amendments thereto as adopted from time to time by the Board of 

Trustees in accordance with Chapter 89, RSMo., as amended. 

USED MERCHANDISE STORE 

An establishment or place of business primarily engaged in the retail sale of used merchandise or 

secondhand goods, such as used clothes, antiques, secondhand books or rare manuscripts, or items 

of architectural salvage, but not including used cars or other motorized vehicles. 

YARD — The open area or space that is unobstructed, except as specifically permitted in this 

Code, and that is located on the same lot as the principal building.   The derivations of yard shall 

maintain the following definitions. 

 



Section 400.080. Definitions. 

Page 12 of 12 

YARD, FRONT — The front 

yard shall be that portion of a 

lot adjacent to any street and 

bounded by the front lot line (or 

lines), the lot lines intersecting 

the front lot line(s), and the 

Front Elevation Line.  

YARD, REAR — The rear 

yard shall be that portion of a 

lot adjacent to the Rear Lot 

Line (or lines) and bounded by 

the Rear Lot Line, the lot lines 

intersecting the Rear Lot 

Line(s), and the Rear Elevation 

Line. In cases where the Rear 

Elevation Line is overlapped 

by the Front Elevation Line 

(such as Corner Lots or lots 

with buildings not parallel with the Front Lot Line), the Rear Yard shall be bounded by the Rear 

Lot Line, the lot lines intersecting 

the Rear Lot Line(s), and the 

Front Elevation Line.  

YARD, SIDE — The side yard 

shall be that portion of a lot 

between the principal building 

and the adjacent lot line that is not 

considered a front yard or back 

yard.  

YARD, REQUIRED— The yard 

or portion of the yard located 

between the lot line and the 

required setback established by 

the zoning district in which the lot 

is located. 

ZONING MAP 

The Zoning Map dated March 28, 2017approved hereby, and as further amended from time to 

time by the Board of Aldermen in accordance with this Chapter, delineating the various zoning 

districts applying to all real property within the corporate limits of the City.  

 

 

 



:1 

 

ARTICLE III. 

Districts and Boundaries 

  

Section 400.090.  Districts. 

A. To promote the purposes set forth, the City of Twin Oaks is divided into four (4) Zoning Districts as 

follows: 

1. "A" Single-Family Dwelling District. 

2. "B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District. 

3. "C" Commercial District. 

4. "D" Park District. 

 

Section 400.100. Zoning District Boundaries.  

A. The boundaries of the various zoning districts are as depicted on the Zoning District Map. Where at 

any time uncertainty exists as to the location of boundaries of zoning districts as depicted on the 

Zoning District Map, the following rules of interpretation shall apply: 

1. A zoning district boundary indicated as approximately following the center line of a highway, 

street or easement  shall be construed as following such center line. 

2. A zoning district boundary indicated as approximately following right-of-way lines, the right-

of-way shall be construed: (1) to be zoned as part of the district in which it is shown, and (2) the 

right-of-way line abutting the neighboring zoning district is the boundary of the district. When 

right-of-way is shown on the District Map either as wholly located in the "A" or “B” District, or 

with one (1) boundary of the right-of-way as the boundary of either the "A" or “B” District, the 

right-of-way in both situations is intended to be zoned either "A" or “B” residential. Where the 

“A” and “B” Districts adjoin at the right-of-way, the district boundary shall be construed as 

following the center line of the right-of-way.  

3. A zoning district boundary indicated as following the corporate limits of the City shall be 

construed as following such limit line. 

4. Where a physical or cultural feature existing on the ground is at variance with that location 

shown on the Zoning District Map or in any circumstance other than that provided for in 

Subsection (A)(1) through (3) above, the Board of Aldermen shall determine in writing the 

zoning district boundary which determination shall be conclusive and shall be retained on file, 

together with the Zoning District Map, in the administrative offices of the City and be available 

for public inspection.  

5. Where a zoning district boundary line divides a lot, which is in single ownership at the time of 

adoption of this Chapter or at the time of adoption of any modification to the Zoning District 

Map, the Board of Aldermen may permit as a conditional use the extension of the regulations 

for either portion of the lot to the nearest lot line but not to exceed fifty (50) feet beyond the 

zoning district boundary. 

 

Section 400.110. Scope of Provisions.  

A. Except as provided in this Chapter: 

1. No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally altered, nor 

shall any building or land be used which does not comply with all of the  regulations of this 

Chapter for the zoning district in which the building or land is located. 

2. Reserved. 

3. Every building erected or structurally altered shall be located on a lot and in no case shall there 

be more than one (1) principal building on one (1) lot, except as authorized in this Chapter. 

 

Section 400.120. Uses Not Expressly Permitted. 

A. Unless the contrary is clear from the context, uses not specifically listed in this Chapter are 

prohibited. 

B. Any use not specifically listed in this Chapter as permitted but otherwise required to be permitted 

by law shall be a conditional use, subject to the following conditions: 



:2 

 

1. The use shall be permitted only to the extent required by law; 

2. The use shall be approved only in accordance with the development plan process except if by 

law the use is required to be permitted as of right; and 

3. The use shall be located no closer than one thousand (1,000) feet from any residence, park, 

school, or church, except as may be modified by the Board of Aldermen

 through development plan process procedures. 

C. Adult entertainment establishments are hereby prohibited in all zoning districts within the City and 

no building, structure, premises, or land shall be used, constructed, reconstructed, altered, or 

expanded as or for an adult entertainment establishment. 

D. Notwithstanding any prohibition contained in this Section or any omission from the list of uses set 

forth in each of the Code Sections pertaining to permitted uses the City's zoning districts, any use 

conducted or operated by the City of Twin Oaks, including, but not limited to, community 

buildings, municipal centers (including office and public meeting space), public buildings, parks, 

playgrounds, open spaces, recreation fields, or other proprietary or governmental uses, shall be 

permitted as of right in each of the City's zoning districts.  

 

Section 400.125. Accessory Use — All Districts.  

A. Qualifying Patient Medical Marijuana Cultivation. In addition to the existing accessory uses 

enumerated  in each district, on any  lot in the City, a person holding a current, valid medical 

marijuana cultivation identification card issued by the State of Missouri may have as an accessory 

use medical marijuana cultivation as permitted by Article XIV, Section 1.7(9) of the Missouri 

Constitution so long as all of the following conditions are met: 

1. The accessory use must take place only in a facility that is enclosed, locked, and equipped with 

security devices (the "cultivation area"), all of which shall be designed in such a way as to 

permit access only by the qualifying patient or by such patient's primary caregiver and in 

conformance with all Federal and Missouri laws and regulations. 

2. The State-issued qualifying patient cultivation identification card or cultivation authorization 

must be clearly displayed within the cultivation area and in close proximity to the marijuana 

plants. 

3. The accessory use must have an odor control system that is at least as stringent as that which is 

required by Missouri regulations. 

4. No marijuana may be smoked, ingested, or otherwise consumed or administered on the lot 

except by a qualifying patient. 

5. One (1) qualifying patient may cultivate up to six (6) flowering marijuana plants and six (6) 

non-flowering marijuana plants  at any given time in a single, enclosed locked facility. 

6. Two (2) qualifying patients, who both hold valid qualifying patient cultivation identification 

cards, may share one (1) enclosed, locked facility but no more than twelve (12) flowering 

marijuana plants and twelve (12) non-flowering marijuana plants may be cultivated in a single, 

enclosed locked facility, except when one (1) of the qualifying patients, as a primary caregiver, 

also holds a qualifying patient cultivation identification card for a third qualifying patient, in 

which case that primary caregiver may cultivate six (6) additional flowering marijuana plants 

and six (6) additional non-flowering marijuana plants for a total of eighteen (18) flowering 

marijuana plants and eighteen (18) nonflowering marijuana plants in a single, enclosed locked 

facility. 

7. All cultivated flowering marijuana plants in the possession of a qualifying patient or primary 

caregiver shall be clearly labeled with the qualifying patient's name. 

8. All medical marijuana cultivation must cease immediately upon the expiration or revocation of 

a State-issued qualifying patient cultivation identification card. 

9. Nothing in this Section shall convey or establish a right to cultivate medical marijuana in a 

facility or premises where State or Federal law or a private contract would otherwise prohibit 

doing so. 



 1 

Article IV  

"A" Single-Family Dwelling District Regulations  

Section 400.130 Use Regulations.   

A. The following are permitted uses in the "A" Single-Family Dwelling District: 

1. Single-Family Dwellings. 

a. Group Homes. 

(1) Purpose. The City has determined that it is necessary and desirable to provide 

suitable sites for group homes in residential areas while, in furtherance of the 

recognized goals of deinstitutionalization and dispersal, assuring that group 

homes are not unduly concentrated in neighborhoods so as to afford mentally or 

physically disabled persons every opportunity to be integrated in the 

community. To that end, group homes in residential districts shall comply with 

the following: 

(a) To promote deinstitutionalization and dispersal, no group home may be 

located within five hundred (500) feet of another group home, measured by 

the straight line distance between the nearest points of the exterior walls 

(exclusive of overhangs) of the buildings within which the relevant facilities 

or uses are located;  

(b) Adjoin any lot upon which another group home already exists; or  

(c) Be separated from any lot upon which an existing group home already exists 

only by a street or roadway.  

(2) The exterior appearance of the home and property, occupancy limitation, 

signage, and other standards applicable to single-family dwellings shall apply 

equally to group homes.  

(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section to the contrary, any 

individual, group or entity may make a request for reasonable accommodation 

from the provisions of this Section pursuant to the procedures set forth in 

Sections 230.150 through 230.240 of this Code.  

b. Foster Homes.  

2. Churches, synagogues, and other houses of worship.  



 2 

3. Municipally owned or operated parks or playgrounds.  

4. Non-commercial forests and gardens.  

5. Temporary buildings for uses incidental to construction; provided that no such building 

shall be located within a required yard or within twenty-five (25) feet of any lot line 

and no trees shall be removed for the placement of such temporary building. The 

temporary building shall be removed upon the earlier occurring of one (1) year from 

initial placement of the temporary building, or upon the completion or abandonment of 

the work, unless express written permission to continue the location of such temporary 

building is granted by the Board of Aldermen upon good cause shown.  

6. Home Occupations. 

a. Provided that the Code Enforcement Official finds: 

(1) The home occupation is (a) incidental to the primary residential use of the 

dwelling unit and (b) does not occupy more than twenty-five percent (25%) of 

the floor area of the dwelling;  

(2) No alteration is made to the exterior of the dwelling that would indicate the 

presence of a home occupation;  

(3) No commercial or delivery vehicles used in connection with the home 

occupation are parked at or stored on the dwelling or visit the premises with a 

frequency of more than one (1) visit per day; and  

(4) No steady or concentrated visitation of clients to the dwelling which would 

disrupt the residential character of the surrounding neighborhood results from 

the conduct of the home occupation and in the case of home occupations 

involving teaching or other types of instruction, visitation shall be limited to 

one (1) pupil at a time except for occasional seminar groups.  

b. Persons wishing to maintain a home occupation in accordance with this Section shall 

submit to the Code Enforcement Official a written application on forms provided by 

the City describing the type of home occupation, the total floor area of the dwelling 

in which the home occupation is to be located, the amount of floor area to be 

occupied by the home occupation, the type of equipment used in the conduct of the 

home occupation and certifying that the proposed home occupation complies with 

each of the requirements of this Subsection. An application fee of twenty-five 

dollars ($25.00) shall accompany the application. Upon receipt of a complete 

application, the Code Enforcement Official shall verify whether the proposed home 



 3 

occupation complies with the foregoing requirements and, accordingly, shall issue or 

deny the application for the home occupation. Following approval of an application 

in accordance with this Subsection, any change in the amount of floor area occupied 

by the home occupation as certified in the original application or any change in the 

type of home occupation shall require a new application, together with the payment 

of application fee and review and approval in accordance with this Section. A 

separate business license is not required for a home occupation. 

7. Accessory buildings or accessory uses as specified below, provided that no 

accessory building or accessory use shall be located in the front yard or within the 

applicable side and rear setbacks set forth in Section 400.150(A):  

Accessory Buildings and Structures 

Lot Size (square feet) Maximum Cubic Feet  Maximum Height (feet) 

Up to 10,980 960 12 ½  

10,981 to 21,780 1440 12 ½  

21,781 to 43,560 1960 12 ½  

Greater than 43,560 3072 12 ½  

Accessory Uses Maximum Area Maximum Height 

   

   

Doghouse, dog run or 

combination 

50 square feet 6 feet including fencing 

Swimming pool, constructed and 

fenced as required by St. Louis 

County Codes 

1,000 square feet water surface 

area 

4 feet 

Private garage 700 square feet Height regulations as described in 

Section 400.140 

 

a. No more than one (1) of each above-listed accessory building/use is permitted per 

lot. 

b. Garages. 

1) Detached garages must have an associated driveway that provides direct 

access to the detached garage for the storage of vehicles. Failure to have an 

associated driveway to the building will be conclusive evidence that the 

accessory building is not a detached garage.  

2) Nothing in this Section 400.130 shall prevent the owner of a dwelling unit or 

the owner's authorized agent from constructing and maintaining both an 

attached and detached garage on a single lot, each up to a maximum of 700 

square feet, provided that the lot and structures thereon comply with the area 

regulations outlined in Section 400.150.  



 4 

3). No private garage shall be used as a dwelling unit; nor shall a private garage 

be constructed to contain a dwelling unit within said private garage.  

c. Carports are prohibited in the "A" Single-Family Dwelling District.  

d. Accessory buildings and structures shall be compatible with the principal building 

on the lot in terms of architectural treatment and harmony and shall be maintained in 

compliance with Chapter 500, Article VII, Property Maintenance Code; Chapter 

505, Dangerous Buildings; and Chapter 215, Nuisances. If the Code Enforcement 

Official determines that more than fifty percent (50%) of an accessory 

building/structure is damaged or dilapidated or that the accessory building/structure 

is damaged or dilapidated by more than fifty percent (50%) of its value, the Code 

Enforcement Official shall give notice to the lot owner of such determination and the 

owner shall cease to use the accessory building/structure and remove it from the lot 

within the time frame indicated in the notice.  

e. No accessory building, structure or use shall be erected,  placed or used upon a lot 

until the construction of the principal building has commenced.  

f. Nothing in this Section 400.130(A)(7) shall prevent the Board of Aldermen from 

approving a detached or attached private garage, carport, covered parking or other 

accessory structure or waiving the size requirements in association with an approved 

planned development ("PD-MxD" or "PD-R") under Section 400.380 of this 

Chapter.  

8. Home grown produce sales made from a stand on the seller's property subject to the 

following: 

a. Upon application and permit approved by the City Administrator/Clerk.  

b. Sales to be conducted only between April 1 to October 31.  

c. Sales to be made only between the hours of 8:00 A.M. to 8:00 P.M. daily.  

d. Signage to be governed by the provisions of Section 410.030 relating to residential 

yard signs.  

e. No fee shall be charged for the above permit.  

f. Area of display shall be no larger than thirty-two (32) square feet.  

g. All exterior displays, including signage, shall be removed during non-sale hours.  



 5 

h. No display shall be closer than six (6) feet from the right-of-way.  

9. A limited commercial use pursuant to a Special Business Permit as set forth in Section 

400.180. [Ord. No. 503 § 1, 9-7-2016]  

10. Nothing herein shall be construed as permitting short term rental uses in the "A" 

Single-Family Dwelling District either as a home occupation or as a single-family 

dwelling use. Short-term rentals are prohibited in the "A" Single-Family Dwelling 

District. 

Section 400.140 Height Regulations.  

[R.O. 2016 § 400.140; R.O. 2011 § 400.140; Ord. No. 84-2 Art. IV § 2, 1-4-1984; Ord. No. 

129 § 9, 10-15-2003]  

A. Except as provided in this Section, no principal building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet in 

height.  

B. Churches, synagogues, and other houses of worship may exceed thirty-five (35) feet in 

height to a maximum of sixty (60) feet in height, provided that for each one (1) foot in 

height in excess of thirty-five (35) feet, the building shall be set back one (1) additional foot 

from each lot line or required minimum yard area.  

C. Chimneys, rooftop mechanical appurtenances and other purely ornamental or mechanical 

building accessories shall not exceed the highest point of the building by more than 10% 

unless otherwise required by applicable building codes.  

Section 400.150 Area Regulations.  

[R.O. 2016 § 400.150; R.O. 2011 § 400.150; Ord. No. 84-2 Art. IV § 3, 1-4-1984; Ord. No. 

129 § 9, 10-15-2003]  

A. Setback Requirements. Setback requirements shall be as provided on the schedule 

following: 

Use Minimum Lot Size Minimum Setback 

Maximum Coverage 
(principal building or 

structure only) 

Single-family dwelling 12,000 square feet Front: 35 feet 

Side: 11 feet 

Rear: 50 feet and 

where any side yard 

coincides with a "D" 

Park District 

15% 

 



 6 

Use Minimum Lot Size Minimum Setback 

Maximum Coverage 
(principal building or 

structure only) 

boundary, an 

additional buffer strip 

at least 20 feet in 

width and planted 

with trees, shrubs or 

other similar 

vegetation shall be 

provided 

Other permitted principal 

use 

12,000 square feet Front: 35 feet 

Side: 11 feet 

Rear: 50 feet and 

where any side or rear 

yard coincides with a 

residential lot line or a 

"D" Park District 

boundary, an 

additional buffer strip 

at least twenty (20) 

feet in width and 

planted with trees, 

shrubs or similar 

vegetation shall be 

provided. 

15% 

     

Accessory 

Buildings/Structures 

 

Lot Size (square 

feet) 

Side Yard 

Setback 

(feet) 

Rear 

Yard 

Setback 

(feet) 

 

 Up to 10,980 11 5  

 10,981 to 21,780 11 5  

 21,781 to 43,560 16.5 7.5  

 Greater than 43,560 22 10  

B. Reserved.  



 7 

C. Dwelling Floor Area Requirements. Every one-story single-family dwelling shall have a 

floor area of not less than one thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet measured from the 

exterior walls, excluding private garages and other covered storage areas. Every single-

family dwelling of more than one (1) story shall have a floor area on the first floor of not 

less than one thousand one hundred (1,100) square feet measured from the exterior walls, 

excluding private garages and other covered storage areas and each floor above the first 

floor shall have a floor area of not less than seven hundred fifty (750) square feet measured 

from the exterior walls, excluding private garages and other covered storage areas.  

D. Utilities. All utilities shall be installed underground.  

Section 400.160 Off-Street Parking Facilities.  

Off-street parking facilities shall be provided as required or permitted in Article X, Sections 

400.390 and 400.400 of this Chapter. 

Section 400.170 Site Development Plan Application and Approval Procedures.  

A. The owner or developer of any lot located within and which meets the requirements of an 

"A" Single-Family Dwelling District, prior to the new construction, erection, conversion, 

enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration of any principal building on, or change 

of principal use of, such lot, shall file with the City Administrator/Clerk an application for 

site development plan approval; provided that this site development plan approval process 

shall not be required for the conversion, enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration 

of any existing single-family dwelling but shall be required for initial construction of any 

new single-family dwelling. The application shall be submitted on forms provided by the 

City and shall include a site development plan prepared by a licensed professional architect, 

engineer or land surveyor together containing support information satisfying the following 

requirements: 

1. The name of the owner or developer and of the professional architect, engineer, 

planner, or land surveyor responsible for the preparation of the proposed site 

development plan.  

2. Existing and proposed site grades identifying all grade changes and areas of cut and fill 

at a minimum contour interval of two (2) feet, or one (1) foot in areas where average 

slopes are three percent (3%) or less.  

3. Existing landscape and natural features plan identifying specific location of all 

woodlands, trees, major vegetation areas, streams, watercourses and other natural 

resources and features and delineating specific provisions to be taken to preserve or to 

minimize impact on these natural features.  

4. All existing and proposed uses and buildings.  



 8 

5. Sidewalks and walkways, if and as applicable.  

6. Driveways, existing and proposed curb cuts, vehicle travel lanes and parking areas, as 

applicable.  

7. Means for the provision of water, sanitary sewerage, storm drainage, electric and 

natural gas services, and telephone and telecommunications services including cable 

facilities.  

8. Existing and proposed easements and dedications.  

9. Building plans and elevations depicting exterior materials and treatments; height, bulk, 

and locational relationships.  

10. Other information which the Planning and Zoning Commission or the Board of 

Aldermen may designate.  

B. Upon the receipt of filing of a complete application for site development plan approval, the 

City Administrator/Clerk, after providing copies of the application to the Board of 

Aldermen, shall refer the application and support documentation first to the City’s engineers 

for review for completeness of the application and comment. After the application has been 

determined to be complete in accordance with the requirements of this Section and 

applicant has responded to all comments of the City, the City Administrator/Clerk will place 

the matter on the Planning and Zoning Commission’s next agenda for the Commission’s for 

review, study, and recommendation. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the 

application and shall report to the Board of Aldermen the Planning and Zoning 

Commission's recommendations for approval, disapproval, or modification of the proposed 

site development plan.  

C. Upon receipt of the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the Board of 

Aldermen shall schedule and conduct a public hearing on the proposed site development 

plan after publishing notice of the time, place, and purpose of the hearing in a newspaper of 

general circulation within the City at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the hearing. 

The Board of Aldermen may continue the hearing from time to time without further 

publication upon designation at the hearing of the time and place of the continuation and 

notation of such continuation in the minutes of the Board of Aldermen. Upon conclusion of 

the hearing, the Board of Aldermen may in writing approve, disapprove, or conditionally 

approve the site development plan. The Board of Aldermen shall promptly transmit a copy 

of the final action on the proposed site development plan to the applicable Code 

Enforcement Official(s).  



 9 

D. Proposed construction or change of a principal use approved pursuant to this Section shall 

commence within six (6) months of the date of approval by the Board of Aldermen of the 

site development plan and application or the site development plan approval shall lapse and 

be void.  

E. No building permit to erect, convert, enlarge, reconstruct or structurally alter any principal 

building (other than for conversion, enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration of 

an existing single-family dwelling) and no approval to change a principal use shall issue 

until the Board of Aldermen has approved a site development plan in accordance with this 

Section; provided that nothing in this Section shall be construed to prohibit issuance of a 

grading permit approved by the Board of Aldermen for such grading and site work as may 

be required to prepare a lot for development.  Nothing herein authorizes a change of use to a 

use not permitted in the “A” Single Family Dwelling District. 

Section 400.180 Special Business Permit Procedure.  

A. Scope of Provisions. This Section contains the regulations of the Special Business Permit 

Procedure. These regulations are supplemented and qualified by additional general 

regulations appearing elsewhere in this Chapter, which are incorporated as part of this 

Section by reference. 

1. Statement of Purpose. The purpose of this Section is to provide a voluntary and 

alternative means for existing single-family dwellings to be reutilized for office or low 

impact commercial services in the "Old Town" area where certain site characteristics, 

changes in nearby uses and traffic conditions, and the reconstruction of Highway 141 

may have rendered these properties less desirable for residential purposes. The 

issuance of any special business permit shall only be approved after the Planning and 

Zoning Commission (the "Commission") has reviewed and determined that the 

proposal does not adversely impact the character of the surrounding neighborhood and 

is compatible in appearance and function with nearby uses.  

2. Applicable Zoning Districts and Roadway Designation. The special business permit 

procedure may be utilized on lots in the "A" Single Family Residential Dwelling 

District east of Highway 141. Lots considered for the special business permit 

procedure must have direct access onto Meramec Station Road.  

3. Authorized Developments. 

a. The special business permit procedure may authorize the following development 

types: 

(1) Office uses that do not require steady customer visits.  



 10 

(2) Commercial services of a personal or educational nature, including, music 

schools, art studio, alterations, tailors, architect, accounting or legal services, or 

other establishments offering services to the general public, excluding the 

manufacturing or sale of any goods on the premises except as an accessory use 

to a permitted use.  

(3) Mail order or internet-based operations provided that there is no storage or 

display of inventory outside the dwelling or visible from the roadway inside the 

dwelling.  

b. Notwithstanding the above, no special business permit may be granted if the Board 

of Aldermen makes the legislative finding that any proposed use would create 

excessive traffic, noise, or other nuisance.  

4. Owner-Occupied. The special business permit may not be granted for a business that is 

operated by a person other than the owner of record or a person sufficiently related to 

the owner of record. For purposes of this Section, a person shall be considered 

"sufficiently-related" to the owner of record to be issued a permit if the person is an 

entity, owned or operated by the owner of record, whether jointly or severally or in 

joint tenancy or by any partnership, corporation or other entity in which the owner of 

record holds a fifty percent (50%) or greater interest or by any shareholder, member or 

partner holding a fifty percent (50%) or greater interest in such owner of record, if an 

entity.  

5. Site Requirements. Yard setbacks, screening, and landscaping, and building use 

limitations shall be as established within the conditions authorizing the special 

business permit. Additional restrictions applicable on a case-by-case basis are as 

follows: 

a. Any building addition, parking area, or drive aisle shall comply with the setback 

requirements of the "A" Zoning District, except in the following instances: 

(1) Where a special business permit property abuts a residentially zoned area, the 

rear yard setback shall be a minimum of fifteen (15) feet in distance. If five (5) 

or more parking spaces are proposed in conjunction with the use, a minimum 

twenty-five-foot rear yard setback shall be required.  

(2) Where a special business permit property abuts a residentially zoned area, 

setback requirements may be made more restrictive in the conditions governing 

the site, as authorized by the special business permit, than those of the 

underlying district designation.  



 11 

b. Any special business permit property shall have the following use limitations: 

(1) A special business permit may be issued only for an existing structure originally 

constructed for occupancy as a single-family dwelling and which was constructed 

not less than ten (10) years prior to application for a special business permit.  

(2) No addition shall be permitted to any structure for which a special business permit 

is issued that will increase the area of office/commercial use. This provision shall 

not prohibit the construction of an addition for living area or for sheltered parking 

otherwise permitted in the district in which the property is located. No such 

addition shall be eligible for an expansion of use granted under the special 

business permit.  

(3) No alteration of a principal residential structure shall be made which changes the 

nature of its appearance as a residence.  

(4) No mechanical equipment or process shall be used which creates noise, vibration, 

glare, fumes, odors, or electrical interference detectable to the normal senses 

outside any structure on the property.  

(5) There shall be no regular and steady visitation or concentrated coming and going 

of clients, patrons, or customers to or from the property.  

(6) There shall be no exterior storage of equipment or material used in connection 

with the special business permit.  

(7) If residential use of the property is retained in part, such living area shall be 

limited to the family of the operator of the business for which the special business 

permit is requested.  

6. Parking. Off-street parking and loading spaces for a special business permit use shall 

comply with the applicable standards as established in Section 400.390, Residential 

Parking Requirements. If additional parking is desired by applicant, applicant must 

include a parking plan with the site plan for the Commission's review and 

recommendation as to whether the desired parking detracts from the purpose of this 

Section as set forth in Subsection (A)(1).  

7. Signage. Signage for the special business permit procedure may consist of one (1) sign 

not to exceed twenty-four (24) inches by thirty-six (36) inches in sign face area. This 

signage shall be located on the structure at its entrance. The sign, sign location as well 

as lighting for the sign, must be clearly indicated on the site plan for approval.  



 12 

8. General Review Process. The appearance and operation of the structure shall be 

compatible with the surrounding area. Each request shall be required to meet the 

following requirements: 

a. A site plan shall be submitted in conjunction with the special business permit 

application for approval by the Commission.  

b. A rendering of the dwelling that reflects the existing facade treatments, as well as 

any proposed remodeling or alterations to the exterior of the dwelling in adherence 

to permit requirements, shall be submitted to the Commission for approval.  

c. If site work or building additions are involved, a review by the Metropolitan St. 

Louis Sewer District shall be completed for each special business permit procedure 

request relative to the on-site handling of stormwater, required right-of-way 

dedications along applicable roadways, and accessory entrance improvements.  

B. Procedures. Procedures for filing, review, and approval of the special business permit shall 

be as follows: 

1. Application. 

a. Application for a special business permit for a specific tract of land shall be initiated 

by the filing of a verified application by the owner or owners of record, or owners 

under contract of a lot or tract of land, or their authorized representatives. 

Application shall be submitted to the City Administrator/Clerk upon forms 

prescribed for such purpose by the City and accompanied by the following: 

(1) Legal description of the property.  

(2) Out boundary plat of the property.  

(3) Photos of existing site and buildings.  

(4) If changes to the exterior of the building or property are proposed, a site plan, 

including, but not limited to, the following: 

(a) Location and designated uses of all buildings and other structures as well as 

parking and open areas shall be indicated.  

(b) Existing and proposed contours at vertical intervals of not more than five (5) 

feet referred to sea level datum. Floodplain areas shall be delineated.  



 13 

(c) Approximate location of all isolated trees having a trunk diameter of six (6) 

inches or more, all tree masses and proposed landscaping.  

(d) Two (2) cross-section profiles through the site showing preliminary building 

form, existing natural grade and proposed final grade.  

(e) Proposed ingress and egress to the site, including adjacent streets.  

(f) Preliminary plan for provision of sanitation and drainage facilities.  

(g) Preliminary plan for stormwater quality control measures (if applicable).  

(h) Stream buffer areas.  

b. The City Administrator/Clerk may waive any of the above requirements, including a 

site plan, deemed inessential for a specific application.  

2. Commission Action. The application shall be forwarded to the Commission only after 

verification that it meets the minimum application requirements. Upon review of the 

application, the Commission may recommend approval subject to appropriate 

conditions, or denial. Conditions may relate to, but need not be limited to, the 

following: 

a. Conditions relative to the type, location and extent of improvements and 

landscaping;  

b. Conditions governing development and improvements (including minimum yard 

requirements);  

c. Conditions relative to the maximum gross floor area for non-residential use;  

d. Conditions relative to sign regulations; and  

e. Conditions relative to performance standards. 

(1) When approval has been granted subject to conditions, and the conditions 

would cause a substantial change in the site plan presented at public hearing, 

the City Administrator/Clerk shall withhold forwarding the Commission's 

decision to the Board of Aldermen pending receipt of a revised plan from the 

applicant reflecting compliance with the conditions. The applicant shall be 

allowed a maximum of forty-five (45) days to submit the revised plan to the 

City Administrator/Clerk. If the applicant fails to submit the revised plan, the 



 14 

City Administrator/Clerk shall forward its decision to the Board of Aldermen.  

(2) The Commission's recommendation shall be based upon whether the special 

business permit procedure proposal is consistent with the overall purpose of 

this Section regarding the style and functional aspects of the subject dwelling 

and the operational compatibility of the proposed use with surrounding uses, 

topography, and infrastructure. The recommendation, along with the Site Plan 

and conditions, where approval has been granted, shall be forwarded to the 

Board of Aldermen for its review.  

3. Board of Aldermen's Review of Commission Recommendation. 

a. Public Hearing. A public hearing on the application shall be held in the same manner 

and with the same public notice procedure as required for a change of zoning 

(Section 400.550).  

b. The Board of Aldermen shall review the recommendation of the Commission, 

including any conditions recommended, and the application and shall, considering 

the purpose of this Section, any additional conditions needed and the requirements 

of Subsection (A), either approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application. 

The Board's action shall be in the form of a resolution or similar manner.  

4. Appeal Procedure. Appeal by anyone aggrieved by the decision of the Board of 

Aldermen hereunder shall be in accordance with Chapter 150.  

C. Procedure to Amend the Conditions of Special Business Permit or Site Plan. In order to 

amend the conditions of an existing special business permit or to amend the site 

development plan approved for a special business permit, the procedure shall be as follows 

to: 

1. Amend Conditions of a Special Business Permit. 

a. The property owner or authorized representative shall submit a written request to 

amend conditions to the City Administrator/Clerk. The City Administrator/Clerk 

shall evaluate the request for consistency in purpose and content with the nature of 

the proposal as originally advertised for public hearing.  

b. The City Administrator/Clerk shall then forward the request and its report to the 

Commission. The Commission shall review the proposed condition amendments and 

file a report with the Board of Aldermen in which the Commission shall recommend 

the Board grant, deny, or modify the requested condition amendments.  



 15 

c. If the Commission determines that the requested condition amendments are not 

consistent in purpose and content with the nature of the proposal as originally 

advertised for public hearing, the Commission may require a new public hearing on 

the matter in accord with the procedures specified herein.  

2. Amend the Site Plan. 

a. The property owner or authorized representative shall submit an amended site 

development plan to the City Administrator/Clerk for review. The City 

Administrator/Clerk shall evaluate the request for consistency in purpose and 

content with the nature of the proposal as originally advertised for public hearing.  

b. If the City Administrator/Clerk determines that the proposed amendment to the site 

development plan is not in conflict with the original proposal as advertised and the 

preliminary development plan, and meets all conditions of the Special Business 

Permit, the City Administrator/Clerk may approve said amended plan. The approved 

plan shall be retained on file by the City Administrator/Clerk.  

c. If the City Administrator/Clerk determines that the proposed amendment to the site 

plan is not consistent in purpose and content with the nature of the proposal as 

originally advertised for public hearing, or with the preliminary development plan, 

the City Administrator/Clerk shall so report to the applicant and the Commission. 

The Commission shall review the proposed site plan amendment and make a 

recommendation to the Board of Aldermen. The Commission may, if deemed 

necessary, require a new public hearing on the matter in accord with procedures 

specified herein.  

Article V  

"B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District Regulations  

Section 400.190 Use Regulations.  

A. The following are permitted uses in the "B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District: 

1. Single-family attached dwellings as part of a planned residential development under single 

ownership containing not less than five (5) acres and not more than thirty (30) acres, 

provided that acreage not in excess of thirty (30) acres each may be added to the 

development by a separate application for each maximum thirty-acre addition.  

a. Group Homes. 

(1) Purpose. The City has determined that it is necessary and desirable to provide suitable sites 

for group homes in residential areas while, in furtherance of the recognized goals of 



 16 

deinstitutionalization and dispersal, assuring that group homes are not unduly concentrated 

in neighborhoods so as to afford mentally or physically disabled persons every opportunity 

to be integrated in the community. To that end, group homes in residential districts shall 

comply with the following: 

(a) To promote deinstitutionalization and dispersal, no group home may be located within five 

hundred (500) feet of another group home, measured by the straight line distance between 

the nearest points of the exterior walls (exclusive of overhangs) of the buildings within 

which the relevant facilities or uses are located;  

(b) Adjoin any lot upon which another group home already exists; or  

(c) Be separated from any lot upon which an existing group home already exists only by a 

street or roadway.  

(2) The exterior appearance of the home and property, occupancy limitation, signage and other 

standards applicable to single-family dwellings shall apply equally to group homes.  

(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section to the contrary, any individual, group or 

entity may make a request for reasonable accommodation from the provisions of this 

Section pursuant to the procedures set forth in Sections 230.150 through 230.240 of this 

Code.  

b. Foster Homes.  

2. Churches, synagogues and other houses of worship.  

3. Municipally owned or operated parks or playgrounds.  

4. Non-commercial forests and gardens.  

5. Temporary buildings for uses incidental to construction; provided that no such building 

shall be located within a required yard or within twenty-five (25) feet of any lot line and no 

trees shall be removed for the placement of such temporary building. The temporary 

building shall be removed upon the earlier occurring of one (1) year from initial placement 

of the temporary building or upon the completion or abandonment of the work, unless 

express written permission to continue the location of such temporary building is granted by 

the Board of Aldermen upon good cause shown.  

6. Customary Home Occupations. 

a. Provided that the Code Enforcement Official finds: 



 17 

(1) The customary home occupation does not occupy more than twenty-five percent (25%) of 

the floor area of the premises;  

(2) No alteration is made to the exterior of the premises that would indicate the presence of a 

customary home occupation;  

(3) No commercial or delivery vehicles used in connection with the customary home 

occupation are parked at or stored on the premises or visit the premises with a frequency of 

more than one (1) visit per day; and  

(4) No steady or concentrated visitation of clients to the premises which would disrupt the 

residential character of the surrounding neighborhood results from the conduct of the 

customary home occupation and, in the case of customary home occupations involving 

teaching or other types of instruction, visitation shall be limited to one (1) pupil at a time 

except for occasional seminar groups.  

b. Persons wishing to maintain a home occupation in accordance with this Section shall submit 

to the Code Enforcement Official a written application on forms provided by the City 

describing the type of home occupation, the total floor area of the dwelling in which the 

home occupation is to be located, the amount of floor area to be occupied by the home 

occupation, the type of equipment used in the conduct of the home occupation and 

certifying that the proposed home occupation complies with each of the requirements of this 

Subsection. An application fee of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) shall accompany the 

application. Upon receipt of a complete application, the Code Enforcement Official shall 

verify whether the proposed home occupation complies with the foregoing requirements 

and, accordingly, shall issue or deny the application for the home occupation. Following 

approval of an application in accordance with this Subsection, any change in the amount of 

floor area occupied by the home occupation as certified in the original application or any 

change in the type of home occupation shall require a new application, together with the 

payment of application fee and review and approval in accordance with this Section. A 

separate business license is not required for a home occupation. 

7. Accessory buildings or accessory uses as specified below, provided that no accessory 

building or accessory use shall be located in the front yard or less than eleven (11) feet from 

any side lot line or less than five (5) feet from the rear lot line:  

Accessory Building or 

Accessory Use Maximum Area Maximum Height 

Accessory building, enclosed 

on all sides and roofed, not 

including a private garage 

144 square feet 8 feet 

Doghouse, dog run or 50 square feet 6 feet including fencing 



 18 

Accessory Building or 

Accessory Use Maximum Area Maximum Height 

combination 

Swimming pool, in 

conjunction with a single-

family dwelling constructed 

and fenced as required by St. 

Louis County Codes 

1,000 square feet water 

surface area 

4 feet 

Private garage 700 square feet Height regulations as described 

in § 400.200 

No more than one (1) of each above-listed accessory building is permitted per lot. 

 

a. All detached garages must have an associated driveway which provides direct access to the 

detached garage for the storage of vehicles. Failure to have an associated driveway to the 

building will be conclusive evidence that the accessory building is not a detached garage.  

b. Nothing in this Section 400.190 shall prevent the owner of a dwelling unit or owner's 

authorized agent from constructing both an attached and detached garage on a single lot, 

each up to a maximum of 700 square feet, provided that the lot and structures thereon 

comply with the area regulations outlined in Section 400.210.  

c. No private garage shall be used as a dwelling unit; nor shall a private garage be constructed 

to contain a dwelling unit within said private garage.  

d. Carports are prohibited in the "B" Single-Family Dwelling District.  

e. Nothing in this Section 400.190(A)(8) shall prevent the Board of Aldermen from approving 

a detached or attached private garage, carport or other accessory structure or waiving the 

size requirements as part of an approved planned development ("PD-MxD" or "PD-R") 

under Section 400.380 of this Chapter.  

f. Accessory buildings shall be compatible with the principal building on the lot in terms of 

architectural treatment and harmony and shall be maintained in compliance with Chapter 

500, Article VII, Property Maintenance Code; Chapter 505, Dangerous Buildings; and 

Chapter 215, Nuisances. If the Code Enforcement Official determines that more than fifty 

percent (50%) of an accessory building is damaged or dilapidated or that the accessory 

building is damaged or dilapidated by more than fifty percent (50%) of its value, the Code 

Enforcement Official shall give notice to the lot owner of such determination and the owner 

shall cease to use the accessory building and remove it from the lot within the time frame 

indicated in the notice.  

8. Other accessory uses, and accessory buildings designed in conjunction with and for the sole 

use of residents of a planned residential development and guests including, by way of 



 19 

illustration rather than limitation, clubhouse, tennis courts, swimming pool. All such 

accessory uses, and accessory buildings shall be subordinated to the residential character of 

the planned development and of the area and no advertising shall be permitted. 

a. All above-grade accessory buildings shall be landscaped with evergreens so that the 

outline of the accessory building is interrupted. All accessory buildings shall be 

compatible with the principal building(s) on the lot in terms of architectural treatment 

and harmony.  

b. No accessory building shall be erected or placed upon a lot until construction of the 

principal building(s) has commenced.  

9. Nothing herein shall be construed as permitting short term rental uses in the "B" Single-

Family Attached Dwelling District either as a home occupation or as a single-family 

dwelling use. Short-term rentals are prohibited in the "B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling 

District. 

Section 400.200 Height Regulations.  

A. Except as provided in this Section, no building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height.  

B. Churches, synagogues, and other houses of worship may exceed thirty-five (35) feet in 

height to a maximum of sixty (60) feet in height, provided that for each one (1) foot in 

height in excess of thirty-five (35) feet, the building shall be set back one (1) foot from each 

lot line or required minimum yard area.  

C. Chimneys, rooftop mechanical appurtenances and other purely ornamental or mechanical 

accessories shall not be considered for purposes of determining height.  

Section 400.210 Area Regulations.   

A. Yard Requirements. Yard requirements shall be as provided on the schedule following: 

Use Minimum Lot Size Minimum Setback Maximum Coverage 

Single-family attached 

dwelling 

N/A No principal building 

shall be located 

within 25 feet of 

another or within 30 

feet of a curb line 

20% 

Other permitted principal 

use 

12,000 square feet Front: 35 feet 

Side: 11 feet 

Rear: 50 feet and 

where any side or rear 

15% 



 20 

Use Minimum Lot Size Minimum Setback Maximum Coverage 

yard coincides with a 

residential lot line, an 

additional buffer strip 

at least 20 feet in 

width and planted 

with trees, shrubs or 

similar vegetation 

shall be provided 

B. Reserved.  

C. Dwelling Unit Floor Area Requirements. 

1. Every one-story single-family dwelling shall have a total floor area of not less than one 

thousand five hundred (1,500) square feet measured from the exterior walls, excluding 

private garages and other covered storage areas. Every single-family dwelling of more than 

one (1) story shall have a floor area on the first floor of not less than one thousand one 

hundred (1,100) square feet measured from the exterior walls, excluding private garages and 

other covered storage areas and each floor above the first floor shall have a floor area of not 

less than seven hundred fifty (750) square feet measured from the exterior walls, excluding 

private garages and other covered storage areas.  

2. Every dwelling unit located in a one-story single-family attached dwelling shall have a total 

floor area of not less than one thousand two hundred (1,200) square feet measured from the 

exterior walls, excluding private garages and other covered storage areas. Every dwelling 

unit located in a single-family attached dwelling of more than one (1) story shall have a 

floor area on the first floor of not less than one thousand (1,000) square feet measured from 

the exterior walls, excluding private garages and other covered storage areas and each floor 

above the first floor shall have a floor area of not less than five hundred (500) square feet 

measured from the exterior walls, excluding private garages and other covered storage 

areas.  

D. Planned Residential Development Requirements. Single-family attached dwellings together 

with single-family dwellings as part of a planned residential development shall satisfy the 

following requirements: 

1. Density. Average gross residential density, exclusive of areas devoted to streets and parking 

areas, walkways, common open space, service facilities and other accessory uses shall not 

exceed four (4) dwelling units per acre and in the case of a proposed planned residential 

development consisting of both single-family dwellings and single-family attached 

dwellings, in no event shall more than sixty percent (60%) of the total number of dwelling 



 21 

units proposed be either single-family dwellings or single-family attached dwellings. 

Common open space shall be no less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total planned 

residential development area exclusive of areas devoted to streets and parking areas, 

walkways, common open space, service facilities and other accessory uses. Common open 

space areas shall be located as approved by the Board of Aldermen.  

2. Site Design Requirements for Dwelling Units. 

a. All dwelling units shall be located and arranged to enhance the privacy of residents.  

b. Conventional siting practices may be varied within minimum standards to produce a more 

attractive arrangement of buildings and amenities.  

c. The effect of prevailing winds, seasonal temperatures, daily hours of sunlight, existing 

vegetation and scenic vistas shall be considered in designing and siting buildings and 

amenities.  

d. Dwelling units shall be located to promote pedestrian and visual access to common open 

space.  

e. No building or structure shall be located less than fifty (50) feet from a "B" Single-Family 

Attached Dwelling District boundary. A buffer strip of not less than fifty (50) feet in width 

shall be provided along the perimeter of the entire planned residential development. No 

drives, walkways or parking spaces shall occupy such buffer strip, except as necessary, to 

provide a means of ingress and egress from the development to a public thoroughfare; 

provided that the Board of Aldermen may require that the buffer strip be supplemented with 

additional landscaping and fencing.  

3. Site Design Requirements for Common Open Space and Environmental Preservation. 

a. The location, size, configuration, and character of common open spaces shall be designed to 

enhance existing natural features and to provide for appropriate on-site stormwater retention 

meeting standards of the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District.  

b. Common open space shall be designed as a contiguous area affording pedestrian and visual 

access by residents of the planned residential development.  

c. Natural features, such as scenic views, woodlands, trees, major vegetation areas, streams, 

and watercourses, shall be preserved wherever possible. Location of existing trees having a 

diameter of six (6) inches or more as measured at a height of four (4) feet above original 

grade shall be a factor in locating buildings, utilities, streets paved areas and finished grades 

to provide that such trees are preserved to the maximum extent possible.  



 22 

d. All development activities shall minimize earthmoving and erosion. Where earthwork is 

required, erosion prevention and control measures such as installation of silt catchment 

basins together with seeding, sodding, and mulching shall be instituted.  

e. All utilities shall be installed underground.  

Section 400.220 Off-Street Parking Facilities.   

Off-street parking facilities shall be provided as required in Article X, Sections 400.390 and 

400.400 of this Chapter. 

Section 400.230 Application and Approval Procedures.  

A. The owner or developer of any lot or lots located within and meeting the requirements of a 

"B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District, prior to the erection, conversion, 

enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration of any principal building on or change of 

principal use of such lot or lots, shall file with the Board of Aldermen an application for site 

development plan approval; provided that site plan approval shall not be required for the 

conversion, enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration of any existing single-family 

dwelling or single-family attached dwelling but shall be required for initial construction of 

any new single-family dwelling or single-family attached dwelling. The application shall be 

submitted on forms provided by the City and shall include a site development plan prepared 

by a licensed professional architect, engineer or land surveyor together containing support 

information satisfying the following requirements: 

1. The name of the owner or developer and of the professional architect, engineer, planner, or 

land surveyor responsible for the preparation of the proposed site development plan.  

2. Existing and proposed site grades identifying all grade changes and areas of cut and fill at a 

minimum contour interval of two (2) feet, or one (1) foot in areas where average slopes are 

three percent (3%) or less.  

3. Existing landscape and natural features plan identifying specific location of all woodlands, 

trees, major vegetation areas, streams, watercourses and other natural resources and features 

and delineating specific provisions to be taken to preserve or to minimize impact on these 

natural features.  

4. All existing and proposed uses and buildings.  

5. Sidewalks and walkways.  

6. Driveways, existing and proposed curb cuts, vehicle travel lanes and parking areas.  

7. Means for the provision of water, sanitary sewerage, storm drainage, electric and natural gas 



 23 

services, and telephone and telecommunications services including cable facilities.  

8. Existing and proposed easements and dedications.  

9. Building plans and elevations depicting exterior materials and treatments; height, bulk, and 

locational relationships.  

10. Other information which the Planning and Zoning Commission or the Board of Aldermen 

may designate.  

B. Upon the filing of a complete application for site development plan approval with the Board 

of Aldermen, the City Administrator/Clerk, after providing copies of the application to the 

Board of Aldermen, shall refer the application and support documentation to the Planning 

and Zoning Commission for review, study, and report. The Planning and Zoning 

Commission shall review the application and shall report to the Board of Aldermen the 

Planning and Zoning Commission's recommendations for approval, disapproval, or 

modification of the proposed site development plan.  

C. Upon receipt of the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the Board of 

Aldermen shall schedule and conduct a public hearing on the proposed site development 

plan after having given notice of time, place, and purpose of the hearing by publication at 

least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the City which publication shall 

appear at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the hearing. The Board of Aldermen 

may continue the hearing from time to time without further publication upon designation at 

the hearing of the time and place of the continuation and notation of such continuation in 

the minutes of the Board of Aldermen. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the Board of 

Aldermen may in writing approve, disapprove, or modify the site development plan. The 

Board of Aldermen shall promptly transmit a copy of the final action on the proposed site 

development plan to the applicable Code Enforcement Official(s).  

D. Proposed construction or change of a principal use approved pursuant to this Section shall 

commence within six (6) months of the date of approval by the Board of Aldermen of the 

site development plan and application or the site development plan approval shall lapse and 

be void.  

E. No building permit to erect, convert, enlarge, reconstruct or structurally alter any principal 

building (other than for conversion, enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration of 

an existing single-family dwelling or single-family attached dwelling) and no approval to 

change a principal use shall issue until the Board of Aldermen has approved a site 

development plan in accordance with this Section; provided that nothing in this Section 

shall be construed to prohibit issuance of a grading permit approved by the Board of 



 24 

Aldermen for such grading and site work as may be required to prepare a lot or lots for 

development.  

 



Article VI Supplemental Regulations in Residential Districts 
 

Section 400.240 Location Utilities.  

A. All utility distribution lines shall be installed underground.  

B. Cable switching enclosures, pad-mounted transformers and service pedestals may be installed 

above ground, but pad-mounted transformers shall not be located within a front yard.  

Section 400.250 Satellite Dishes.  

No satellite dish or other similar earth reception station which exceeds twenty-four (24) inches in 

diameter shall be located in an "A" Single-Family Dwelling District or a "B" Single-Family Attached 

Dwelling District unless totally screened from view from adjoining properties and not located within a 

front yard. Any satellite dish or other similar earth reception station which exceeds twenty-four (24) 

inches in diameter shall be made of mesh material, painted black or grey and installed on the ground.  

Section 400.260 Outdoor Lighting.  

A. All outdoor premises lighting including landscape lighting shall be placed, designed and 

installed in a manner which will prevent light from falling directly on an adjoining lot or 

premises.  

B. Dusk to dawn lights shall not exceed two hundred fifty (250) HPS in wattage and shall be 

directed or shielded in a manner which will prevent light from falling directly on an adjoining 

lot or premises. 

Section 400.270 Reserved.  

 

 



 1 

Article VII  

"C" Commercial District Regulations  

Section 400.280 Use Regulations.  

  

A. Permitted Uses. The following are permitted uses in the "C" Commercial District; provided that a 

permanent building or premises shall be required for all permitted principal uses: 

1. Bakeries.  

2. Beauty shops.  

3. Bookstores.  

4. Churches, synagogues, and other houses of worship.  

5. Coffee shops.  

6. Copy, fax, packing and shipping services centers.  

7. Day care facilities.  

8. Gift shops.  

9. Greeting card shops and stationery stores.  

10. Ice cream and frozen custard shops.  

11. Internet web design centers.  

12. Nail care shops.  

13. Picture framing shops.  

14. Professional offices for accountants, attorneys, dentists and dental care, graphic design, 

insurance, physicians, and medical care (but not clinics), tax preparers and similar.  

15. Retail clothing shops.  

16. Retail dry cleaning establishments and laundries, provided that not more than eight (8) 

employees may be working on the premises at any time.  

17. Shoe repair shops.  

18. Tailor shops.  



 2 

19. Temporary buildings for uses incidental to construction, provided that no such building shall 

be located within a required yard or within twenty-five (25) feet of any lot line and no trees 

shall be removed for the placement of such temporary building. The temporary building shall 

be removed upon the earlier occurring of one (1) year from initial placement of the temporary 

building, or upon the completion or abandonment of the work, unless express written 

permission to continue the location of such temporary building is granted by the Board of 

Aldermen upon good cause shown.  

20. Accessory uses and accessory buildings in conjunction with any of the above permitted 

principal uses, provided that no accessory building shall be erected or placed upon a lot until 

construction of the principal building(s) has commenced.  

21. A change from one (1) of the above-permitted uses to another above-permitted use within the 

same building or premises, provided that the change will not involve any of the following 

characteristics: a building or premises having more than ten thousand (10,000) square feet, 

new construction to the building or premises, or substantial change to the existing building or 

premises. If the proposed change will involve one (1) or more of the above-listed 

characteristics, the applicant must follow the development plan process detailed in Section 

400.340 to seek approval for a planned use instead.  

B. Planned Uses. 

1. All uses designated as "planned uses" as set forth in this Subsection shall require the approval 

of a final development plan prior to the issuance of a building permit if they meet the criteria 

set forth in Section 400.340. The submission requirements, procedures and approval standards 

governing development plans are set forth in Section 400.340. Planned uses will be approved 

only if the Board of Aldermen, in its sole discretion, after review shall determine that the 

specific location and circumstances are appropriate for the use.  

2. The following are planned uses in the "C" Commercial District, provided that a permanent 

building or premises shall be required for all permitted principal uses: 

a. Appliance and furniture stores.  

b. Banks.  

c. Bowling alleys.  

d. Business schools, dancing or music academies, cosmetology schools.  

e. Computer sales and service stores.  

f. Department stores.  

g. Drug stores and pharmacies.  



 3 

h. Food catering establishments.  

i. Grocery stores and supermarkets.  

j. Hardware stores.  

k. Motor vehicle oriented businesses (MVOB).  

l. Movie theaters.  

m. Office supply stores.  

n. Pet shops.  

o. Physical fitness centers.  

p. Post offices.  

q. Restaurants.  

r. Shoe stores.  

s. Sporting goods stores. (new merchandise only)  

C. Conditional Uses. A retail or service use which meets criteria set forth in Section 400.420 of this 

Chapter may, after public hearing and making required findings, be authorized by the Board of 

Aldermen as a part of and subject to development plan process approval.  

Section 400.290 Additional Use Requirements.   

No building or premises occupied and used for any of the permitted principal uses identified in Section 

400.280 of this Chapter shall have more than forty percent (40%) of its floor area devoted to storage or 

other uses accessory to such permitted principal use nor more than five (5) persons employed at any time 

in such accessory use. 

Section 400.295 Spacing Requirement for Medical Marijuana Uses.  

A. No medical marijuana use, whether in the "C" District or a "PD-RxM" District, shall be located 

within one-hundred (100) feet of any then-existing elementary school, secondary school, child day-

care facility, or church. As used in the previous sentence, "then-existing" shall mean any elementary 

school, secondary school, child day-care center, or church with a building permit from the City to be 

constructed, or under construction, or completed and in use at the time the medical marijuana use 

applies for a zoning permit.  

B. When measuring the spacing requirement, the following guidelines shall be followed: 

1. In the case of a freestanding medical marijuana use facility, the distance between the facility 

and the elementary school, secondary school, child day-care facility, or church shall be 



 4 

measured from the external wall of the facility structure closest in proximity to the elementary 

school, secondary school, or church to the closest point of the property line of the elementary 

school, secondary school, child day-care facility, or church.  

2. In the case of a medical marijuana use facility that is part of a larger structure, such as an office 

building or strip mall, the distance between the facility and the elementary school, secondary 

school, child day-care facility, or church shall be measured from the property line of the 

elementary school, secondary school, child day-care facility, or church to the facility's entrance 

or exit closest in proximity to the elementary school, secondary school, child day-care facility, 

or church.  

3. Measurements shall be made along the shortest path between the demarcation points that can 

be traveled by foot.  

Section 400.300 Height Regulations.   

A. Except as provided in this Section, no building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height.  

B. Churches, synagogues, and other houses of worship may exceed thirty-five (35) feet in height to a 

maximum of sixty (60) feet in height.  

C. Chimneys, rooftop mechanical appurtenances and other purely ornamental or mechanical 

accessories shall not exceed the highest point of the building by more than 10% unless otherwise 

required by applicable building codes.  

Section 400.310 Area Regulations.  

A. No building shall be erected or maintained, nor vehicular parking area provided within thirty (30) 

feet of any boundary of a "C" Commercial District. This area may, however, be occupied by drives, 

sidewalks, landscaping, and similar facilities.  

B. A buffer strip of not less than fifty (50) feet in width shall be provided along any perimeter of a 

commercial development which adjoins an "A" Single-Family Dwelling District, a "B" Single-

Family Attached Dwelling District or a "D" Park District, except where abutting a public street. No 

drive, walkway, parking space or vehicular travel way shall occupy any portion of the buffer strip, 

provided that the Board of Aldermen may require that the buffer strip be supplemented with 

additional plantings, landscaping and fencing.  

C. Buffer strips and all landscaping therein once implemented shall be maintained by the property 

owner/occupant in accordance with any approved landscape plan for the area. Any change to such 

buffer strips from the approved site plan shall require an amendment to the site plan prior to any 

work commencing. 

Section 400.320 Off-Street Parking Facilities In "C" Residential Districts.   

Off-street parking facilities shall be provided as required in Section 400.400 of this Chapter except where 

modified by the Board of Aldermen in accordance with approval of a development plan or limited 

development plan as provided in this Article. 



 5 

Section 400.330 Site Design Requirements.  

A. The following requirements are supplementary to additional use requirements, height regulations, 

area regulations and parking regulations set forth in this Article and together with the provisions of 

this Section shall be minimum standards for site design and building construction, reconstruction or 

use within a "C" Commercial District. 

1. All uses, except off-street parking and loading facilities and facilities for storage and removal 

of refuse, shall be conducted entirely within an enclosed building or structure unless a 

conditional use permit (if permanent) or special event permit (if temporary) is issued by the 

Board of Aldermen.  

2. Building materials and facades shall be uniform and compatible in type, color and texture with 

the existing City environment and shall adhere to the Urban Design Guidelines of the City of 

Twin Oaks, a copy of which is on file in the City office and incorporated in this Section by 

reference.  

3. All portions of required buffer strips shall be adequately landscaped as determined by the 

Board of Aldermen utilizing plantings, fencing or a combination of both. Any parking area 

visible from a public or private street shall be landscaped with appropriate plantings, trees, 

decorative walls, or a combination of these elements. All landscaped areas shall be properly 

irrigated and maintained at all times.  

4. All loading areas shall be screened from view from adjoining streets and adjacent properties 

and all facilities for storage and removal of refuse shall be located within sight-proof 

enclosures.  

5. No light standard shall exceed twenty-four (24) feet in height. All on-site illumination sources 

shall be located, oriented, and directed such that no light is cast directly on any adjoining 

property or street.  

6. All rooftop mechanical equipment shall be adequately screened as determined by the City.  

7. All utility lines shall be installed underground and shall rise within proposed buildings.  

8. All development activity shall minimize soil and site disturbance and erosion. Where site 

disturbance is necessary, adequate erosion control measures as determined by the City utilizing 

plantings, seeding, mulching and silt catchment basins and similar methods shall be applied.  

Section 400.340 Development Plan Process and Limited Development Plan Process.  

Purpose. To avoid unplanned, fragmented development, the City has developed a plan ("Master 

Development Plan") to address and evaluate all future redevelopment activities within the City's 

commercial district. Therefore, certain applications for "redevelopment" or "development" within any of 

the City's commercial districts shall be subject to "development plan" approval process set forth herein 

where specified circumstances exist. It is the intent of this Section to authorize these "planned uses" only 

where the location and circumstances are appropriate to the use and a development plan is approved by 



 6 

the Board of Aldermen for any use designated as a planned use. It is also the intent of this Section to 

increase the flexibility of development design through evaluation and approval of a redevelopment plan. 

Approval of a redevelopment plan shall be considered a legislative act of rezoning. Any ordinance 

approving a redevelopment plan shall be deemed to incorporate the provisions of this Section. 

A. Development Plan Process. 

1. Applicability. The development plan process set forth in this Section shall be required when 

any one (1) of the following situations is proposed: 

a. New construction of buildings;  

b. Expansion of existing buildings in excess of ten percent (10%) of the existing floor area;  

c. Any alteration which changes existing drive aisles or vehicle access to or on the site;  

d. Any alteration to the site which would result in more than one (1) curb cut;  

e. Any development or expansion of motor vehicle oriented business; or  

f. Any change from a permitted use, approved planned use or approved conditional use to a 

new use listed as a planned use if such change relates to a building or premises having 

more than ten thousand (10,000) square feet, new construction to the building or 

premises, or substantial change to the existing building or premises.  

2. Preliminary Development Plan Submittal Requirements. Persons proposing any development 

or use which involves one (1) or more of the situations set forth in Subsection (A)(1) of this 

Section shall initially file with the City Administrator/Clerk an application on forms provided 

by the City and accompanied by such application fees as may be prescribed from time to time 

by ordinance together with twelve (12) copies of a proposed preliminary development plan and 

support documentation, which preliminary development plan shall be prepared by a licensed 

professional engineer, architect or land surveyor and shall include the following information: 

a. Names of the developer or owner of the real property and of the professional engineer, 

architect or land surveyor responsible for preparation of the proposed development plan 

and total site area in acres or square feet;  

b. Proposed location of buildings, other structures and proposed lot boundaries and 

arrangements, i.e., ground leases, subdivisions, dedications;  

c. Location of existing buildings, other structures and existing and lot boundaries and 

arrangements including easements and dedications;  

d. Identification and location of adjacent uses and property ownership to a distance of one 

hundred (100) linear feet from site boundaries;  



 7 

e. Identification of land areas within the one-hundred-year floodplain;  

f. Existing and proposed grading and areas of cut and fill at a minimum contour interval of 

two (2) feet and one (1) foot in areas where average slopes are five percent (5%) or less, 

together with proposed retaining walls or similar slope stabilization structures or 

methods, identifying height and type of materials to be utilized;  

g. Landscaping and natural resources protection plan depicting location and massing of 

existing vegetation and trees; existing streams, watercourses and natural features together 

with specific measures to be taken to preserve or minimize development impacts; 

proposed landscaping and plantings including plant materials and sizes; identification of 

screening and buffer areas, open space and other amenities;  

h. Traffic and parking plan depicting location of public streets, identifying arterials, 

collectors and local streets; service and loading areas; points of access to public rights-of-

way; existing and proposed parking areas, drives and pedestrian walks; and, as required 

by the Board of Aldermen, traffic studies and counts describing vehicle turning 

movements, peak and off-peak traffic impacts, existing and proposed levels of service 

and such other information and analyses as may be required;  

i. Existing and proposed water, sanitary sewerage, and storm utility systems including 

drainage structures, inlets and provisions for on-site stormwater retention and for 

minimizing impact on existing drainage patterns and facilities;  

j. Elevations of proposed buildings and building masses depicting general style, size, and 

exterior construction materials. Where several building types are proposed, a separate 

sketch shall be prepared for each type;  

k. Size, location, color and materials of all signs to be attached to building exteriors;  

l. Schedules indicating gross floor area, site area, building coverage, parking spaces, and 

proposed plant materials by type, size and quantity;  

m. Phases of development, if applicable.  

3. Review Procedures; Public Hearing. Upon the filing of the application for development plan, 

the City Administrator/Clerk, after providing copies of the application to the Board of 

Aldermen, shall refer the same to the Planning and Zoning Commission for review, study and 

report and the Planning and Zoning Commission shall report to the Board of Aldermen 

recommendations regarding the application and the development plan. Upon receipt of the 

recommendations of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the City Administrator/Clerk shall 

schedule a public hearing before the Board of Aldermen after giving notice of the time, place, 

and purpose of such hearing by publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation 

within the City at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the public hearing. After the public 

hearing, the Board of Aldermen shall review the application and development plan. Any Board 



 8 

approval of a preliminary development plan shall be by resolution. The Planning and Zoning 

Commission and the Board of Aldermen shall apply the minimum standards for site design and 

building construction set forth in this Article, the Master Development Plan and its Urban 

Design Guidelines as a guide for review of proposed preliminary development plan 

applications. If the Board of Aldermen imposes conditions or restrictions on a proposed 

preliminary development plan, the Board of Aldermen shall designate those specific 

requirements that must be met before an applicant may submit for consideration a final 

development plan for the proposed development under Subsection (A)(4) below. In 

considering any proposed preliminary development plan application, consideration may also 

be given to the criteria stated below, to the extent pertinent to the particular application: 

a. Development is compatible with and incorporates standards and principles contained in 

the minimum standards for site design and building construction set forth in this Article, 

the Master Development Plan, the Master Landscaping Plan, and the Urban Design 

Guidelines.  

b. Development is designed, located, and proposed to be operated so that the public health, 

safety, and welfare will be protected.  

c. Development will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of 

the surrounding property nor impair the use and enjoyment or value of neighboring 

properties.  

d. Development incorporates adequate ingress and egress and an internal street network that 

minimizes traffic congestion.  

e. The capability of the site area and location to accommodate the building, parking areas 

and drives with appropriate open space and safe and easy ingress and egress.  

f. The degree of harmony between the architectural quality and siting of the proposed 

buildings with that of surrounding buildings and structures.  

4. Duration of Plan Approval — Final Development Plan Submittals. The approved preliminary 

development plan shall specify the duration of its validity, but in no event shall an approved 

preliminary development plan be valid for a period longer than twelve (12) months from the 

date of such approval. The Board of Aldermen may grant one (1) extension not exceeding 

twelve (12) months upon written request. The approval of a revised preliminary development 

plan shall not automatically extend the time period during which the preliminary development 

plan is valid. Within the period of validity of an approved preliminary development plan, the 

applicant shall submit to the Board of Aldermen for final approval a final development plan 

which shall satisfy all submission requirements of the preliminary development plan and shall 

additionally provide: 

a. Finished grades or contours for the entire site.  



 9 

b. All proposed and existing adjacent public street rights-of-way with center line location.  

c. All proposed and existing adjacent public street and public drive locations, widths, curb 

cuts and radii.  

d. Location, width, and limits of all existing and proposed sidewalks.  

e. Location, size, and radii of all existing and proposed median breaks and turning lanes.  

f. Distance between all buildings, between buildings and property lines and between all 

parking areas and property lines.  

g. Depiction of all required building and parking setbacks.  

h. Location, dimensions, number of stories and area in square feet of all proposed buildings.  

i. Limits, location, size, and material to be used in all proposed retaining walls.  

j. Location and dimensions of all driveways, parking lots, parking stalls, aisles, loading and 

service areas and docks.  

k. Location, height, intensity, and type of outside lighting fixtures for buildings and parking 

lots.  

l. Location, size, and type of material of all proposed monument or freestanding signs.  

m. Final stormwater collection and detention and erosion control plans.  

n. Final water and sanitary sewerage plans.  

o. Final written approval from all interested jurisdictions, including MSD and Valley Park 

Fire District or West County Fire District, as applicable.  

p. Final landscaping and natural resources protection plans.  

5. Final Development Plan Review. A final development plan that contains no changes or 

additions to the approved preliminary development plan may be approved by the Board of 

Aldermen without further Planning and Zoning Commission review upon a determination that 

all conditions of approval of the preliminary development plan, if any, have been satisfied by 

the applicant, and that all other submission requirements have been satisfied. A final 

development plan that contains minor changes to the approved preliminary development plan 

may be approved by the Board of Aldermen provided that the Board of Aldermen determines 

that the landscaping, buffer area and screening plans are adequate, that the proposed 

development will be compatible with proposed and existing adjacent development, and that all 

other submission requirements have been satisfied. The phrase "minor changes," as used in this 



 10 

Subsection, shall mean changes that do not affect traffic or pedestrian access and otherwise are 

consistent with the intent of the original approval. A final development plan that contains 

changes, other than minor changes, from the approved preliminary development plan shall 

follow the procedure for application, submission, and consideration of preliminary 

development plan applications. Any approval of a final development plan by the Board of 

Aldermen shall be by ordinance.  

6. Validity of Final Development Plan. Final development plan approval shall not be valid for a 

period longer than twelve (12) months from the date of such approval, unless within such 

period a building permit is obtained, and substantial construction is commenced, and all 

additional building permits necessary to complete the project as approved in the final 

development plan schedule are obtained in a timely fashion as determined by the City 

Administrator/Clerk. The Board of Aldermen may grant one (1) extension of no more than 

twelve (12) months upon written request of the original applicant. An application for extension 

of a final development plan may be granted, if the application is filed before the final 

development plan expires. Upon granting an extension, the Board of Aldermen shall have the 

authority to attach new conditions to the final development plan as the Board deems 

appropriate. "Substantial construction," as used in this Subsection, shall mean completion of at 

least ten percent (10%) of the construction in terms of the total expected cost of the project for 

which the permit was issued.  

7. Plan Recordation. Following the Board of Aldermen's approval by ordinance of a final 

development plan, a copy of the final development plan signed by the Mayor shall be filed by 

the applicant with the Recorder of Deeds of St. Louis County within sixty (60) days. All filing 

fees shall be paid by the person who filed the development plan application. The authorization 

for the use approved by the final development plan shall not become effective until a copy of 

the recorded plan bearing its recordation notations shall be returned and placed on file with the 

City Administrator/Clerk.  

8. Abandonment. 

a. A final development plan or a phase thereof shall terminate and be deemed abandoned if: 

(1) The applicant or landowner shall fail to commence development by failing to 

receive a building permit or failing to undertake substantial construction on the 

property after receiving a building permit within twelve (12) months after receiving 

final development plan approval, or a longer period of time if an extension of the 

final development plan has been granted by the Board of Aldermen; or  

(2) The applicant or landowner abandons the final development plan or a phase thereof 

and notifies the City in writing of the abandonment; or  

(3)  The applicant, successor applicant or landowner seeks to change a project after 

approval of a Final Development Plan but fails to submit an application for an 



 11 

Amended Final Development Plan as set forth in Section 400.340(B) within ninety 

(90) days of the change or attempted change to the project provided that the Board 

of Aldermen may extend this deadline up to sixty (60) days for good cause shown.  

b. Whenever a final development plan or phase thereof has been abandoned as provided in 

this Subsection, no development shall take place on the property until a new final 

development plan has been approved.  

B. Changes to A Project After Final Development Plan Approval. Prior to changes being made to a site 

that is the subject of an approved final development plan, the approved final development plan must 

be amended in the following circumstances using the process set forth below. 

1. Minor Changes. A proposed amendment of a final development plan that contains minor 

changes to the approved final development plan may be approved without further action of the 

Planning Commission or the Board of Aldermen or a public hearing, provided that the City 

Engineer and City staff determines that the change(s) is a minor change and that the 

landscaping, buffer area and screening plan is adequate, that the proposed changes to the 

development will be compatible with proposed and existing adjacent development and that all 

other submission requirements have been satisfied. The phrase "minor changes," as used in this 

Subsection, shall mean changes that: 

a. Accommodate the building(s), parking and drives with appropriate open space and safe 

and easy ingress and egress with no traffic congestion and/or loss in required parking or 

landscaping.  

b. Are compatible with the minimum standards for site design and building construction set 

forth in this Article, the Master Development Plan and its Urban Design Guidelines, any 

supplement thereto and/or adopted regulations and the criteria governing the rezoning of 

property.  

c. Are consistent with the intent, density, and scope of the original approval.  

d. Are designed, located, and proposed to be operated so that the public health, safety, and 

welfare will be protected and will not impair the use and enjoyment or value of 

neighboring properties.  

e. Are architecturally consistent with and of a similar quality of the proposed building and 

the surrounding neighborhood.  

f. Do not seek to modify the minimum dimensions and areas of lots and yards set forth in 

the applicable zoning district regulations or the approved final development plan.  

2. All Other Changes--Amended Final Development Plan. A proposed use of a site that contains 

changes other than minor changes from the approved final development plan shall follow the 

procedure for application, submission and consideration of final development plans and an 



 12 

amending ordinance by the Board of Aldermen.  

3. Indication of Changes. All applications for amendment shall be accompanied by a narrative 

statement that describes the proposed changes to the site and site plans that indicate existing 

conditions and proposed changes to the approved plan sought by the applicant.  

C. Limited Development Plan Process. 

1. Applicability. The limited development plan process set forth in this Section shall be required 

when any of the following situations is proposed: 

a. Any alteration, expansion or modification to a site or the exterior of a structure located 

within a "C" Commercial District which is a listed as a planned use but does not require a 

development plan process review and approval under Subsection (A) of this Section; or  

b. Any change in use to another use which is a planned use in the "C" Commercial District 

provided that no development plan or limited development plan approval under this 

Section shall be required where the proposed activity is limited to a change in ownership 

or a change in tenant occupancy that does not involve a change in use.  

2. Limited Development Plan Submittal Requirements. Persons proposing any development or 

use which involves one (1) or more of the situations set forth in Subsection (B)(1)(a) of this 

Section shall initially file with the City Administrator/Clerk an application on forms provided 

by the City and accompanied by such application fees as the Board of Aldermen may prescribe 

from time to time by ordinance together with twelve (12) copies of a proposed limited 

development plan and support documentation which shall include the following information: 

a. A written detailed description of the proposed use of the property;  

b. A sketch plan of the site (may be hand drawn) showing approximate location of 

buildings, other structures and lot arrangements as well as any proposed landscaping or 

exterior improvements and proposed location and type of signage;  

c. The approximate gross floor area of existing and proposed use;  

d. A description of the expected parking needs;  

e. Details of any proposed improvements to the property;  

f. A description of the types of products to be sold or services to be provided;  

g. The proposed hours and days of operation;  

h. The maximum number of employees;  



 13 

i. The date on which the applicant proposes to begin the use;  

j. A description of any other existing uses and/or tenants on the property;  

k. A description of the uses of adjacent properties; and  

l. Any State or St. Louis County licensing requirements for the proposed use along with 

copies of all licenses obtained.  

3. Review Procedures. 

a. The application for limited development plan shall be referred to the Planning and 

Zoning Commission for review and study after which the Planning and Zoning 

Commission shall report to the Board of Aldermen recommendations regarding the 

application and the limited development plan. The Board of Aldermen and the Planning 

and Zoning Commission shall apply the minimum standards for site design and building 

construction set forth in this Article, the Master Development Plan, the Master 

Landscaping Plan, and the Urban Design Guidelines as a guide for review of proposed 

limited development plan applications. The Board of Aldermen may impose conditions or 

restrictions on a proposed limited development plan. In considering any proposed limited 

development plan application, the Commission and Board of Aldermen shall also 

consider the criteria stated below, to the extent pertinent to the particular application: 

(1) The use is compatible with and incorporates standards and principles contained in 

the minimum standards for site design and building construction set forth in this 

Article, the Master Development Plan, the Master Landscaping Plan, and the Urban 

Design Guidelines.  

(2) The use is designed, located, and proposed to be operated so that the public health, 

safety, and welfare will be protected.  

(3) The use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of 

the surrounding property nor impair the use and enjoyment or value of neighboring 

properties.  

(4) The site incorporates adequate ingress and egress and an internal street network that 

minimizes traffic congestion.  

(5) The capability of the existing site to accommodate the use, building, parking, and 

drives.  

(6) The effect of the proposed limited development plan on other tenants or users of the 

property.  

b. Approval of any limited development plan shall be by ordinance following conclusion of 



 14 

a public hearing thereon after giving notice of the time, place, and purpose of such 

hearing by publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the City 

at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the public hearing.  

4. Plan Recordation. Following the Board of Aldermen's approval by ordinance of a limited 

development plan, a copy of the limited development plan signed by the Mayor shall be filed 

by the applicant with the Recorder of Deeds of St. Louis County within sixty (60) days. All 

filing fees shall be paid by the person who filed the development plan application. The 

authorization for the use approved by the limited development plan shall not become effective 

until a copy of the recorded plan bearing its recordation notations shall be returned and placed 

on file with the City Administrator/Clerk.  

5. Abandonment. 

a. An approved limited development plan shall terminate and be deemed abandoned if: 

(1) The applicant or landowner shall fail to commence the use by failing to receive a 

building permit or occupancy permit within twelve (12) months after receiving 

limited development plan approval, or a longer period of time if an extension of the 

final development plan has been granted by the Board of Aldermen; or  

(2) The applicant or landowner abandons the site or the limited development plan and 

notifies the City in writing of the abandonment; or 

(3) The applicant, landowner or subsequent applicant/owner seeks to substantially 

change the project after limited development plan approval but fails to submit an 

application for a new application for Limited Development Plan as set forth in 

Section 400.340(C)(2) within sixty (60) days of the change or attempted change to 

the project, provided that the Board of Aldermen may extend this deadline up to 

sixty (60) days for good cause shown.  

b. Whenever a limited development plan has been abandoned as provided in this 

Subsection, no change in use shall take place on the property until a new limited 

development plan has been approved as provided in this Article.  

 



Article VIII  

"D" Park District Regulations  

Section 400.350 Use Regulations.  

[R.O. 2016 § 400.330; R.O. 2011 § 400.330; Ord. No. 129 § 19, 10-15-2003]  

A. The following are permitted uses within a "D" Park District: 

1. Municipally owned or operated parks and playgrounds.  

2. Park pavilions.  

3. Greenbelt walkways, bike paths, nature trails and pedestrian footbridges.  

4. Tennis courts.  

5. Fountains, ponds, or public swimming pools.  

6. Ornamental or decorative walls and fences.  

7. Municipal storage facilities.  

8. Temporary buildings for uses incidental to construction, provided that no such building 

shall be located within a required yard or within twenty-five (25) feet of any lot line and 

no trees shall be removed for the placement of such temporary building. The temporary 

building shall be removed upon the earlier occurring of one (1) year from initial 

placement of the temporary building or upon the completion or abandonment of the work, 

unless express written permission to continue the location of such temporary building is 

granted by the Board of Aldermen upon good cause shown.  

B. The following are conditional uses within a "D" Park District and may, after public hearing and 

making required findings, be approved by conditional use permit under provisions of Section 

400.430: 

1. Towers and support structures in accordance with requirements of Section 400.440.  

2. Accessory uses to approved towers and support structures.  

Section 400.360 Site Design Requirements.  

A. The following are site design requirements in a "D" Park District: 

1. The effect of prevailing winds, seasonal temperatures, daily hours of sunlight, existing 

vegetation and scenic vistas shall be considered in designing and siting buildings and 

amenities.  

2. Buildings and amenities shall be located to promote pedestrian and visual access to open 

space.  

3. No building or structure shall be located less than fifty (50) feet from an "A" Single-

Family Dwelling District nor from a "B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District.  



4. Residential "interior City" light standards shall be provided in accordance with City 

specifications. All lighting shall be designed and located so that no light is cast directly on 

adjoining residential lots or premises.  

5. Natural features, such as scenic views, woodlands, trees, major vegetation areas, streams, 

and watercourses, shall be preserved wherever possible. Location of existing trees having 

a diameter of six (6) inches or more as measured at a height of four (4) feet above original 

grade shall be a factor in locating buildings, utilities, streets, paved areas and finished 

grades to provide that such trees are preserved to the maximum extent possible.  

6. All development activities shall minimize earthmoving and erosion. Where earthwork is 

required, erosion prevention and control measures, such as installation of silt catchment 

basins together with seeding, sodding, and mulching, shall be instituted.  

7. All utilities shall be installed underground.  

Section 400.370 Application and Approval Procedures.  

A. The owner, lessor, or developer, other than the City of Twin Oaks, of any lot located within 

and which meets the requirements of a "D" Park District, prior to the erection, conversion, 

enlargement, reconstruction, or structural alteration of any principal building on or change of 

principal use of such lot, shall file with the Board of Aldermen an application for site 

development plan approval. The application shall be submitted on forms provided by the City 

and shall include a site development plan prepared by a licensed professional architect, 

engineer or land surveyor together containing support information satisfying the following 

requirements: 

1. The name of the owner or developer and of the professional architect, engineer, planner, 

or land surveyor responsible for the preparation of the proposed site development plan.  

2. Existing and proposed site grades identifying all grade changes and areas of cut and fill at 

a minimum contour interval of two (2) feet or one (1) foot in areas where average slopes 

are three percent (3%) or less.  

3. Existing landscape and natural features plan identifying specific location of all 

woodlands, trees, major vegetation areas, streams, watercourses and other natural 

resources and features and delineating specific provisions to be taken to preserve or to 

minimize impact on these natural features.  

4. All existing and proposed uses and buildings.  

5. Sidewalks and walkways.  

6. Driveways, existing and proposed curb cuts, vehicle travel lanes and parking areas.  

7. Means for the provision of water, sanitary sewerage and storm drainage facilities, electric 

and natural gas services, and telephone and telecommunications including cable facilities, 

if and as applicable.  

8. Existing and proposed easements and dedications.  



9. Building plans and elevations depicting exterior materials and treatments; height, bulk, 

and locational relationships.  

10. Other information which the Planning and Zoning Commission or the Board of Aldermen 

may designate.  

B. Upon the filing of a complete application for site development plan approval with the Board of 

Aldermen, the City Clerk, after providing copies of the application to the Board of Aldermen, 

shall refer the application and support documentation to the Planning and Zoning Commission 

for review, study, and report. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the 

application report to the Board of Aldermen the Planning and Zoning Commission's 

recommendations for approval, disapproval, or modification of the proposed site development 

plan.  

C. Upon receipt of the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the Board of 

Aldermen may in writing approve, disapprove, or modify the site development plan. The 

Board of Aldermen shall promptly transmit a copy of the final action on the proposed site 

development plan to the applicable Code Enforcement Official(s).  

D. Proposed construction or change of principal use approved pursuant to this Section shall 

commence within six (6) months of the date of approval by the Board of Aldermen of the site 

development plan and application or the site development plan approval shall lapse and be 

void.  

E. No building permit to erect, convert, enlarge, reconstruct, or structurally alter any principal 

building and no approval to change a principal use shall issue until the Board of Aldermen has 

approved a site development plan in accordance with this Section; provided that nothing in this 

Section shall be construed to prohibit issuance of a grading permit approved by the Board of 

Aldermen for such grading and site work as may be required to prepare a lot for improvement 

or development.  

 



Article IX  

"PD" Planned Development District  

Section 400.380 District Regulations.  

A. Intent and Purpose. 

1. The purpose of the Planned Development District is to provide a means of achieving 

greater flexibility in residential and commercial development of land in a manner not 

possible in conventional zones; to encourage a more imaginative and innovative design 

of projects; to promote a more desirable community environment; and to retain 

maximum control over both the structure and future operation of the development.  

2. The Board of Aldermen, upon receiving recommendations of the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, may by ordinance authorize a Planned Development District when the 

proposed development or use of a specific tract of land or area warrants greater 

flexibility, control and density than is afforded under the general regulations of 

standard zoning districts. These planned development regulations are not intended to 

allow excessive densities or the development of incompatible land uses, either within 

the development or as the development relates to the general neighborhood.  

3. The City may, upon proper application, approve a planned development for a site of at 

least two (2) acres to facilitate the use of flexible techniques of land development and 

site design by providing relief from zoning requirements designed for conventional 

developments in order to obtain one (1) or more of the following objectives: 

a. Environmental design in the development of land that is of a higher quality than is 

possible under the regulations otherwise applicable to the property.  

b. Diversification in the uses permitted and variation in the relationship of uses, 

structures, open space, and height of structures in developments intended as 

cohesive, unified projects.  

c. Functional and beneficial uses of open space areas.  

d. Preservation of natural features of a development site.  

e. Creation of a safe and desirable living environment for residential areas 

characterized by a unified building and site development program.  

f. Rational and economic development in relation to public services.  

g. Efficient and effective traffic circulation, both within and adjacent to the 

development site.  

B. Relationship of Planned Development Districts to Zoning Map. 

1. A Mapped District. The "PD" designation is intended to be attached to existing use 

districts as an overlay.  



2. Plan Approval Required. Although the "PD" designation may be applied to parcels of 

land as a mapped zoning district, it is the intent of this Chapter that no development or 

redevelopment of the property encompassed by the "PD" designation take place until 

an acceptable development plan has been reviewed and approved in conformance with 

the requirements of this Section. Any pre-existing uses within the area encompassed by 

the "PD" designation shall have the status of non-conforming uses, until such time as 

they are included in an approved development plan.  

3. Overall Development Site Size. In addition to the requirements as outlined above for 

individual uses within a Planned Development District, the minimum overall site size 

required for such planned development as a whole shall be two (2) acres.  

4. Types of Planned Developments. 

a. All areas of the City subject to the "PD" designation shall be assigned one (1) of the 

following subclassifications which shall be considered a separate use district and 

subject to the specific restrictions and limitations outlined in this Section. 

(1) Planned Residential Development ("PD-R"): Planned developments involving 

residential uses only.  

(2) Planned Commercial Development ("PD-C"): Planned developments involving 

commercial uses only.  

(3) Mixed Use Developments ("PD-MxD"): Planned developments involving a 

mixture of residential and non-residential uses.  

(4) Planned Development — Light Manufacturing (PD-RxM): Planned 

developments involving light manufacturing uses related to medical marijuana 

production, cultivations, testing or transportation. Uses permitted as planned 

use in a PD-RxM District are medical marijuana cultivation, medical 

marijuana-infused products manufacturing, medical marijuana testing, or 

medical marijuana transportation only.   

b. These subclassifications may be designated by the City at the time of the original 

zoning of the parcel in question or the City may make the designation at the time of 

development plan application. In the instance of a request for zoning map 

amendment, the applicant shall request a specific subclassification; however, it shall 

be at the discretion of the Board of Aldermen, in light of the recommendations of the 

Planning and Zoning Commission as well as the surrounding neighborhood, to grant 

the requested subclassification or require a more restrictive one.  

C. Permitted Uses. The listing of permitted uses within each "PD" subclassification listed in 

Sections 400.130, 400.190 and 400.280, Use Regulations. If not listed, a conditional use 

application must be submitted to the City.  

D. Procedures for Planned Development Approval. 

1. Pre-Application Procedure. Prior to filing an application for planned development 



approval, the prospective applicant shall request a pre-application conference with the 

City's planning staff. Such request shall include a brief and general narrative 

description of the nature, location and extent of the proposed planned development and 

a list of any professional consultants advising the prospective applicant with respect to 

the proposed planned development. Upon receipt of such request, the City planning 

staff shall promptly schedule a conference.  

2. Preliminary Development and Final Development Plan Process. Applications shall be 

submitted to the City office with a request for a zoning district change to Planned 

Development District. Thereafter, such applications shall follow the process for 

development plans under Section 400.340(A). The applicant may be required to 

provide, at applicant's expense, additional clarification and/or further detail of the 

preliminary plan as deemed necessary by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  

E. Area Regulations and Performance Standards. The area regulations and performance 

standards applicable to the individual uses within each planned development by designated 

subclassification shall be as follows: 

1. Subclassification Requirements.   

District Subclassification Requirement 

Planned Residential Development Same as those in §§ 400.150 and 400.210 

Planned Commercial Development Same as those in § 400.310 

Planned Mixed Use Development Those set out in the above-referenced Sections as 

applicable to the individual uses contemplated by the 

plan 

Planned Development — RxM Same as those in Sections 400.295, 

400.310, 400.340 and 400.385. 

2. Modifications. 

a. The approval of the preliminary development plan may provide for such exceptions 

from the regulations of the underlying zoning district as may be necessary or desirable 

to achieve the objectives of the proposed planned development, provided such 

exceptions are consistent with the standards and criteria contained in this Section and 

have been specifically requested in the application for a planned development and, 

further, that no modification of the above-referenced regulations would be allowed 

when such proposed modification would result in: 

(1) Inadequate or unsafe access to the planned development;  

(2) Traffic volumes exceeding the anticipated capacity of the proposed major street 

network in the vicinity;  

(3) An undue burden on public parks, recreation areas, schools, fire and Police 

protection and other public facilities which serve or are proposed to serve the 



planned development;  

(4) A development which will be incompatible with the proposes of this Chapter;  

(5) Detrimental impact on the surrounding area but not limited to visual pollution.  

b. The burden of proof that the criteria above are not being violated shall rest with the 

developer and not the staff, Board of Aldermen or the Planning and Zoning 

Commission.  

c. When existing regulations as referred to in this Section are deemed inadequate or 

unresponsive to the needs of the Planned Development District, reference may also be 

had to the City's Urban Design Guidelines as set forth in Appendix A to this Chapter.  

Section 400.385 PD-RxM District Regulations.  

A. Intent. Because of the City's relatively small size and lack of appropriate land for the use, 

the City's Zoning Regulations, Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Map do not identify light 

manufacturing land uses as permitted. Additionally, while the City has not identified any 

specific areas in which manufacturing uses are permitted as of right, because the Missouri 

Constitution was recently amended to state that, "No local government shall prohibit 

medical marijuana cultivation facilities, medical marijuana testing facilities, medical 

marijuana-infused products manufacturing facilities, or medical marijuana dispensary 

facilities, or entities with a transportation certification either expressly or through the 

enactment of ordinances or regulations that make their operation unduly burdensome," 

[Article XIV, Section 1.7(11)], the City is creating the PD-RxM District. The PD-RxM 

District is intended to create a process for high quality light industrial/manufacturing 

developments that are not of density and intensity that will disturb the quiet enjoyment of 

the residential neighborhoods and retail commercial establishments, will not contribute to 

traffic congestion on Big Bend Road or Meramec Station Road, and will be of an intensity, 

location, and nature so as to be compatible with its surroundings and the City's 

comprehensive plan.  

B. Planned Uses. Any proposed PD-RxM District must follow the site development plan 

review procedure set forth in Section 400.340 and all requirements of Section 400.380, and 

shall only be permitted for one of the following "non-retail medical marijuana" uses: 

1. Medical marijuana cultivation facilities;  

2. Medical marijuana-infused products manufacturing facilities;  

3. Medical marijuana testing facilities; or  

4. Medical marijuana transportation facilities.  

C. Development Standards. Any use in this District shall meet the following standards: 

1. State License Required. All non-retail medical marijuana facilities must have the 

appropriate license and any other required authorization to operate the non-retail 

medical marijuana facility from the Missouri Department of Health and Senior 



Services to operate in the City. Applicant may seek zoning approval prior to being 

granted a State license, but no final approval shall be given until such State-issued 

license has been obtained and satisfactory proof of such licensure has been provided to 

the City. Continued operation in the City shall always require such licensure to remain 

valid.  

2. Outdoor Operations or Storage. All operations and all storage of materials, products, or 

equipment shall be within a fully secured area inside the building structure or outdoors 

on the property in an area enclosed by a fence which has been approved through the 

development plan process in Section 400.340.  

3. On-Site Usage Prohibited. No marijuana may be smoked, ingested, or otherwise 

consumed or administered on the premises of any non-retail medical marijuana facility 

except, in a medical marijuana testing facility when being administered for testing 

purposes authorized by the State of Missouri Department of Health and Senior 

Services.  

4. Odor Control and Nuisance. All non-retail medical marijuana facilities shall have and 

maintain an odor control system at least as stringent as that which is required by State 

regulations and shall at all times operate in compliance with Chapter 215, Nuisances, 

of the City Code.  

5. Hours of Operation. All non-retail medical marijuana facilities shall be closed to the 

public between the hours of 10:00 P.M. and 8:00 A.M. No persons not employed by 

the business shall be on the premises at any time without being approved entry, logged 

in by building security personnel and obtaining and displaying a visitor pass.  

6. Security. All non-retail medical marijuana facilities shall be secured and closed to the 

public between the hours listed in this Subsection and no persons not employed by the 

non-retail medical marijuana facility may be present in such facility at any time closed 

to the public. All non-retail medical marijuana facilities shall have and maintain 

security systems, equipment, and procedures at least as stringent as those which are 

required by State regulations.  

7. Display of Licenses Required. All medical marijuana uses shall display their license 

issued by the State of Missouri and any and all licenses issued by the City in a 

prominent place in plain view near the front entrance of the facility as required by 

State regulations.  

8. Accreditation, Standards, And Procedures — Testing Facilities. Every medical 

marijuana testing facility shall, at all times, maintain in good standing their 

accreditation as required by State regulations, and utilize standards and procedures for 

personnel and for testing medical marijuana in all forms which are at least as stringent 

as those required by State regulations.  

9. Additional Requirements. All non-retail medical marijuana facilities shall comply with 

all generally applicable provisions of the Zoning Code of the City of Twin Oaks, all 

provisions of Article XIV, Section 1 of the Missouri Constitution, as well as any and 

all rules and regulations promulgated by the Department of Health and Senior Services 



for the State of Missouri regulating medical marijuana, including but not limited to 

security requirements, lighting, parking, record maintenance and retention, and patient 

verification requirements.  

10. Buffer Strip. A buffer strip of not less than one hundred (100) feet in width shall be 

provided along any perimeter of a commercial development which adjoins an "A" 

Single-Family Dwelling District, a "B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District or a 

"D" Park District (or equivalent District in an adjoining jurisdiction), except where 

abutting a public street. No drive, walkway, parking space or vehicular travel way shall 

occupy any portion of the buffer strip, provided that the Board of Aldermen may 

require that the buffer strip be supplemented with additional plantings, landscaping and 

fencing.  

11. Parking and Loading. Off-street parking and loading standards must meet or exceed St. 

Louis County's requirements for these uses.  

12. Warehousing. No building or premises occupied and used for any of the permitted 

principal uses identified in Section 400.280 of this Chapter shall have more than forty 

percent (40%) of its floor area devoted to storage or uses incidental to such permitted 

principal use nor more than five (5) persons employed at any time in such incidental 

use.  

13. Height Regulations. A building or structure shall not exceed thirty-five (35) feet in 

height. Chimneys, rooftop mechanical appurtenances and other purely ornamental or 

mechanical accessories shall not be considered for purposes of determining height.  

14. Area Regulations. The minimum area of yards and the minimum lot area shall be as 

follows: 

a. Rear Yard. No main building or detached garage shall be erected or structurally 

altered except that it shall be at least fifty (50) feet from the rear of the lot line. An 

accessory building hereafter erected or structurally altered shall be not less than 

thirty (30) feet from the rear lot line.  

b. Side Yard. No building or structure shall be erected or altered within thirty (30) feet 

of the side lot line. Where the side yard is along a street, no building or structure 

shall be erected or altered within fifty (50) feet of the side lot line.  

c. Front Yard. There shall be a distance of not less than sixty-five (65) feet from the 

front line of the building to the center line of any highway or other road passing 

along the "PD-RxM" District.  

d. Frontage and Lot Area. Any lot within the "PD-RxM" District shall have at least 

three hundred (300) feet frontage on Big Bend or Meramec Station Road, consist of 

at least one and one-half (1.5) acres, and a minimum lot width of three hundred 

(300) feet.  

e. Maximum Impervious Coverage. No building footprint shall exceed more than fifty 

percent (50%) of the lot area nor shall the total of impervious surface for any lot 



exceed seventy percent (70%) of the lot area.  

15. Minimum Standards. Section 400.330 shall be used for the minimum standards for site 

design and building construction, reconstruction or use within a PD-RxM area.  

16. Screening. Screening of HVAC units, odor control systems, ventilation systems and 

solid waste (trash) containers, heating, ventilating, air-conditioning and/or odor control 

units shall be fully screened from public view by an element of the building or by a 

separate, permanently installed screen or fence, extending a minimum of one (1) foot 

above the equipment, harmonizing with the building in material color, size and shape. 

Refuse containers or refuse storage areas shall be hidden from public view, either from 

within or outside the premises, by means of fences, walls or landscaped planting 

harmonizing with the building in color, size and shape.  

 



 1 

Article X  

Off-Street Parking Regulations  

Section 400.390 Residential Parking Requirements.  

A. The requirements for residential parking in the A and B Zoning Districts shall be as follows: 

1. Surface Requirements; Parking only on Paved Surface. Driveways may be constructed of 

either hard or porous surfaced materials, provided construction materials comply with 

building codes and the following:  

a. Driveways and driveway approaches, including replacement or widening of an 

existing driveway,  will be installed with like material creating a uniform appearance 

consisting of either hard surface or porous surface or a combination of both.  

2. Curb cuts and Driveway Approaches  

a. Permit Required. Anyone desiring to hard surface any portion of public right-of-way 

for a driveway approach shall first apply for a permit for such purpose. No permit 

shall be granted to hard surface or porous surface any portion of the public right-of-

way except for a curb cut for a driveway approach (driveway apron) for such 

residence.   

b. Radius. Curb cuts shall be designated at a radius to facilitate water and debris flow.  

c. Curb Cuts; Circular Drives; Maximum Width. No lot containing a single-family or 

multi-family dwelling shall have more than one driveway curb cut (or, driveway 

approach) and which curbcut shall not exceed twenty-five (25) feet in width; except 

that such lots may have two (2) curb cuts as part of a circular driveway provided that 

new curb cuts installed for a circular driveway shall not exceed thirteen (13) feet in 

width and further provided the two curb cuts are separated by more than 50 feet as 

measured from the inner edges of the circular drive curb cuts. Lots with circular 

driveways (i.e., two curb cuts) in place as of November 17, 2010, shall be considered 

legal non-conforming uses. 

d. Corner Lots. On corner lots, no curb cut shall be located or approved within thirty 

(30) feet of an intersection, as measured from the point where the extended curb lines 

of the streets intersect. 

e. Sidewalks. Whenever a driveway approach intersects a public sidewalk, such 

driveway approach should comply with current ADA requirements. 



 2 

3. Additional Parking Requirements in the A & B Districts: 

a. Unlicensed and/or inoperable vehicles or trailers shall be parked or stored only within 

an enclosed structure in accordance with Section 217.030 of the Twin Oaks 

Municipal Code.  

b. The total number of recreational vehicles and off-road vehicles parked on a lot shall 

not exceed two (2)  if not stored under roof,  and such vehicles if parked outdoors, 

must be parked on a driveway behind the front elevation line. See Section 

400.390(B).  

c. Prohibited Parking. The following are prohibited in the A & B Districts: 

1) No vehicle may be parked except on a driveway.  

2) The following are not permitted to be parked in the A & B Districts: 

i. Heavy-duty commercial vehicles; 

ii. Any vehicle, excluding recreational vehicles, with a gross vehicle weight 

rating (GVWR) of fourteen thousand (14,000) pounds or more. Exception: Any 

type of commercial vehicle, regardless of GVWR, delivering or picking up 

merchandise for delivery or employed in performing a repair or construction 

service may park for the purpose of making such pickup, delivery or repair; 

iii. Vehicles or trailers with a length in excess of twenty-seven (27) feet. 

3) Recreational vehicles, off-road vehicles, trailers, pickup camper bodies, trucks 

having a GWVR exceeding twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, buses, and boats 

shall not be parked or stored in any portion of a front yard.  

4) No recreational vehicle, trailer, pickup camper body, truck, bus, boat, or other 

vehicle shall be occupied for living, sleeping, or housekeeping purposes in any 

zoning district. 

B. Driveway Setback, Lot Line and Construction Requirements; “A” Single Family District. 

1. Setbacks: 

a. No new driveway constructed for a single-family or multi-family dwelling shall be 

located closer to the lot line than the setbacks set forth in the table below:  



 3 

 Lot Size (square feet) and street frontage 

of > 50 feet* 

Side Yard Setback (feet) 

 Up to 10,980 1 

 10,981 to 21,780 3 

 21,781 to 43,560 6 

 Greater than 43,560 10 

*Street frontage of 50 feet or Less: Notwithstanding the above and regardless of lot 

size, where a lot’s street frontage is less than fifty feet, the side yard setback shall be a 

minimum of one (1) foot.  

b. An existing driveway constructed within the setbacks set forth above may be 

repaired, replaced or expanded so long as the expansion does not create a greater 

encroachment into the setbacks as currently exists. 

c. In no case shall any part of a driveway cross the lot line. 

d. No new driveway shall extend beyond the rear elevation line of the dwelling unless 

connected to a detached garage. 

2. Driveways; lot coverage: There shall be only one (1) driveway per lot. Driveways shall not 

occupy more than thirty-five percent (35%) of any front yard area. 

3. Gravel Driveways. No new driveway may be constructed of rock or gravel.  

a. Existing gravel driveways and parking areas consisting of gravel, which existed on 

November 17, 2010, may, upon approved permit, continue to be repaired and 

maintained until replacement is necessary.  

b. All driveways and driveway approaches must be replaced with complying paving 

materials at the time of improvement.  

Section 400.400 Non-Residential Parking Requirements.  

A. The requirements for non-residential parking shall be as follows: 

City of Twin Oaks Parking Table- Commercial Districts 

Use Minimum Parking Requirements 



 4 

Medical and dental offices and clinics One (1) parking space for each two hundred (200) square 

feet of floor area of a principal building 

Places of public assembly 

including movie theater, auditorium, 

church, school, club, wedding chapel 

One (1) parking space for every five (5) seats provided 

Retail, commercial or service 

buildings  

(floor area of one thousand (1,000) square 

feet or more) 

One (1) parking space for every two hundred (200) square 

feet of floor area on the first floor and for every seven 

hundred fifty (750) square feet of floor area above the first 

floor;  

• If the basement is used for any purpose other than 

storage, utilities or maintenance areas, the portion of 

the basement area so used shall require one (1) 

parking space for every seven hundred fifty (750) 

square feet of floor area so used 

Restaurants One (1) parking space for every two hundred (200) square 

feet of floor area plus the greater of one (1) parking space 

for each two (2) employees working on the highest 

employment shift or five (5) parking spaces 

All other uses One (1) parking space for every three hundred (300) square 

feet of floor area on the first floor of the principal building 

plus the greater of one (1) parking space for every seven 

hundred fifty (750) square feet of floor area above the first 

floor, or one (1) parking space for every two (2) employees 

working on the highest employment shift 

Parking areas required for all non-residential uses shall be located not more than five hundred 

(500) feet from the principal building served. 

 

Section 400.410 Permit Required/Enforcement.  

A. Anyone desiring to construct, reconstruct, relocate, modify, re-gravel, refurbish or expand any paved 

surface covered under this Article shall be required to apply to the City for a permit for such purpose 

pursuant to Section 515.070 (Article II, Public Utility Excavation Or Other Work Within Public 

Right-Of-Way Excavations and Public Rights-Of-Way Management), Section 515.170 (Article III, 

Private Property Site Work), or Section 407.020 (Land Disturbance Code), as applicable.   

B. The Building Commissioner or delegee shall be charged with the responsibility for enforcing this 

Article, to include the promulgation of regulations necessary to its implementation.  



Section 400.420 Conditional Uses.  

A. The Board of Aldermen may, after public hearing and making required findings, by conditional

use permit authorize the location of any of the following buildings or uses in the zoning districts

specified in this Section:

1. Any public building not owned or operated by the City of Twin Oaks located in any zoning

district.

2. Community building or recreation field not owned or operated by the City of Twin Oaks

located in any zoning district.

3. Nurseries and greenhouses in any zoning district, provided that all principal buildings and

accessory buildings shall not be located less than one hundred (100) feet from a lot line.

4. Medical marijuana dispensary in the "C" District where the operation meets the spacing

requirements of Section 400.295 and meets the standards contained in Section 400.420(B).

5. Outdoor seating at a restaurant or outdoor storage of products or merchandise at any

business in the "C" District.

B. Specific Conditions for Medical Marijuana Dispensaries. Any grant of a conditional use permit

under this Section for a medical marijuana dispensary shall include the following conditions for

approval:

1. State License Required. All medical marijuana dispensaries must have the appropriate

license and any other required authorization to operate the medical marijuana dispensary

from the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services to operate in the City.

Applicant may seek zoning approval prior to being granted a State license, but no final

approval shall be given until such State-issued license has been obtained and satisfactory

proof of such licensure has been provided to the City. Continued operation in the City shall

always require such licensure to remain valid.

2. Outdoor Operations or Storage. No outdoor operations or storage shall be allowed.

3. Odor Control and Nuisance. Every medical marijuana dispensary shall have and maintain an

odor control system at least as stringent as that which is required by State regulations and

shall at all times operate in compliance with Chapter 215, Nuisances, of the City Code.

4. On-Site Usage Prohibited. No marijuana may be smoked, ingested, or otherwise consumed

or administered on the premises of any medical marijuana dispensary facility.

5. Hours of Operation. All sales or distribution of medical marijuana and any other products

sold to the public through a medical marijuana dispensary shall take place between the hours

of 9:00 A.M. and 9:00 P.M. Monday-Friday, from 9:00 A.M. and 6:00 P.M. Saturday, and

Article XI Conditional Uses



from 10:00 A.M. and 6:00 P.M. Sunday.  

6. Security. Medical marijuana dispensaries shall be secured and closed to the public after the 

hours listed in this Subsection (B) and no persons not employed by the medical marijuana 

dispensary may be present in such facility at any time closed to the public. Medical 

marijuana dispensaries shall have and maintain security systems, equipment, and procedures 

at least as stringent as those which are required by State regulations.  

7. Display of Licenses Required. The medical marijuana dispensary facility license issued by 

the State of Missouri and any and all licenses issued by the City of Twin Oaks shall be 

displayed in a prominent place in plain view near the front entrance of the facility as 

required by State regulations.  

8. Development Plan or Limited Development Plan Required. No medical marijuana 

dispensary shall be allowed unless the applicant submits and has approved a development 

plan or limited development plan pursuant to Section 400.340 as determined by the nature of 

the application and the terms of Section 400.340.  

9. Additional Requirements. All medical marijuana dispensary facilities shall comply with all 

generally applicable provisions of the Zoning Code of the City of Twin Oaks, all provisions 

of Article XIV, Section 1 of the Missouri Constitution, as well as any and all rules and 

regulations promulgated by the Department of Health and Senior Services for the State of 

Missouri regulating medical marijuana, including but not limited to security requirements, 

lighting, parking, record maintenance and retention and patient verification requirements.  

Section 400.430 Application and Approval Procedures.  

A. Applications for a conditional use permit shall be made to the Board of Aldermen on forms 

provided by the City together with a site development plan and descriptive material sufficient to 

describe the intensity and extent of the proposed conditional use. Within thirty (30) days of 

receipt of an application for conditional use permit, the Code Enforcement Official shall 

determine the sufficiency of the site development plan and descriptive material and, if determined 

to be insufficient, the Code Enforcement Official shall provide written guidance to the applicant 

identifying materials and information necessary to render the application sufficient for review.  

B. Upon the filing of a complete application for conditional use permit with the Board of Aldermen, 

the City Clerk, after providing copies of the application to the Board of Aldermen, shall refer the 

application and support documentation to the Planning and Zoning Commission for review, study 

and report with specific reference to resulting traffic hazards or congestion, fire hazards, effect on 

the character of the neighborhood, effect on the general welfare of the community and impact on 

public utility facilities. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the application and 

shall report to the Board of Aldermen the Planning and Zoning Commission's recommendations 

for approval, disapproval or modification of the proposed conditional use and site development 

plan.  



C. Upon receipt of the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission, or if no 

recommendation is received, upon the expiration of the sixty-day review period, the Board of 

Aldermen shall schedule and conduct a public hearing on the proposed conditional use and site 

development plan after having given notice of time, place and purpose of the hearing by 

publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation within the City which publication 

shall appear at least fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the hearing. The Board of Aldermen may 

continue the hearing from time to time without further publication upon designation at the hearing 

of the time and place of the continuation and notation of such continuation in the minutes of the 

Board of Aldermen.  

D. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the Board of Aldermen shall determine whether the proposed 

conditional use and site development plan will: substantially increase traffic hazards or 

congestion; substantially increase fire hazard; adversely affect the character of the neighborhood; 

adversely affect the general welfare of the community; overtax or adversely impact public 

utilities. If the findings of the Board of Aldermen are negative as to all of the above subjects, the 

Board of Aldermen shall approve by ordinance the conditional use permit together with such site, 

use and operational conditions as may be imposed and specified. If the findings of the Board of 

Aldermen are affirmative as to any of the above subjects, the Board of Aldermen shall disapprove 

the conditional use.  

E. Proposed construction or development of a conditional use approved pursuant to this Section shall 

commence within one (1) year of the date of approval by the Board of Aldermen of the 

conditional use and site development plan or the approval shall lapse and be void.  

F. Any approved conditional use shall continue to be used and operated in accordance with any 

conditions imposed at the time of approval, provided that the holder of a conditional use permit 

may apply for modifications of the conditions in accordance with the procedures provided for an 

original conditional use permit application.  

 



Article XII  

Telecommunications Towers  

Section 400.440 Telecommunication Towers.  

[R.O. 2016 § 400.400; R.O. 2011 § 400.400; Ord. No. 129 § 20, 10-15-2003; Ord. No. 161 § 1, 

10-20-2004; Ord. No. 374 § 5, 10-3-2012; Ord. No. 19-05, 3-20-2019]  

A. Purpose. The purpose of this Section is to regulate the placement, construction, and 

modification of wireless communications facilities to protect the health, safety, and welfare 

of the public, while at the same time not unreasonably interfering with the development of 

the competitive wireless telecommunications marketplace in the City. Specifically, this 

Section is intended to: 

1. Provide for the appropriate location and development of wireless communications facilities 

and systems to serve the citizens and businesses of the City;  

2. Minimize adverse visual impacts of wireless communications facilities through careful 

design, siting, landscape screening, and innovative camouflaging techniques that provide 

predictability for nearby property owners and others that future uses will not materially alter 

such approved aesthetic protections without zoning hearing procedures and input from 

interested parties to the extent possible;  

3. Ensure that any new wireless communications facilities are located in an area compatible 

with the neighborhood or surrounding community to the extent possible; and  

4. Ensure that regulation of wireless communications facilities do not have the effect of 

prohibiting the provision of personal wireless services, do not unreasonably discriminate 

among functionally equivalent providers of such service, and promotes the provision and 

availability of communication services within the City.  

B. Legislative Findings And Applicability. 

1. The Telecommunications Act of 1996, as amended, and the Uniform Small Wireless 

Facility Deployment Act, Section 67.5110 et seq., RSMo., preserve the authority of the City 

to regulate the placement, construction, and modification of certain wireless 

communications facilities and to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public.  

2. The City has been granted the authority to enact legislation to regulate the construction, 

placement, and operation of wireless communications facilities pursuant to zoning powers 

established in Chapter 89, RSMo., as amended, and additionally pursuant to the general and 

specific police powers established by Statute authorizing the regulations herein to protect 

the public health, safety, and welfare.  



3. The FCC has exclusive jurisdiction over: 

a. The regulation of the environmental effects of radio frequency emissions from 

telecommunication facilities; and  

b. The regulation of radio signal interference among users of the radio frequency spectrum.  

4. Consistent with the Telecommunications Act of 1996, the regulations of this Section will 

not have the effect of prohibiting the provision of personal wireless services and do not 

unreasonably discriminate among functionally equivalent providers of such service. The 

regulations also impose reasonable restrictions to protect the public safety and welfare and 

ensure opportunities for placement of antenna with prompt approval by the City. This 

Section does not attempt to regulate in areas within the exclusive jurisdiction of the FCC.  

5. Notwithstanding any ordinance to the contrary, the procedures set forth in this Section shall 

be applicable to all wireless communications facilities existing or installed, built or 

modified after the effective date of this Section to the fullest extent permitted by law. No 

provision of this Section shall apply to any circumstance in which such application shall be 

unlawful under superseding Federal or State law, and furthermore, if any Section, 

Subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Section is now or in the future 

superseded or preempted by State or Federal law or found by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be unauthorized, such provision shall be automatically interpreted and 

applied as required by law.  

C. Definitions. As used in this Section, the following terms shall have the meanings and usages 

indicated: 

AGL (ABOVE GROUND LEVEL)  

Ground level shall be determined by the average elevation of the natural ground level within 

a radius of fifty (50) feet from the center location of measurement. 

ANTENNA  

Any device that transmits and/or receives radio waves for voice, data or video 

communications purposes, including, but not limited to, television, AM/FM radio, texts, 

microwave, cellular telephone, and similar forms of communications. The term shall 

exclude satellite earth station antenna less than two (2) meters in diameter [mounted within 

twelve (12) feet of the ground or building mounted] and any receive-only home television 

antenna. 

CABINET  

A structure for the protection and security of communications equipment associated with 



one (1) or more antenna where direct access to equipment is provided from the exterior, and 

that has horizontal dimensions that do not exceed four (4) feet by six (6) feet and height that 

does not exceed six (6) feet. 

DIRECTOR  

The Code Enforcement Official or his/her designee or official acting in such capacity. 

DISGUISED SUPPORT STRUCTURE  

Any freestanding, manmade structure designed for the support of antenna, the presence of 

which is camouflaged or concealed as an appropriately-placed architectural or natural 

feature. Depending on the location and type of disguise used, such concealment may require 

placement underground of the utilities leading to the disguised support structure. Such 

disguised support structures may include, but are not limited to, clock towers, campaniles, 

observation towers, light standards, flagpoles, and artificial trees. For purposes of this 

definition, a structure "camouflaged or concealed as an appropriately-placed and designed 

architectural or natural feature" shall mean: 

a. It is consistent with and contributes to and does not detract from the character and property 

values and use of the area and neighborhood in which it is located;  

b. It does not contain distorted proportions, size, or other features not typically found on the 

type of structure or feature to which it is designed to replicate;  

c. It cannot be identified as a support structure by persons with reasonable sensibilities and 

knowledge;  

d. Its equipment, accessory buildings, or other aspects or attachments relating to the disguised 

support structure are wholly concealed using a manner consistent with and typically 

associated with the architectural or natural structure or feature being replicated; and  

e. It is of a height, design, and type that would ordinarily occur at the location and 

neighborhood selected.  

EXISTING STRUCTURE  

Any structure capable of supporting wireless communications facilities (other than a 

support structure) in full conformance with the design and other requirements of this 

Section and exists prior to the date of all applicable permit applications seeking City 

authorization for installation of such facilities thereon, and is not built or installed in 

anticipation of such specific installation or erected as a means to evade approvals applicable 

to a non-existing structure. 



FAA  

The Federal Aviation Administration. 

FAST-TRACK SMALL WIRELESS FACILITY or FAST-TRACK  

A small wireless facility that meets the following requirements for an antenna and 

associated equipment: 

a. No more than seven (7) cubic feet in volume [comprised of no more than twenty-seven (27) 

square feet of exterior surface area, excluding the surface width equal to the width of the 

existing structure or utility pole to which it is mounted, on an imaginary enclosure around 

the perimeter thereof, excluding cable or cable conduit of four (4) inches or less]. Volume 

shall be the measure of the exterior displacement of the antenna and associated equipment;  

b. Located with the consent of the owner on an existing structure or utility pole, or concealed 

within or on a replacement utility pole if the appearance is not materially altered and the 

replacement existing structure or utility pole is no more than five (5) feet taller;  

c. Not exceeding six (6) feet above the top of an existing structure or utility pole for a total 

height not exceeding forty-five (45) feet [nor taller than more than six (6) feet above the 

average of similar poles within three hundred (300) feet].  

FCC  

The Federal Communications Commission. 

INCIDENTAL USE  

Any use authorized herein that exists in addition to the principal use of the property. 

MODIFICATION  

Any addition, deletion, or change, including the addition or replacement of antenna, or any 

change to a support structure requiring a building permit or other governmental approval. 

SHELTER  

A building for the protection and security of communications equipment associated with 

one (1) or more antenna and where access to equipment is gained from the interior of the 

building. Human occupancy for office or other uses or the storage of other materials and 

equipment not in direct support of the connected antenna is prohibited. 

SMALL WIRELESS FACILITY  

An antenna and associated equipment that meets the following: 

a. An antenna of no more than six (6) cubic feet in volume; and  



b. All other associated equipment, to the extent permitted by applicable law to be calculated, 

of cumulatively no more than twenty-eight (28) cubic feet in volume, provided that no 

single piece of equipment on the utility pole shall exceed nine (9) cubic feet in volume, and 

no single piece of ground mounted equipment shall exceed fifteen (15) cubic feet in 

volume.  

SUPPORT STRUCTURE  

A tower or disguised support structure. 

TOWER  

A structure designed for the support of one (1) or more antenna and including guyed towers, 

self-supporting (lattice) towers or monopoles, but not disguised support structures, utility 

poles, or buildings. The term shall also not include any support structure including 

attachments of sixty-five (65) feet or less in height owned and operated solely for use by an 

amateur radio operator licensed by the FCC. 

UTILITY POLE  

A pole that is or may be used for wireline communications, lighting, traffic control, signage, 

or a similar function, which may also support a small wireless facility or fast-track. 

WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY  

Any antenna, small wireless facility, fast-track, cabinet, shelter, and support structure, and 

associated equipment. 

D. Application Procedures; Timing. 

1. Applications. Applications for permitted, administrative, or conditional uses pursuant to this 

Section shall be subject to the supplementary procedures in this Section. Applications shall 

be submitted to the City as a complete application on forms provided by the City. A 

"complete application" shall be an application submitted on the forms provided by the City, 

fully executed by the applicant, identifying the specific approval sought, and containing all 

attachments, fees as may be established to reimburse the City for its inspection and review 

costs, and information as required thereon or by the City, consistent with this Section. 

Applications shall be accompanied by a building permit application and other applicable 

forms.  

2. Proof Of Owner Consent. Applications for permitted, administrative, or conditional uses 

pursuant to this Section shall be required to provide proof of owner consent, which shall 

minimally include: 

a. Written consent to pursue the application by all fee simple owners of the underlying real 



estate (or where located in street right-of-way, the right-of-way owner thereof), including 

when the proposed location is also in a utility easement; and  

b. Written consent to pursue the application of the owner of the structure on which such 

facility is to be placed, if different than applicant.  

3. Timing. Applications shall be decided upon within a reasonable time, subject further to 

State or Federal specific additional time requirements as may apply to the particular 

application.  

E. General Requirements. The requirements set forth in this Section shall be applicable to all 

wireless communications facilities installed, built, or modified after the effective date of this 

Section to the full extent permitted by law. Such zoning review and approvals required in 

this Section shall be in addition to any other generally applicable permitting requirement, 

including applicable building, excavation, or other right-of-way permits. 

1. Permitted Or Incidental Use. Towers may be either a principal or incidental use in all non-

residential zoning districts, subject to any applicable requirement herein and relating to yard 

or setback. An incidental use subject to a leasehold interest of a person other than the lot 

owner may be approved for a tower only if the leasehold area separately meets all 

requirements for a separate subdivided lot, including dedicated access, parking, setbacks, 

and lot size, applicable to a primary use in the district in which the use is proposed as if it 

was a separate subdivided lot. No other district shall allow towers unless required by law. 

All other wireless facilities other than towers, may be a principal or incidental use in all 

districts subject to the requirements herein.  

2. Building Codes, Safety Standards, And Zoning Compliance. Wireless communications 

facilities shall be constructed and maintained in compliance with all standards contained in 

applicable State and local building codes. A certified engineer's structural report shall be 

required for all applications to construct a new or modify, or any way alter, a support 

structure, a utility pole, or antenna, including small wireless facility and fast-track, unless 

waived upon application to the Director stating why such report is unnecessary to the 

specific application and a determination in the discretion of the Director approving such 

statement. In addition to any other approvals required by this Section, no wireless 

communications facility or portion thereof shall be erected, replaced, or expanded prior to 

receipt of a certificate of zoning compliance, unless otherwise required by law, and the 

issuance of a building permit. For sites within the right-of-way: 

a. The most restrictive adjacent underlying zoning district classification shall apply unless 

otherwise specifically zoned and designated on the Official Zoning Map;  



b. Wireless communications facilities shall be installed and maintained as not to obstruct or 

hinder the usual travel or public safety on the right-of-way or obstruct the legal use of such 

right-of-way by authorities or authorized right-of-way users; and  

c. Such use shall be required to obtain applicable permits and comply with the City's ROW 

management rules and regulations set forth in Chapter 515.  

3. Regulatory Compliance. All wireless communications facilities shall meet or exceed current 

standards and regulations of the FAA, FCC, and any other local, State, or Federal agency 

with the authority to regulate such wireless communications facilities. Should such 

standards or regulations be amended, then the owner shall bring such devices and structures 

into compliance with the revised standards or regulations within the time period mandated 

by the controlling agency. No approval for any placement, construction, or modification of 

any wireless communications facilities permitted by this Section shall be granted for any 

applicant having an uncured violation of this Section, any zoning regulation regarding the 

lot on which the structure is proposed, or any other governmental regulatory requirement 

related to such antenna or support structures within the City unless preempted by applicable 

law.  

4. Security. All wireless communications facilities shall be protected from unauthorized access 

by appropriate security measures. A description of proposed security measures shall be 

provided as part of any application to install, build, or modify a wireless communications 

facilities. Additional measures may be required as a condition of the issuance of a building 

permit or as deemed necessary by the Board of Aldermen in the case of conditional use 

permit or development plan process approvals.  

5. Lighting. Antenna, small wireless facilities, fast-track, and support structures shall not be 

lighted unless required by the FAA or other State or Federal agency with authority to 

regulate, in which case a description of the required lighting scheme will be made a part of 

the application to install, build, or modify the antenna, small wireless facilities, fast-track, or 

support structure. Equipment cabinets and shelters may have lighting only as approved by 

the Board of Aldermen as part of conditional use permit approval or development plan 

process approval as applicable.  

6. Advertising. Except for a disguised support structure in the form of an otherwise lawfully 

permitted sign, the placement of signage and advertising on structures regulated by this 

Section is prohibited other than required safety signage.  

7. Design. 

a. Color. Subject to the requirements of the FAA or any applicable State or Federal agency, 



wireless communications facilities and attachments shall be painted a neutral color 

consistent with the natural or built environment of the site or an alternative painting scheme 

approved by the Director, or the Board of Aldermen in the case of conditional use permits, 

consistent with the requirements of this Section. Unpainted galvanized steel support 

structures are not permitted.  

b. Ground Equipment. When authorized, equipment shelters or cabinets shall have an exterior 

finish compatible with the natural or built environment of the site and shall also comply 

with any design guidelines as may be applicable to the particular zoning district in which 

the facility is located. All equipment shall be either placed underground, contained in a 

single shelter or cabinet, or wholly concealed within a building or approved walled 

compound.  

c. Antenna Design. Antenna attached to a disguised support structure or tower shall be 

contained within the disguised support structure or within or mounted flush on the surface 

of the tower to which they are mounted. Antenna attached to an existing building, utility 

pole, or structure shall be of a color identical to or closely compatible with the surface to 

which they are mounted. Antenna on the rooftop or attached to a building shall be screened 

or constructed and/or colored to match the structure to which they are attached. All antenna 

shall be designed disguised or, if otherwise permitted, maximally concealed on or within the 

support structure. Unless demonstrated to be technologically unfeasible, exposed or 

separated antenna on "crows' nest" platforms are prohibited.  

d. Height. Support structures and antenna shall be no taller than necessary and shall not exceed 

the height limitation of any airport overlay zone as may be adopted by the City or other 

regulatory agency. Support structures and antenna may exceed underlying zoning district 

height restrictions for buildings and structures only where shown to be necessary, provided 

that no reasonable alternative exists. To the extent permitted by applicable law, district 

height restrictions shall be considered by the City in determining the appropriateness of the 

design and location of the application under the applicable standards for approval. No 

support structure or antenna shall be approved at a height exceeding one hundred twenty 

(120) feet AGL unless the applicant clearly demonstrates that such height is required for the 

proper function of the applicant's system.  

e. Monopole Design. All towers shall be of a monopole design. Lattice, guyed towers, or other 

non-monopole tower designs shall not be permitted.  

f. Compound Walls/Landscaping. All towers shall be surrounded by a minimum six-foot-high 

decorative wall constructed of brick, stone, or comparable masonry materials and a 

landscaped buffer strip of not less than ten (10) feet in width and planted with materials 

which will provide a visual barrier to a minimum height of six (6) feet. The buffer strip shall 



be exterior to any security wall. In lieu of the required wall and buffer strip, an alternative 

means of screening may be approved by the Board of Aldermen as part of conditional use 

permit approval or development plan process approval, but only upon demonstration by the 

applicant that an equivalent degree of visual screening will be achieved. Landscaping or 

other improvements may be required for disguised support structures if needed to 

implement an approved disguise.  

g. Setbacks. All support structures, including any portions of any wireless communications 

facilities thereon and associated structures, fences, and walls (except for parking associated 

with the wireless communications facility) shall be separated from any right-of-way, 

sidewalk or street, alley, parking area, playground, or other building, and from the property 

line of any adjacent property at least a horizontal distance equal to the height of the support 

structure, including any portions of any wireless communications facilities thereon.  

h. Storage. Vehicle or outdoor storage on any wireless communications facilities site is 

prohibited, unless otherwise permitted by the zoning district.  

i. Parking. On-site parking for periodic maintenance and service shall be provided at all 

support structure locations consistent with the requirements of Section 400.400.  

j. Decorative Poles. In districts where there are utility poles which were specifically designed 

for their aesthetic nature and compatibility with the built environment of that district, as 

determined by the City, such utility poles shall be deemed to be decorative utility poles. 

Such decorative utility poles, when authorized to be replaced by an applicant for wireless 

communications facilities pursuant to applicable law and in compliance with this Section 

and Code, shall only be replaced with a substantially similar decorative utility pole which 

matches the aesthetics and decorative elements of the original decorative utility pole being 

replaced. Such replacement expenses shall be borne wholly by the applicant seeking to 

place wireless communications facilities on such decorative utility pole.  

8. Public Property. Wireless communications facilities located on property owned, leased, or 

otherwise controlled by the City shall be subject to the requirements of this Section. A 

license or lease with the City authorizing the location of such wireless communications 

facilities shall be required for each site.  

9. As-Built Plans. Within sixty (60) days of completion of the initial construction and any 

additional construction, two (2) complete sets of plans drawn to scale and certified as 

accurately depicting the location of all wireless communications facilities constructed shall 

be furnished to the City.  

10. Historic Preservation; Thirty-Day Hearing Period. To the extent permitted by law, approval 



shall not be issued for any wireless communications facility that the Director or Board of 

Aldermen determines would create a significant negative visual impact or otherwise have a 

significant negative impact on the historical character and quality of any property within an 

Historic Preservation District or such district as a whole. For co-location of any certified 

historic structure as defined in Section 253.545, RSMo., in addition to all other applicable 

time requirements, there shall be a thirty-day time period before approval of an application 

during which one (1) or more public hearings on co-location to a certified historic structure 

are held. The City may require reasonable, technically feasible and technological neutral 

deign and concealment measures as a condition of approval of a wireless communications 

facility within an historic district.  

F. Administration. The Director shall have the authority to establish forms and procedures 

consistent with this Section and applicable Federal, State, and local law to ensure 

compliance and to facilitate prompt review and administration of applications.  

G. Permitted Use. 

1. Uses. The placement of wireless communications facilities fully conforming with the 

general requirements in this Section are permitted in all zoning districts only as follows: 

a. Co-Locations On Existing Support Structures. The attachment of additional or replacement 

complying antenna or shelters to any tower existing on the effective date of this Section or 

subsequently approved in accordance with this Section, or as otherwise authorized by State 

or Federal law where local zoning is preempted, provided that building permit requirements, 

national safety codes, and other applicable codes including recognized accepted industry 

standards for structural, safety, capacity, reliability, and engineering are satisfied, including 

specifically the requirement to submit a certified structural engineering report as provided in 

Subsection (E).  

b. Antenna On Existing Buildings/Structures. In all districts, except not on single-family 

residential or two-family dwellings, the mounting of antenna on any existing building or 

structure (other than a support structure or utility pole), provided that the presence of the 

antenna and equipment is concealed by architectural elements or fully camouflaged by 

painting a color identical to the surface to which the antenna are attached, and further 

provided that all requirements of this Section and the underlying zoning ordinance are met.  

c. Antenna On High-Voltage Towers. The mounting of antenna on or within any existing 

high-voltage electric transmission tower, but not exceeding the height of such tower by 

more than ten (10) feet, provided that all requirements of this Section and the underlying 

zoning ordinance are met.  



d. New, Replacement, And Modified Utility Poles. 

(1) New, replacement, or modified utility poles, at heights below the height limitations outlined 

in this Subsection, and co-location of small wireless facilities on the same shall be a 

permitted use in all districts except single-family residential and historic districts, provided 

the proposed installation does not: 

(a) Materially interfere with the safe operation of traffic and control equipment or City-owned 

communications equipment;  

(b) Materially interfere with compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, or similar 

Federal or State standards regarding pedestrian access or movement;  

(c) Materially obstruct or hinder the usual travel or public safety on the rights-of-way;  

(d) Materially obstruct the legal use of the rights-of-way by the City, utility, or other third 

party;  

(e) Fail to comply with the spacing requirements within Section 515.090;  

(f) Fail to comply with applicable national safety codes, including recognized engineering 

standards for utility poles or support structures;  

(g) Fail to comply with the decorative pole replacement requirements herein;  

(h) Fail to comply with undergrounding requirements within Section 515.090; or  

(i) Interfere or impair the operation of existing utility facilities, or City or third-party 

attachments.  

(2) New, replacement, or modification of utility poles under the following circumstances shall 

not be considered a permitted use under this Section: 

(a) Proposals to construct or modify a utility pole which exceeds the greater of: 

(i) Fifty (50) feet AGL; or  

(ii) More than ten (10) feet above the tallest existing utility pole as of January 1, 2019, within 

five hundred (500) feet of the proposed utility pole in the City; and  

(b) Proposals to co-locate on an existing utility pole in place on August 28, 2018, which 

exceeds the height of the existing utility pole by more than ten (10) feet.  



2. Application. Application for a permitted use under this Section shall require submission of 

an application with proof of owner consent as required by Subsection (D)(2) and an 

application fee of five hundred dollars ($500.00) as required to partly cover the City's actual 

costs, but not to exceed such amounts as may be limited by law. If the applicant is not a 

wireless services provider, then the applicant must submit evidence of agreements or plans, 

or otherwise provide attestations to the same, which conclusively demonstrate to the City 

that the proposed site(s) will become operational and used by a wireless services provider 

within one (1) year of the permit's issuance date. For any application for a small wireless 

facility, the applicant shall provide an attestation that the proposed small wireless facility 

complies with the volumetric limitations as required to meet the definition of a small 

wireless facility in accordance with this Section and pursuant to applicable law. Applicant 

shall also submit a certified structural analysis as required in the general requirements of 

this Section. Applications requesting any information that is prohibited by Federal or State 

law under the applicable circumstance shall be deemed inapplicable to the subject 

application. The Director shall issue a decision on the application for a permitted use within 

the time frame permitted by applicable law. A decision to deny an application shall be made 

in writing and state the specific reasons for the denial.  

H. Administrative Approval. 

1. Uses. The placement of wireless communications facilities fully conforming with the 

general requirements in this Section are permitted in all zoning districts by administrative 

permit approved by the Director only as follows: 

a. Disguised Support Structures. The construction of a disguised support structure, provided 

that all related equipment shall be placed underground or concealed within the structure. 

Equipment may be placed in an appropriately concealed cabinet if the disguised support 

structure is incidental to an industrial, commercial, or other non-residential use and fits with 

the natural built environment or the disguised support structure. Any disguised support 

structure shall have as a condition of approval, unless expressly exempted in the approval, 

an obligation and corresponding covenant recorded on the property that runs with the land 

to the benefit of the City on behalf of the public, prohibiting modifications to the disguised 

support structure that eliminate or are materially detrimental to the disguise, unless such 

proposed modification is approved by a duly authorized zoning or conditional use approval. 

If the applicant does not wish to have such a covenant, the application shall not qualify for 

administrative permit approval, unless another mechanism is proposed and approved to 

ensure that the disguise is not subsequently eliminated or materially detrimentally altered.  

b. "Fast-Track" Small Wireless Facilities. An application for a fast-track may be approved 

administratively by the Director, subject to meeting the following requirements: 



(1) General Requirements. The following requirements shall generally apply to all fast-track 

located within the City: 

(a) The fast-track shall substantially match any current aesthetic or ornamental elements of the 

existing structure or utility pole, or otherwise be designed to maximally blend in to the built 

environment, with attention to the current uses within the district at the proposed site;  

(b) Any portion above the existing structure or utility pole shall be concealed and of the same 

dimensions and appearance so as to appear to be a natural extension of the existing structure 

or utility pole in lieu of an enclosure or concealment;  

(c) The fast-track equipment shall not emit noise audible from the building line of any 

residentially zoned or used property; and  

(d) Location, placement, and orientation of the fast-track shall, to the extent feasible, minimize 

the obstruction to, or visibility from, the closest adjacent properties unless otherwise 

required by the City for safety reasons.  

(2) Additional Requirements When Sited Near Pedestrian And Vehicle Ways. When a fast-

track is proposed to be located on an existing structure or utility pole on or adjacent to 

public or private streets, sidewalks, or other pedestrian or vehicle ways: 

(a) Only one fast-track shall be permitted per structure or utility pole in the rights-of-way;  

(b) The height of all portions of the fast-track shall be located at least eight (8) feet above 

ground level;  

(c) No ground equipment shall be permitted; and  

(d) No portions of the fast-track shall extend horizontally from the surface of the utility pole or 

existing structure more than sixteen (16) inches.  

(3) Waiver For Good Cause Shown. 

(a) Additionally, the Director may for good cause shown increase any one (1) or more of the 

maximum volumetric specifications from the definition of a fast-track by up to fifty percent 

(50%) if the applicant demonstrates that it: 

(i) Does not in any location nationally use equipment capable of meeting the specifications and 

the purpose of the equipment; and  

(ii) Cannot feasibly meet the requirements as defined and described.  



(b) The Board of Aldermen may further waive one (1) or more of the requirements found in the 

definition of fast-track, or from Subsection (H)(1)(b)(1), General Requirements, or 

Subsection (H)(1)(b)(2), Additional Requirements When Sited Near Pedestrian And 

Vehicle Ways, upon good cause shown by the applicant, and provided a showing that the 

waiver is the minimum necessary to accomplish the purposes of this Section. The burden of 

proof for any waiver shall be wholly on the applicant.  

2. Application Procedures. Applications for administrative permits shall be made on the 

appropriate forms to the Director consistent with the requirements of this Section. 

Applications requesting any information that is prohibited by Federal or State law under the 

applicable circumstance shall be deemed inapplicable to the subject application. 

a. General Application Requirements. Applicant shall submit along with its completed 

application form: 

(1) An application fee of five hundred dollars ($500.00) as required to partly cover the City's 

actual costs, but not to exceed such amounts as may be limited by law; any amount not used 

by the City shall be refunded to the applicant upon written request after a final decision;  

(2) A detailed site plan, based on a closed boundary survey of the host parcel, shall be 

submitted indicating the exact location of the facility, all dimensions and orientations of the 

facility and associated equipment, in addition to all existing and proposed improvements 

including buildings, drives, walkway, parking areas, and other structures, right-of-way, the 

zoning categories of the subject and adjoining properties, the location of and distance to off-

site residential structures, required setbacks, required buffer and landscape areas, hydrologic 

features, and the coordinates and height AGL of the utility pole or existing structure, if 

applicable;  

(3) Specifications, dimensions, photos, or drawings of the completed installation;  

(4) Proof of owner consent as required by Subsection (D)(2).  

(5) Certified structural analysis as required in the general requirements of this Section;  

(6) If the applicant is not a wireless services provider, as defined by Section 67.5111, RSMo., 

then the applicant must submit evidence of agreements or plans, or otherwise provide 

attestations to the same, which conclusively demonstrate to the City that the proposed site(s) 

will become operational and used by such wireless services provider within one (1) year of 

the permit's issuance date; and  

(7) All other information necessary to show compliance with the applicable requirements of 

this Section.  



b. Fast-Track-Specific Application Requirements. In addition to the above general application 

requirements, applications for a fast-track shall include the following: 

(1) An attestation that the proposed fast-track meets the volumetric and other requirements to 

meet the definition of fast-track provided in this Section; and  

(2) Information demonstrating that the applicant's proposed plans are in compliance with 

Section 67.5113.3(9), RSMo., to the satisfaction of the City.  

c. Review. The application shall be reviewed by the Director to determine compliance with the 

above standards, including specifically design, location, safety, and appearance 

requirements, and transmit the application for review and comment by other departments 

and public agencies as may be affected by the proposed facility.  

d. Additional Information May Be Required. In reviewing an application, the Director may 

require the applicant to provide additional information, including technical studies, to the 

extent permitted by applicable law. An application shall not be deemed complete until 

satisfaction of all application requirements and submission of all requested information as 

provided herein.  

e. Decisions; Denials Required In Writing. The Director shall issue a decision on the permit 

within the time frame permitted by applicable law. The Director may deny the application 

or approve the application as submitted or with such modifications or conditions as are, in 

his/her judgment, reasonably necessary to protect the safety or general welfare of the 

citizens and property values consistent with and to affect the purposes of this Section. The 

Director may consider the purposes of this Section and the factors established herein for 

granting a conditional use permit as well as any other considerations consistent with this 

Section. A decision to deny an application shall be made in writing and state the specific 

reasons for the denial.  

I. Conditional Use Permit Required. All applications to install, build, erect, or modify wireless 

communications facilities not permitted in Subsection (G) or (H) of this Section shall be 

permitted only upon the approval of a conditional use permit authorized consistent with 

Article XI of this Chapter following a duly advertised public hearing, subject to the 

following additional requirements, procedures, and limitations: 

1. Applications. Applications for conditional use permits shall be filed on such forms required 

by the Director and processed subject to the requirements of and in the manner established 

by applicable law, herein, and for conditional use permits in this Chapter and, in addition to 

such other requirements, shall be accompanied by a deposit of one thousand five hundred 

dollars ($1,500.00), to the extent permitted by applicable law to the specific wireless 



communications facility. Any amount not used by the City shall be refunded to the 

applicant upon written request after a final decision. Except as otherwise provided by law, 

no application for a conditional use permit under this Section shall be deemed complete 

until the applicant has paid all fees and deposits required under this Section, submitted 

certified engineering plans, and provided proof of owner consent as required by Subsection 

(D)(2). Applications requesting any information that is prohibited by Federal or State law 

under the applicable circumstance shall be deemed inapplicable to the subject application.  

2. Decision And Findings Required. A decision shall be contemporaneously accompanied by 

substantial evidence supporting the decision, which shall be made a part of the written 

record of the meeting at which a final decision on the application is rendered. Evidence 

shall be under oath and may be submitted with the application or thereafter or presented 

during the public hearing by the applicant or others.  

3. Additional Minimum Requirements. No conditional use permit shall be issued unless the 

applicant has clearly demonstrated by substantial evidence that placement of wireless 

communications facilities pursuant to Subsection (G) or (H) of this Section is not 

technologically or economically feasible. The City may consider current or emerging 

industry standards and practices, among other information, in determining feasibility.  

4. Findings Required. In addition to the determinations or limitations specified herein and by 

the applicable provisions of Article XI of this Chapter for the consideration of conditional 

use permits, no conditional use permit shall be approved by the Board of Aldermen unless 

findings in the affirmative are made that the following conditions exist: 

a. That the design of the wireless communications facilities, including ground layout, 

maximally reduces visual degradation and otherwise complies with provisions and intent of 

this Section;  

b. That the design is visually compatible with the area, will not distract from the view of the 

surrounding area, is maximally concealed or blended in with the environment, and will not 

adversely affect property values;  

c. That such conditional use shall not be inconsistent or adversely affect the regular permitted 

uses in the district in which the same is located; and  

d. That the proposal fully complies with applicable law, including the general requirements 

herein, provided that an exception to the general requirements, other than building or safety 

code compliance, may be approved upon evidence that compliance is not feasible or is 

shown to be unreasonable under the specific circumstances shown.  



J. Obsolete, Non-Complying Tower Structures. Any upper portion of a tower which is not 

occupied by active antenna for a period of twelve (12) months, and any entire tower which 

is not so occupied for a period of six (6) months, shall be removed at the owner's expense. 

Removal of upper portions of a tower manufactured as a single unit shall not be required. 

Failure to comply with this provision shall constitute a nuisance that may be remedied by 

the City at the tower or property owner's expense.  

K. Commercial Operation Of Unlawful Tower Or Antenna. Notwithstanding any right that 

may exist for a governmental entity to operate or construct a support structure, it shall be 

unlawful for any person to erect or operate for any private commercial purpose of any 

wireless communications facility in violation of any provision of this Section, regardless of 

whether such facility is located on land owned by a governmental entity.  

L. Penalty. In addition to any penalties imposed by this Chapter, any person violating any 

portion of this Section shall be subject to a penalty of not more than five hundred dollars 

($500.00) fine or ninety (90) days in jail, or both. Each day the violation continues shall 

constitute a separate offense.  

 



Section 400.450 Continuance of Use. 

The lawful use of a building or land existing at the time of the effective date of this Chapter may be 

continued, although such use does not conform to the provisions of this Chapter; provided that in 

the event of any change, extension or alteration of the non-conforming use, the right to continue the 

non-conforming use shall lapse and thereafter the use of the building or land shall conform in all 

respects to the requirements of this Chapter. 

Section 400.460 Discontinuance. 

A. In the event that any non-conforming use or use of a non-conforming building is discontinued

for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days, the same shall be deemed to be abandoned and

thereafter the use or building shall conform to the requirements of this Chapter for the zoning

district in which the use or building is located. Such discontinuance may be evidenced by

either:

1. Vacancy of the premises; or

2. Curtailment of operations constituting the non-conforming use for the requisite period.

Section 400.470 Damage and Restoration. 

When a building, the use of which does not conform to the requirements of this Chapter, is damaged 

by fire, explosion, act of God or the public enemy to the extent of more than fifty percent (50%) of 

the original structure or fifty percent (50%) of the value of the building as determined by the Code 

Enforcement Official, the building and use shall not be restored except in conformity with the 

requirements of this Chapter for the zoning district in which the building and use is situated. 

Article XIII Nonconforming Uses



:1  

 
 

ARTICLE XIV 

Administration and Enforcement 

 

 

Section 400.480. Code Enforcement Official.  

The City Clerk of the City or one (1) or more other appointees, agencies or 

entities as may be designated by the Board of Aldermen is hereby designated 

as the Code Enforcement Official who shall have the duties of enforcing this 

Chapter and is hereby specifically empowered and directed: 

1. To make inspections of buildings and lots as necessary to ascertain 

compliance with and to enforce provisions of this Chapter; 

2. To issue certificates of occupancy upon compliance of lands, 

buildings, and open spaces with the requirements of Section 

400.490 and this Chapter; 

3. To notify in writing, if any violations of the provisions of this 

Chapter are found, persons responsible for such violation. In 

giving notification, the Code Enforcement Official shall indicate 

the nature of the violation and order the action necessary to 

correct the violation. The Code Enforcement Official shall order 

discontinuation of any illegal use of land, buildings or structures, 

removal of illegal buildings or structures or of illegal additions 

or alterations, discontinuance of any illegal work being done, or 

take any other action authorized by this Chapter to ensure 

compliance with or to prevent violation of its provisions; 

4. To cooperate with the City Attorney in the instituting of 

appropriate actions or proceedings to prevent unlawful erection, 

conversion, enlargement, reconstruction or structural alteration 

of any building or unlawful occupancy or use; to restrain, correct 

or bate such unlawful action; 

5. To cooperate with other officials to the extent such officials have 

responsibility for administration and enforcement of the Building 

Code or other similar codes and ordinances to the end that 

provisions of this Chapter are complied with and efficiently and 

professionally administered; and 

6. To assist the Board of Aldermen and perform such other duties as 

the Board of Aldermen may determine. 



:2  

Section 400.490. Certificates of Occupancy.   

A. No land shall be used and no building erected, converted, enlarged, 

reconstructed, or structurally altered after the effective date of this 

Chapter shall be occupied in whole or in part until a certificate of 

occupancy is issued by the Code Enforcement Official stating that the 

use or building complies with the requirements of this Chapter and of 

the ordinances of the City. Issuance of the certificate of occupancy may 

include prior review by the officials designated by the City Clerk to 

administer the City Building Code and by officials of the applicable fire 

district. 

B. Certificates of occupancy for newly built or altered premises shall be 

applied for coincidentally with the application for a building permit 

and shall be issued within ten (10) days after the lawful erection, 

reconstruction or alteration is completed. A record of all building 

permits and certificates of occupancy shall be kept on file in the City 

office and copies shall be furnished on request to any person having a 

proprietary or tenancy interest in the land, building or premises 

affected. 

C. Whenever the sale of a building results in a change in the ownership or 

occupancy, or whenever the premises are rented to any first or successor 

lessee, or whenever there is a change in use of the premises and more 

than one hundred eighty (180) days has elapsed since the date of the last 

occupancy inspection of the premises, the buyer or lessee shall be 

required to possess an occupancy permit in accordance with the 

provisions of this Section. 

D. The occupancy permit shall not be issued by the Code Enforcement 

Official until the building or premises has been inspected and the 

inspector has affixed to the application for such permit an approval that 

the proposed use and any buildings or structures involved comply in all 

respects with the provisions of the approved building permit or City 

Building Code. If the Code Enforcement Official finds that the use is in 

compliance with all applicable provisions of this Section and all other 

applicable City ordinances, he or she may issue said occupancy permit. 

E. The Code Enforcement Official may issue a temporary, thirty-day 

occupancy permit for a part of a commercial building or for temporary 

occupancy of a residential premises pending completion of construction 

or repairs provided the proposed use complies with all applicable 

requirements of the City ordinances 

F. The inspection fee established in Section 400.500 of this Chapter shall 

include one (1) reinspection, if required as a result of deficiencies noted in 

the original inspection. Additional and subsequent inspections required by 

the Code Enforcement Official in order to verify compliance shall be made 

only after deposit of a new fee. 



:3 

 

G. No provision contained in this Section shall be interpreted as restricting the 

right of a seller or lessor to make application and pay the fee for an 

inspection and occupancy permit. 

 

Section 400.500. Fees and Deposits.  

 

A. The fees and deposits for applications, filings, City review, and 

exceptions and appeals therefrom pertaining to the City's regulation of 

land use are established as follows: 

1. Zoning Code. Filing fees for the various procedures and petitions 

addressed in Chapter 400, being the City's Zoning Code, and any 

amendments thereto, to be submitted by applicants at the time of 

submission of the applicable application shall be as follows: 
 

 
Application/Permit 

Amount of Fee/ 

Deposit 

Zoning Code 

Reference 

1. Rezoning $250.00 plus 

$50.00 per acre or 

part thereof 

§ 400.550 

2. Text amendments $250.00 § 400.550 

3. Site plan approval $100.00 plus 

$20.00 per acre or 

part thereof 

§§ 400.170, 

400.230, 

400.370 

4. Conditional use 

permit 

$250.00 §§ 400.420 — 

400.430 



:4  

 

 
Application/Permit 

Amount of Fee/ 

Deposit 

Zoning Code 

Reference 

5. Board of 

Adjustment 

(appeals/ 

variances) 

Single Family 

Residential 

$50.00 for all 

acreage 

Commercial and 

Multi-Family 

Residential 

$100.00 for less than 

1/4 acre 

$150.00 for 1/4 acre 

and up to but less 

than 1/2 acre 

$200.00 for 1/2 acre 

and up to but less 

than 1 acre 

$300.00 for 1 acre 

or more 

Signs 

$100.00 for signs 

§ 400.580 

§ 410.150 

6. Building permit $80.00 (residential) 

$150.00 

(commercial — new 

construction/ 

addition) 

$85.00 (commercial 

— alteration/tenant 

finish) 

$150.00 

(demolition for 

residential/ 

commercial) 

§ 500.120 



:5  

 

 
Application/Permit 

Amount of Fee/ 

Deposit 

Zoning Code 

Reference 

7. Occupancy permit 

(inspection + one 

reinspection) 

$150.00 initial 

inspection, 

including 1 

reinspection, if 

required 

§ 400.490 

7. Occupancy permit 
(additional 
reinspections) 

$100.00 each 

additional 

reinspection 

§ 400.490 

8. Administrative 

permit 

(telecommunication 

$500.00 

 
s) 

§ 400.440(G)(2) 

9. Development plan 

or planned 

residential district 

approval 

$1,500.00 §§ 400.340, 

400.440 

10. Customary home 

occupation 

$25.00 §§ 400.130, 

400.190 

11. Special business 

permit procedure 

$250.00 § 400.180 

 

2. Subdivision Code. Filing fees for the various procedures and 

petitions addressed in Chapter 405, being the City's Subdivision 

Code, and any amendments thereto, to be submitted by applicants 

at the time of submission of the applicable application shall be as  

follows: 
 

Application/ Permit Amount of Fee/ 

Deposit 

Subdivision Code 

Reference 

1. Subdivision 

(filing of 

preliminary plat) 

$1,500.00 § 405.040 

2. Boundary 

adjustment 

$250.00 § 405.040 

3. Improvement 

guarantee review 

$200.00 § 405.070 (§ 89.410, 

RSMo.) 

4. Land disturbance 

permit 

Per St. Louis 

County 

§ 407.020 



:6  

 

Application/ Permit Amount of Fee/ 

Deposit 

Subdivision Code 

Reference 

5. Private Property 

Site Work permit 

$25.00 § 515.180 

 

3. Sign Code. Filing fees for the various procedures and petitions 

addressed in Chapter 410, the City's Sign Code, to be submitted by 

applicants at the time of submission shall be as follows: 
 

Application/ Permit Amount of Fee/ 

Deposit 

Sign Code Reference 

1. Permanent $100.00 

(commercial) 

§ 410.050 

  $50.00 

(residential) 

§ 410.030 

2. Temporary $75.00 

(commercial) 

§ 410.050 

  $50.00 

(residential) 

§ 410.030 

B. Fee Administration. 

1. The filing fees and deposits set forth in Subsection (A) of this 

Section shall be paid in anticipation of the City's expenses incurred 

in processing the application or submission at issue, including, but 

not limited to, administrative and clerical costs, costs of title 

research, surveys, legal, engineering and planning review, cost of 

traffic and planning consultants employed by the City, publication 

expenses, expenses of notification to adjoining property owners, 

expenses of hearings including rental of a hall, if necessary, court 

reporter, if requested by either the City or the applicant, and other 

investigations deemed necessary by the City. Processing and all 

other actions related to the application or submittal shall not 

proceed until the applicable fee is paid in full.  

2. In the event the fee or deposit noted are insufficient to pay all such 

expenses incurred by the City, the City Clerk may document 

additional costs incurred by the City and request payment of 

same as soon as possible but not to exceed thirty 

(30) days. Processing and all other actions related to the application 

shall not proceed until such additional sums are 



:7  

 

paid in full. Any and all unused portions of any additional sums 

required under this Section shall be refunded to the applicant  upon 

request. Appeals from any decision hereunder shall be taken 

pursuant to Chapter 150 of the Municipal Code. 

3. The Planning and Zoning Commission and the Board of 

Adjustment may adopt fees for processing matters that come before 

those entities where the fees are not otherwise provided by 

ordinance. Such fees may not exceed two hundred fifty dollars 

($250.00) for commercial matters and one hundred dollars 

($100.00) for residential matters. A schedule of such fees shall be 

filed with the City Clerk, at which time they shall become effective. 

 

Section 400.510. Violations and Penalties.  

 

A. In case any building or structure is erected, constructed, reconstructed, 

altered, converted or maintained, or any building, structure or land is 

used in violation of this Chapter or of any ordinance or other regulation 

made under authority conferred hereby, the proper local authorities of 

the City of Twin Oaks, in addition to other remedies, may institute any 

appropriate action or proceedings to prevent such unlawful erection, 

construction, reconstruction, alteration, conversion, maintenance or use, 

to restrain, correct, or abate such violation, to prevent the occupancy of 

such building, structure, or land, or to prevent any illegal act, conduct, 

business, or use in or about such premises. Such regulations shall be 

enforced by an officer empowered to cause any building, structure, 

place, or premises to be inspected and examined and to order in writing 

the remedying of any condition found to exist therein or thereat in 

violation of any provision of the regulations made under authority of 

Sections 89.010 to 89.140, RSMo. 

B. The owner or general agent of a building or premises where a violation 

of any provision of said regulations has been committed or shall exist, 

or the lessee or tenant of an entire building or entire premises where 

such violation has been committed or shall exist, or the owner, general 

agent, lessee or tenant of any part of the building or premises in which 

such violation has been committed or shall exist, or the general agent, 

architect, builder, contractor or any other person who commits, takes 

part or assists in any such violation or who maintains any building or 

premises in 



:8  

 

which any such violation shall exist shall be guilty of an ordinance violation 

punishable as set forth in Section 100.220. 

C. Any such person who having been served with an order to remove any 

such violation shall fail to comply with such order within ten 

(10) days after such service or shall continue to violate any provision 

of the regulations made under authority of Sections 

89.010 to 89.140, RSMo., in the respect named in such order shall also be 

subject to a civil penalty of two hundred fifty dollars  ($250.00). 

D. Each of the remedies, fines and imprisonments set forth in this Section 

shall be cumulative and not exclusive remedies. 



Article XV  

Planning and Zoning Commission  

Section 400.520 Membership.   

There is hereby created and established a Planning and Zoning Commission for the City to be known as the 

"Planning and Zoning Commission." The Planning and Zoning Commission shall have a membership of not 

more than nine (9) nor less than seven (7) members, consisting of seven (7) citizens appointed by the Mayor 

and approved by the Board of Aldermen, the Mayor, if the Mayor chooses to be a member; and a member of 

the Board of Aldermen selected by the Board, if the Board chooses to have a member serve on the Planning 

and Zoning Commission. All citizen members of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall serve without 

compensation. The term of each of the citizen members shall be for four (4) years, except that terms of the 

citizen members first appointed shall be for varying periods so that succeeding terms will be staggered. Any 

vacancy in a membership shall be filled for the unexpired term by appointment as aforesaid. The Board of 

Aldermen may remove any citizen member for cause stated in writing and after public hearing. 

Section 400.530 Organization And Operation.   

The Planning and Zoning Commission shall elect its Chair and Secretary from among the citizen members. 

The term of Chair and Secretary shall be for one (1) year with eligibility for reelection. The Planning and 

Zoning Commission shall hold regular meetings and special meetings as provided by rule, and shall adopt 

rules for the transaction of business, and keep a record of its proceedings. These records shall be public 

records. The Planning and Zoning Commission may request authority from the Board of Aldermen to 

contract with City planners and other professional persons for the services that it requires. All expenditures 

therefor shall be subject to prior approval by the Board of Aldermen. 

Section 400.540 Meeting Times.   

A. The regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall be held on the fourth Tuesday of 

each month unless continued for lack of a quorum, or on the call of the Chair. The meeting will be held 

at the City office.  

B. The Chair and/or the City Clerk may cancel, continue or reschedule any regular meeting of the Planning 

and Zoning Commission or may call special meetings of the Planning and Zoning Commission; 

provided, however, that the provisions of Section 610.010 et seq., RSMo., (open meetings) shall be 

followed with reference to all regularly scheduled and special meetings of the Planning and Zoning 

Commission.  

C. Planning and Zoning Commission meetings may be mechanically recorded or minutes shall otherwise 

be prepared by the Planning and Zoning Commission Secretary. Minutes shall be available to the Board 

of Aldermen immediately upon preparation and approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission and 

shall further constitute an open and public record of City business. Mechanical recordings of a meeting 

shall be retained until all actions taken at said meeting are complete and final or until verbatim 

transcription is required, whichever shall first occur.  



 
 

ARTICLE XVI 

Amendments 

 

Section 400.550. Procedural Requirements. 
 

The Board of Aldermen may from time to time, on its own motion     or on petition of the 

Planning and Zoning Commission or any person having an interest in the property 

involved, amend, supplement, change, modify or repeal by ordinance the regulations or 

districts herein or subsequently established. Any proposed amendment, supplement, 

change, modification, or repeal shall first be submitted to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission for its recommendation and report. Upon receipt of the report by the 

Planning and Zoning Commission, the Board of Aldermen shall hold a public hearing, 

fifteen (15) days' notice of the time and place of which shall have been given by 

publication in a newspaper having general circulation within the City of Twin Oaks. In 

case of written protest against any proposed amendment, supplement, change, 

modification or repeal signed and acknowledged by the owners of thirty percent (30%) or 

more, either of the area of the land (exclusive of streets and places) included in such 

proposed amendment, supplement, change, modification or repeal, or within an area 

determined by lines drawn parallel to and one hundred eighty-five (185) feet distant from 

the boundaries of the district proposed to be changed is received by the Board of 

Aldermen, such amendment shall not become effective except by the favorable vote of 

two-thirds (2/3) of all members of the Board of Aldermen. 
 

 



 1 

Article XVII  

Board of Adjustment  

Section 400.560 Board of Adjustment — Created.  

A. A Board of Adjustment is hereby established. The Board of Adjustment shall consist of five (5) 

members, all of whom shall be residents of the City appointed by the Mayor and approved by the 

Board of Aldermen. The term of office of the members of the Board of Adjustment shall be five 

(5) years excepting that the membership of the first Board of Adjustment appointed shall serve 

respectively for terms of one (1) for one (1) year; one (1) for two (2) years; one (1) for three (3) 

years; one (1) for four (4) years; and one (1) for five (5) years. Thereafter, members shall be 

appointed for terms of five (5) years each. Vacancies shall be filled for the unexpired term only. 

Members shall be removed for cause by the Board of Aldermen of the City upon written charges 

and after a public hearing. Up to three (3) alternate members may be appointed to serve in the 

absence of or the disqualification of the regular members.  

B. The Board of Adjustment shall elect its own Chair and Vice Chair who shall serve for one (1) 

year. The Board of Adjustment shall adopt from time to time such rules and regulations as it may 

deem necessary to carry into effect the provisions of this Article.  

Section 400.570 Meetings.  

A. Meetings of the Board of Adjustment shall be held at the call of the Chair and at such other times 

as the Board of Adjustment may determine. Such Chair, or in his or her absence the acting Chair, 

may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. All meetings of the Board of 

Adjustment shall be open to the public.  

B. The Board of Adjustment shall keep minutes of the proceedings, showing the vote of each 

member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact, and shall keep 

records of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in 

the office of the City and shall be a public record. All testimony, objections thereto, and rulings 

thereon shall be taken down by a reporter employed by the Board of Adjustment for that purpose.  

Section 400.580 Appeals to Board of Adjustment.   

A. Appeals to the Board of Adjustment may be taken by any person aggrieved, by any neighborhood 

organization as defined in Section 32.105, RSMo., representing such person or by any officer, 

department, board, or bureau of the City affected by any final decision of the Code Enforcement 

Official or other official. Such appeal shall be taken within thirty (30) days of the decision 

appealed from, as shall be prescribed by the Board of Adjustment by general rule, by filing with 

the officer from whom the appeal is taken and with the Board of Adjustment a notice of appeal 

specifying the grounds thereof. The officer from whom the appeal is taken shall forthwith 

transmit to the Board all the papers constituting the record upon which the action appealed from is 

taken.  

B. An appeal shall stay all proceedings in furtherance of the action appealed from, unless the officer 



 2 

from whom the appeal is taken certifies to the Board of Adjustment after the notice of appeal shall 

have been filed with the officer that by reason of the facts stated in the certificate a stay would, in 

that officer's opinion, cause immediate peril to life or property. In such a case, proceedings shall 

not by stayed otherwise than by a restraining order which may be granted by the Board of 

Adjustment, or by a court of record on application or notice to the officer from whom the appeal 

is taken and on due cause shown.  

C. The Board of Adjustment shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal, give not less 

than fifteen (15) days' public notice thereof in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of 

Twin Oaks, as well as due notice to the parties in interest and decide the same within a reasonable 

time. Upon hearing, any party may appear in person or by agent or by attorney.  

Section 400.590 Purpose and Powers of The Board of Adjustment.  

A. Purpose. The purpose of the Board of Adjustment is to hear and decide appeals where it is alleged 

there is error in any order, requirement, decision, or determination made by an administrative 

official in the enforcement of the City zoning laws adopted pursuant to Sections 89.010 to 89.140, 

RSMo., or of any ordinance adopted pursuant to such Sections. Subject only to the general or 

specific rules in this Article XVII or specific restrictions provided in State law (Sections 89.010 

to 89.140, RSMo.), the Board of Adjustment may determine and vary its approval, modification 

or overturning of a decision appealed from in harmony with its general purpose and intent and 

appeals therefrom shall be made to the Circuit Court of St. Louis County as hereinafter provided.  

B. Powers. The Board of Adjustment shall have the following powers: 

1. To hear and decide all matters referred to it or upon which it is required to pass under such 

ordinance.  

2. To permit the extension of a district where the boundary line of a district divides a lot held in 

a single ownership at the time of the passage of this Article.  

3. To interpret the provisions of this Chapter in such a way as to carry out the intent and 

purpose of the Master Development Plan.  

4. To permit the reconstruction of a non-conforming building which has been damaged by 

explosion, fire, act of God or public enemy, to the extent of more than fifty percent (50%) of 

its reasonable value, where the Board of Adjustment finds some compelling public necessity 

requiring a continuance of the non-conforming use and the primary purpose of continuing 

the non-conforming use is not to continue a monopoly.  

5. To permit a variation in the yard requirements of any district where there are practical 

difficulties in carrying out these provisions due to an irregular shape of the lot, topographical 

or other conditions, provided such variation will not seriously affect any adjoining property 

or the general welfare. Before granting a requested variance and before making any finding 

in a specific case, the Board shall, as appropriate under the circumstances, determine that 



 3 

applicant has demonstrated that:  

a.  There are practical difficulties keeping the applicant from complying with the strict 

letter of the Zoning Code; 

b. The alleged practical difficulty(ies) relied on by the applicant as a ground for a variance 

is/are unique to the property and different from that suffered throughout the zone or 

neighborhood; 

c. The practical difficulty was not the result of the action of the applicant taken subsequent 

to the effective date of this Zoning Code; 

d. The proposed variance will not have present and future negative effect of the on the 

subject property or neighboring property; 

e. There will not be a  substantial change in the character of the neighborhood if the 

proposed variance is granted; 

f. The proposed variance will not cause a substantial detriment to the adjoining properties; 

g. The proposed variance will not constitute any change in the Zoning Map, unless herein 

provided; 

h. The difficulty cannot be avoided by any other method, feasible for the applicant to 

pursue, other than the variance; 

i. In view of the manner in which the difficulty arose and considering all relevant 

circumstances, the interest of justice will be served by allowing the variance; and 

j. The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent 

property; will not unreasonably increase the congestion in public streets; will not 

increase the public danger of fire and safety; will not diminish or impair established 

property values within the surrounding area; and will not in any other respect impair the 

public health, safety, comfort, morals, and welfare of the City. 

Section 400.600 Decision of Board of Adjustment.  

A. In exercising the above-mentioned powers, such Board may, in conformity with the provisions of 

Sections 89.010 to 89.140, RSMo., reverse or affirm wholly or partly, or may modify the order, 

requirement, decision or determination appealed from and may make such order, requirement, 

decision or determination as ought to be made and to that end shall have all the powers of the 

officer from whom the appeal is taken. The concurring vote of four (4) members of the Board 

shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirement, decision, or determination of any such 

administrative official, or to decide in favor of the applicant on any matter upon which it is 

required to pass under any such ordinance or to affect any variation in such ordinance except as 

provided in Section 305.410, RSMo.  

B. Every variation granted or denied by the Board of Adjustment shall be accompanied by a written 

finding of fact, based on testimony and evidence, and specifying the reason for granting or 



 4 

denying the variation.  

Section 400.610 Appeals from Board of Adjustment.  

Any person or persons jointly or severally aggrieved by any decision of the Board of Adjustment, any 

neighborhood organization as defined in Section 32.105, RSMo., representing such person or persons 

or any officer, department, board, or bureau of the municipality may present to Circuit Court of the 

County or City in which the property affected is located, a petition, duly verified, setting forth that 

such decision is illegal, in whole or in part, specifying the grounds of the illegality. Such petition shall 

be presented to the court within thirty (30) days after the filing of the decision in the office of the 

Board. Upon the presentation of such petition, the court may allow a certiorari directed to the Board of 

Adjustment to review such decision of the Board of Adjustment and shall prescribe therein the time 

within which to return thereto must be made and served upon the relator's attorney, which shall not be 

less than ten (10) days and may be extended by the court. The allowance of the writ shall not stay 

proceedings upon the decision appealed from, but the court may, on application, on notice to the Board 

and on due cause shown, grant a restraining order. The Board of Adjustment shall not be required to 

return the original papers acted upon by it, but it shall be sufficient to return certified or sworn copies 

thereof or of such portions thereof as may be called for by such writ. The return shall concisely set 

forth such other facts as may be pertinent and material to show the grounds of the decision appealed 

from and shall be verified. If, upon the hearing, it shall appear to the court that testimony is necessary 

for the proper disposition of the matter, it may take additional evidence or appoint a referee to take 

such evidence as it may direct and report the same to the court with the referee's findings of fact and 

conclusions of law, which shall constitute a part of the proceedings upon which a determination of the 

court shall be made. The court may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the decision 

brought up for review. Costs shall not be allowed against the Board unless it shall appear to the court 

that it acted with gross negligence, or in bad faith, or with malice in making the decision appealed 

from. All issues in any proceedings under Sections 89.080 to 89.110, RSMo., shall have preference 

over all other civil actions and proceedings. 



Section 400.xxx  Special Event Permits.  

A. Requirements and Procedures. The City Clerk is authorized to issue a permit for the operation 

or conducting of an amusement activity on a temporary basis within any zoning district. The 

City Clerk may request a report be submitted by health officials with respect to any public 

health aspect of the proposal and by the City’s police department with respect to any traffic 

or public safety aspect of the proposal, if appropriate. The permit shall be issued for a 

specified period of time not exceeding ten (10) days, unless otherwise provided hereafter or 

within the permit itself. The permit shall contain such conditions as are necessary for 

protection of public health, safety, and traffic, and the City Clerk may require such assurance 

or guarantee of compliance with conditions as is reasonable and appropriate under the 

circumstances. This permit is in addition to any building permit, air pollution device, 

construction or operating permit, highway special use permit, or other permit or license 

required by law for any proposed activity or facility. No more than two (2) temporary 

amusement activity permits shall be issued in any calendar year with regard to any particular 

property; provided; however, that this limitation with respect to the number of temporary 

amusement activity permits shall not apply to City property, nor to property not held for 

private or corporate profit and used exclusively for religious worship, schools and colleges, 

for purposes purely charitable, or for agricultural and horticultural societies.  

B. The following temporary uses shall be allowed on a lot for which the vendor has a property 

interest: 

1. Outdoor dining/storage. Outdoor seating at a restaurant or outdoor storage of products 

or merchandise on a temporary basis (not to exceed thirty (30) days) at any business in 

the "C" District. 

2. Amusement activity. For the purpose of this Subsection, "amusement activity" includes 

a circus, carnival, fair, art display, trade or animal show, concert, dance, parade, and any 

similar activity not involving the erection of any permanent structure or facility. 

3. Seasonal sales. Christmas tree, pumpkin or other seasonal outdoor sales in any business 

in the "C" District or at a property used exclusively for religious worship or education 

for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days. Display of Christmas trees need not comply 

with the yard and setback requirements of these regulations, provided that nothing shall 

be displayed within thirty (30) feet of the intersection of the curbline of any two streets. 

4. Contractor's office. Contractor's office and equipment sheds (containing no sleeping or 

cooking accommodations) accessory to a construction project and to continue only 

during the duration of construction of such project. 

5. Real estate office. Real estate office (containing no sleeping or cooking accommodations 



unless located in a model dwelling unit) incidental to a new residential development to 

continue only until the initial sale or lease of seventy-five percent (75%) of the dwelling 

units in the development. 

C. Special Events. All other special events not fully satisfying the criteria of this Chapter may 

be granted a special event permit only by the Board of Aldermen after review and report by 

the City Clerk. This permit may be granted, denied, or made subject to conditions that the 

Board of Aldermen may deem reasonably necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

general welfare. The Board of Aldermen shall review the application based on the intent of 

this Chapter and the appropriateness of the event in light of the standards set forth herein.  

D. Appeals. Appeals from decisions of the City Clerk concerning special event permits may be 

appealed to the Board of Adjustment under the procedures set forth in Article XVII of the 

Zoning Code.  

 



ZONING REGULATIONS

400 Attachment 1

City of Twin Oaks

Appendix A
Urban Guidelines

A. Architectural/Building Elements.

1. Residential and commercial architecture within the City should be designed to maintain 
traditional standards of construction methods, materials, masses and forms.

2. All non-residential structures should be designed to create a strong physical and spatial 
relationship with either Big Bend Boulevard or Meramec Station Road frontage(s), as 
applicable.

3. Each commercial structure should have a main entrance oriented toward the street side of 
the structure, connecting with a sidewalk. Additional, supplementary entrances may be 
provided and oriented toward parking courts or pedestrian paths.

4. Building materials, colors and principal building roof/parapet lines should be carefully 
selected to assure that adjacent structures relate to each other.

5. Building construction should be of high quality and durable materials.
Acceptable materials include:

• Brick;

• Stone;

• Concrete with approved texturing, scoring and detailing;

• Clear Glass;

• Metals including copper, steel, aluminum, when used as roof or detail elements 
including awnings, door and window frames, or decorative applications.

• Fiber cement panels and siding

Unacceptable materials include:

• Stucco;

• Mirrored or tinted glass;

• Vinyl or plastic siding;

• Metal siding;

400 Attachment 1:1 Publication, Sep 2019



TWIN OAKS CITY CODE

• Concrete block or masonry unit (exposed);

• Canvas or other fabric.

6. Primary  materials  and  colors  should  wrap  all  exposed  facades  of  the  building.  A
harmonious range of colors should be used emphasizing earth tones and natural colors.
Bright colors intended to call attention to individual buildings should not be allowed.

7. Individual  property  owners  and  developers  should  consult  with  adjacent  owners  to
coordinate development activities and resources such as shared service alleys, etc.

B. Additional Architectural Guidelines.

1. Roof forms and materials:

a. All buildings should be designed with consistent roof pitches (all roofs on same
building should be similar);

b. Use of roof pitches between and including 4:12 to 6:12 are recommended where
possible.

2. Height, scale:

a. The height of Principal Buildings should be limited to three (3) stories.

b. Buildings  should  be  designed  so  that  the  building  elements  (canopies,  bays,
projections, etc.) will provide the scale of the building rather than applied details.

3. Entries:

a. Significant articulation or structural detailing should be provided at entry points.

b. Entries should be articulated with architectural canopies, overhangs, etc.

4. Facade articulation:

a. Corners of buildings should include significant  articulation through fenestration,
building materials, and detailing.

b. Window  fenestration  should  be  grouped  or  set  in  bands;  window  frame
configurations should be limited to simple rectangular shapes with clear delineation
of fixed and operational elements.

400 Attachment 1:2 Publication, Sep 2019



ZONING REGULATIONS

c. Building projections should be maintained as consistent modules and random wall
modulations or projections should be avoided.

C. Pedestrian Circulation.

1. All  collector  streets  (i.e.,  Big  Bend  Boulevard,  Meramec  Station  Road)  should  be
provided with sidewalks on both sides. Sidewalks should be a minimum of four (4) feet
in width. In addition, pedestrian designated circulation routes should be provided within
commercial  developments  to  connect  adjacent  parking  areas,  streets,  buildings  and
neighborhoods.

2. Americans  with  Disabilities  Act  (ADA)  requirements  should  be  adhered  to  in  all
instances.

3. Special paving materials should be used to enhance primary pedestrian circulation routes
and provide a clear designation from vehicular movement areas. Special paving materials
include:

• Colored and patterned or scored concrete;

• Concrete or asphalt unit pavers;

• Stone.

D. Vehicle Access, Driveways, And Parking.

1. Vehicular  access  points  (curb  cuts)  to  individual  non-residential  parcels  should  be
limited to one (1) per parcel, or no more than one (1) per three hundred (300) feet of
frontage on Big Bend Boulevard or Meramec Station Road, as applicable, within a
single parcel.

2. No  through  access  should  be  allowed  into  commercial  development  parcels  from
neighborhood streets except for service drives signed as such.

3. To create  simple,  easily  recognizable  private  entries,  access  points  from Big  Bend
Boulevard and Meramec Station Road should be coordinated between adjacent parcels
where  possible.  Driveways  and  parking  areas  should  be  designed  to  accommodate
efficient vehicle stacking during peak periods, based on a site specific traffic analysis.

4. Landscape buffering and screening of parked cars should be provided on each non-
residential parcel; planting materials, fencing, walls and barriers should be coordinated
to provide a continuous, harmonious screening effect.

5. Parking  lots  and  service  alleys  should  not  dominate  commercial  street  frontage.
Building walls and entries, landscape conditions, and pedestrian areas should create the
primary focus from such streets.

400 Attachment 1:3 Publication, Sep 2019



TWIN OAKS CITY CODE

6. Service alleys and other service zones should not be located in areas that are visible
from public roads or neighborhood entry throughways.

E. Additional Parking Area Landscaping, Buffering And Screening Requirements.

1. A fifty (50) feet wide landscape buffer strip should be implemented on all commercial
parcels where such parcels abut residential or other uses.

2. A minimum of one (1) large canopy tree (minimum three-inch caliper measured three
(3) feet above finished grade) should be planted within the boundary of the parking lot
for every six (6) parking spaces developed, but the number of trees should not be less
than two (2) in any case. Minimum spacing between each tree planted should be twenty
(20) feet.

3. Tree  species  utilized  in  parking  and landscaped areas  should  be  indigenous  to  the
region, or of a horticultural variety that is identified as a USDA Plant Zone 5 material.

4. Minimum  six  (6)  feet  wide  landscape  buffer  strips  or  planting  islands  should  be
provided between each parking bay when there are fifty (50) or more parking spaces
developed within a site. Where any landscape area exists adjacent to a parking space,
screen planting materials should be located to provide separation from the parking area
edge of at least two (2) feet.

5. All parking areas should be screened. At maturity, screening should be a minimum of
two (2) feet above the adjacent curb elevation of the parking spaces screened.

F. Service, Loading And Utilities.

1. All utility services including, but not limited to, meters, vaults, sprinkler risers, vacuum
breakers,  and trash  containers,  and service  or  loading  areas  should be  screened by
evergreen hedges or walls or by screens planted with evergreen vines. These screening
devices should be of a minimum height to extend above and completely block the view
of such areas or devices within one (1) year of the time of installation.

2. Loading areas should be accommodated entirely on-site for each parcel.

3. Parallel parking spaces for delivery vehicles should be provided along service drives or
in specially designated courts or loading areas.

4. Loading docks and trash storage should not be located along street frontages and should
be screened from view with landscape or architectural elements designed as part of the
building structure. Service elements such as loading doors should be integrated with the
building elevation design so as to minimize the visual impact of such elements.

400 Attachment 1:4 Publication, Sep 2019



ZONING REGULATIONS

5. All new installations and replacement of existing exterior utilities such as water, gas,
sewerage, electrical, and communication lines should be installed underground.

6. Where potentially visible from a public street, all mechanical equipment, utility meters,
storage tanks, air-conditioning equipment, and similar equipment should be screened
from view by landscaping or architectural elements integrated into the structure.

400 Attachment 1:5 Publication, Sep 2019



Attachment 2 

Official Zoning Map 





 

RESOLUTION NO.  20-27 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TWIN OAKS BOARD OF ALDERMEN 

APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH 

GERSTNER ELECTRIC, INC. FOR WORK ON WOODLAND OAKS 

DRIVE. 

              

 

 WHEREAS, in March 2019 the City sought formal proposals in response to its invitation 

for bids for the installation of certain decorative streetlight fixtures along Big Bend Road known 

as the “2019 Big Bend Road Lighting Project”; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the proposal was awarded to and the City contracted with Gerstner Electric, 

Inc. (“Gerstner Electric”) for the 2019 Big Bend Road Lighting Project; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, based on the prior professional relationship established with Gerstner 

Electric, the City seeks to contract with Gerstner Electric to perform similar street lighting work 

to be completed in Big Bend at Woodland Oaks; and, 

  

 WHEREAS, Section 145.070.C of the Municipal Code, Exception to the Purchase 

Policy, allows the City to forego the conventional bidding process in various situations where it 

can be demonstrated that the City will receive the best value on a purchase; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board, after giving its prior approval per Section 145.070.C does find 

that, because of the above, the City will receive the best value on a purchase through informal 

discussion and bargaining with Gerstner Electric rather than through the conventional bidding 

process. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF TWIN 

OAKS, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Board of Aldermen hereby approves, and authorizes the Mayor to 

execute, the City-Contractor Agreement with Gerstner Electric, Inc., for street lighting work on 

Woodland Oaks Drive at a price of $6,895.50 (the “Agreement”) substantially in the form of the 

Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by reference. 

 

Section 2. This Resolution is adopted and shall be in full force and effect on and after 

its passage and approval. 

 

 

THIS RESOLUTION WAS PASSED AND APPROVED THE 16th DAY OF DECEMBER 2020, 

BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI. 

 



2 

 

 

 

 

Russ Fortune, Mayor 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

Frank Johnson, City Clerk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



3 

Exhibit 1 

Twin Oaks, Missouri 
CONTRACTOR SERVICES CONTRACT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and effective as of December ___, 2020, by and between the City of 
Twin Oaks, Missouri, a municipal corporation hereinafter referred to as the “City,” and 
Gerstner Electric, Inc., a Missouri limited liability company, hereinafter referred to as 
“Contractor,” with a business mailing address of 2400 Cassens Drive, Fenton, Missouri 
63026;

WHEREAS, the Contractor provided the City with the proposal, attached hereto as Exhibit A 
and incorporated herein by reference, for certain services relating to streetlight installation 
(the “Proposal”), and the City wishes to engage the Contractor as provider of those services 
to the City, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;  

WITNESSETH: That the parties hereto for the considerations hereinafter set forth agree as 
follows:  

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES

Contractor’s services are necessary for the following Project of City: Twin Oaks — Woodland 
Oaks Drive Street Lighting. 

Except as expressly specified herein, Contractor hereby agrees to provide the expertise, 
supplies, supervision, labor, skill, materials, equipment, and apparatus to perform all the 
services and do all the things necessary for the proper completion of the scope of services 
for the Project listed above and which are particularly described in the attached Exhibit A 
incorporated herein.  

The above-reference services (hereinafter referred to as the “Work”) shall be provided by 
the Contractor in accordance with all the provisions of the Proposal and the attached Twin 
Oaks General Conditions which are incorporated herein by reference, and the terms of the 
General Conditions shall prevail over any conflicting terms that may otherwise be adopted 
herein as part of any attachment, including the Proposal.  If there is any conflict between the 
City’s General Conditions (attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) and the 
Proposal, this Agreement and its General Conditions shall prevail.   

II. COMPENSATION

A. Basic Compensation.  The City hereby agrees to pay the Contractor as set forth 
below, as full compensation upon the completion of the Work:

Due at the City’s final acceptance of the Work: $6,895.50 

III. TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENTS

All invoices complete with necessary support documentation shall be submitted to the City 
and payment shall be made by City within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice received 



4 

after satisfactory performance of the Work for the fees, prices, rates, or schedule of values 
set forth below. 

IV. CONTRACT SCHEDULE

Time is of the essence. The work to be performed under this Contract shall be commenced 
on ______  , 2020, and shall be completed in a reasonable manner no later than  

, 2020. Failure to complete the Work by the completion date shall result in a reduction 
in the amount due to the Contractor under this Contract in the amount of $100.00 per day as 
liquated damages, herein acknowledged to be reasonable compensation for such delay, in 
addition to any other remedy that the City may have hereunder. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement as of the effective 

date of Contract first above written. 

GERSTNER ELECTRIC, INC.  CITY OF TWIN OAKS 

By By 

Title Title 

DATED:     DATED:    

ATTEST: 
City Clerk 



5 

 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI 

CONTRACTOR SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
Independent Contractor.  The Contractor shall be and operate as an independent contractor in the performance of this Contract.  The 
Contractor shall have complete charge of the personnel engaged in the performance of the Work, and all persons employed by the 
Contractor shall be employees of said Contractor and not employees of the City in any respect. 

Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor shall comply with all applicable City ordinances and other laws and regulations, Federal, State, 
and any political subdivision thereof, including but not limited to, unemployment and workers' compensation, occupational safety, equal 
employment and affirmative action and wage and price laws insofar as applicable to the performance of the Contract. Specifically, 
Contractor shall comply with the following state law requirements: 

 Work Authorization Program.  If the Contract is for services expected to cost more than $5,000.00, the Contractor shall comply 
with Section 285.530 RSMo., pertaining to enrollment and participation in a federal work authorization program (as defined 
therein) and shall provide verification through an affidavit (attached as Exhibit B) that the Contractor (1) does not knowingly 
employ any person who is an unauthorized alien in connection with the Contract and (2) is enrolled in a federal work 
authorization program and provide documentary proof thereof.  The affidavit shall contain the notarized signature of the 
registered agent, legal representative or corporate officer of the business entity including but not limited to the human resources 
director or their equivalent. 

 Proof of Lawful Presence.  Section 208.009 RSMo., requires that all applicants at the time of application for any contract 
provided by a local government provide “affirmative proof that the applicant is a citizen or a permanent resident of the United 
States or is lawfully present in the United States.”  Contractor’s affirmative proof must be established through (i) a Missouri 
driver's license, (ii) any “documentary evidence recognized by the department of revenue when processing an application for 
a driver's license,” or (iii) “any document issued by the federal government that confirms an alien's lawful presence in the United 
States.”  §208.009.3. 

 Contractor further agrees to pay not less than the prevailing hourly wage of wages set out on the wage order attached hereto 
as Exhibit C and made part of the specification for Work under this Agreement, to all workers performing any work under this 
Contract.  The Contractor will forfeit a penalty to the City of $100 per day for each worker that is paid less than the prevailing 
rate for any Work done under the contract by the Contractor.   

Subcontracts.  The Contractor shall not subcontract any of the Work to be performed by it hereunder without the express written consent 
of the City.  In addition, this Contract shall not be assigned by the Contractor. 

Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor agrees to defend with counsel selected by the City, and indemnify 
and hold harmless the City, its officers, engineers, representatives, agents and employees from and against any and all liabilities, 
damages, losses, claims or suits, including costs and attorneys' fees, for or on account of any kind of injury to person, bodily or otherwise, 
or death, or damage to or destruction of property, or any other circumstances, sustained by the City or others,  arising from Contractor's 
breach of the Contract or out of services and operations performed hereunder by the Contractor, including the City's reliance on or use 
of the services or products provided by the Contractor under the terms of this agreement. The Contractor shall not be liable for any loss 
or damage attributable solely to the negligence of the City.  To the extent required by law to enforce this provision, Contractor agrees that 
this indemnification requires Contractor to obtain insurance in amounts specified herein and that Contractor has had the opportunity to 
recover the costs of such insurance in the Compensation set forth in this Agreement. 

Insurance.  Contractor shall furnish the City the certificates of insurance for workers' compensation, public liability, and property damage, 
including automobile coverage in the amounts specified by the City in the request for proposals, if any, otherwise in the amounts stated 
on Exhibit D, but unless otherwise provided shall be no less than the maximum amounts of liability set forth in Chapter 537.610 RSMo., 
applicable to political subdivisions.  The policies of insurance shall be in such form and shall be issued by such company or companies 
as may be satisfactory to the City.  The City, and such additional persons and entities as may be deemed to have an exposure to liability 
as a result of the performance of the Contractor's work, as determined by the City, shall be named as additional insured and the applicable 
insurer shall owe the City a duty of defense on all insurance policies required hereunder. The Contractor shall provide an Additional 
Insured Endorsement to the City that shall be approved by the City prior to commencement of any Work. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Contractor shall maintain Professional Liability "errors and omissions" insurance in the form for the 
coverages satisfactory to City as indicated in the request for proposals, if any, otherwise as stated on attached Exhibit D, if any, but in 
no event less than the maximum amounts of liability set forth in Chapter 537.610 RSMo. applicable to political subdivisions.  The City and 
Contractor waive all rights against each other for damages caused by fire or other perils to the extent covered by Builder's Risk or any 
other property insurance, except such rights as they may have to the proceeds of such insurance; provided that nothing herein shall be 
deemed a waiver of the City’s sovereign immunity relative to any claim against the City. 



6 

 

Nondisclosure.  The Contractor agrees that it will not divulge to third parties without the written consent of the City any information 
obtained from or through the City in connection with the performance of this Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude disclosure of 
information by the City. 

Changes.  No change in this Contract shall be made except in writing prior to the change in the Work or terms being performed.  The 
Contractor shall make any and all changes in the Work without invalidating this Contract when specifically ordered to do so in writing by 
the City. The Contractor, prior to the commencement of such changed or revised Work, shall submit promptly to the City, a written cost 
or credit proposal for such revised Work.  If the City and Contractor shall not be able to agree as to the amount, either in consideration of 
time or money to be allowed or deducted, it shall nevertheless be the duty of Contractor, upon written notice from the City, to immediately 
proceed with such alteration or change, and Contractor shall be compensated the reasonable value of such Work.  No Work or change 
shall be undertaken or compensated for without prior written authorization from the City. 

Termination.  The City shall have the right to terminate the Contract at any time for any reason by giving the Contractor written notice to 
such effect.  The City shall pay to the Contractor in full satisfaction and discharge of all amounts owing to the Contractor under the 
Contract an amount equal to the cost of all Work performed by the Contractor up to such termination date, less all amounts previously 
paid to the Contractor on account of the Contract Price.  The Contractor shall submit to the City its statement for the aforesaid amount, in 
such reasonable detail as the City shall request, within thirty (30) days after such date of termination.  The City shall not be liable to the 
Contractor for any damages on account of such termination for loss of anticipated future profits with respect to the remainder of the Work. 

Multi-year contracts; Non-appropriation.  Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the City is obligated only to make the 
payments set forth in the attached Contract as may lawfully be made from funds budgeted and appropriated for that purpose during the 
City's then current fiscal year at the discretion of the City.  If no funds are appropriated or otherwise made legally available to make the 
required payments for this Agreement during the next occurring fiscal year (an "Event of Nonappropriation"), this Agreement will terminate 
at the end of the then current fiscal year as if terminated expressly.  The failure or inability of the City to appropriate funds for this 
Agreement in any subsequent fiscal year shall not be deemed a breach of this Agreement by any party.   If applicable, this Agreement 
may be annually renewed at each fiscal year by inclusion of specific appropriation for this Agreement, from year to year not to exceed the 
maximum renewal period or term as set forth in the Agreement. 

Accounting.  During the period of this Contract, the Contractor shall maintain books of accounts of its expenses and charges in 
connection with this Contract in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and practices.  The City shall at reasonable 
times have access to these books and accounts to the extent required to verify all invoices submitted hereunder by the Contractor. 

Correction Period.  Contractor hereby expressly guarantees the aforesaid Work as to workmanship and quality of materials used in 
connection herewith for a term of one (1) year, commencing on the date of final acceptance by the City, and binds itself, its successors 
or assigns, to make all repairs or replacements which may become necessary within said period due to construction defects and 
nonconformity with the City specifications or contract. The Contractor warrants to the City that all materials and equipment furnished 
under the Contract and incorporated in the Work will be new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work will be of good quality, free 
from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract.  The Contractor’s general warranty and any additional or special warranties 
are not limited by the Contractor’s obligations to specifically correct defective or nonconforming Work a set forth herein, nor are they 
limited by any other remedies provided in the Contract. 

Request for Proposals.  If the City issued a request for proposals in connection with the Work, such request for proposals and the 
proposal of the Contractor in response thereto are incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Contract.  In case of any 
conflicts between the request for proposals and the executed Contractor Services Contract or proposal of the Contractor, the requirements 
of the City’s Request for Proposal and this executed Contract shall control and supersede unless a change thereto is specifically stated 
in this Contract (including Exhibit A, “Scope of Work”). 

Project Records and Work Product.  The Contractor shall provide the City with copies of all documents pertinent to the Work which 
shall include, without limitation, reports, correspondence, meeting minutes, and originals of all deliverables. The City shall own all right, 
title and interest, including without limitations, all copyrights and intellectual property rights, to all documents and Work Product of the 
Contractor created in performance of or relating to this Contract.  Contractor agrees to take all steps reasonably requested by the City to 
evidence, maintain, and defend the City's ownership rights in the Work Product. 

Site Operations.  Where appropriate, the City will arrange for right of entry to any property at the request of the Contractor for the purpose 
of performing studies, tests and evaluations in connection with the Work. 

Personnel.  The Work shall be performed exclusively by the personnel of the Contractor identified in the Contractor's proposal and no 
other personnel of the Contractor shall perform any of the Work without the express written approval of the City. 

Representations.  Contractor agrees that it has not relied on any representations or warranties of the City, oral or written, other than 
expressly identified in this Contract.  The parties agree the Contract represents the entire agreement between the parties. 

Governing/Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the internal laws 
of the State of Missouri, without regard to its principles of conflict of laws. 

Other Special Provisions.  The special provisions set forth on Exhibit A are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 



7 

 

 
     

EXHIBIT A 
Proposal   



Fenton, MO 63026

2400 Cassens Dr

Gerstner Electric, Inc.

BJ Boyer

636-680-5017

636-680-5067

Contact:

Phone:

Fax:

Quote To: Mr. Frank Johnson

City Clerk

City of Twin Oaks

1381 Bid Bend Rd

Twin Oaks, MO 63021

Phone: 636-225-7873

Email: FJohnson@CityofTwinOaks.com

AMOUNTITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE

CONCRETE BASE  2,025.00EA 1.00        10  2,025.00

2" CONDUIT  15.70LF 40.00        20  628.00

#8 LIGHTING WIRE  1.75LF 90.00        30  157.50

CONNECT TO AMEREN POWER SUPPLY  395.00EA 1.00        40  395.00

FURNISHED LIGHT POLE, GEI-SUPPLIED 

FIXTURE

 3,690.00EA 1.00        50  3,690.00

GRAND TOTAL  6,895.50

Page 1 of 1





9 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 
 

N/A 
 

  



10 

 

Exhibit D 
Insurance 

 
Insurance in an amount acceptable to the City.  

 



RESOLUTION NO.  20-28 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TWIN OAKS BOARD OF ALDERMEN 
APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH NUTOYS 
LEISURE PRODUCTS, INC., FOR INSTALLATION OF SOFT 
PLAYGROUND SURFACE.  

WHEREAS, NuToys Leisure Product, Inc. (“NuToys”) previously installed the soft 
surface at the Twin Oaks Park playground; and, 

WHEREAS, based on the prior professional relationship established with NuToys, the 
City seeks to contract with NuToys to perform similar soft playground surface installation; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 145.070.C of the Municipal Code, Exception to the Purchase 
Policy, allows the City to forego the conventional bidding process in various situations where it 
can be demonstrated that the City will receive the best value on a purchase; and, 

WHEREAS, the Board, after giving its prior approval per Section 145.070.C does find 
that, because of the above, the City will receive the best value on a purchase through informal 
discussion and bargaining with NuToys rather than through the conventional bidding process.  

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF TWIN 
OAKS, MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The Board of Aldermen hereby approves, and authorizes the Mayor to 
execute, the City-Contractor Agreement with NuToys Leisure Products, Inc., for the installation 
of a soft playground surface in Twin Oaks Park at a price of $6,065.00 (the “Agreement”) 
substantially in the form of the Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by 
reference. 

Section 2. This Resolution is adopted and shall be in full force and effect on and after 
its passage and approval. 

THIS RESOLUTION WAS PASSED AND APPROVED THE 16th DAY OF DECEMBER 2020, 
BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI. 

Russ Fortune, Mayor 

Attest: 

Frank Johnson, City Clerk 



Exhibit 1 

Twin Oaks, Missouri 
CONTRACTOR SERVICES CONTRACT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and effective as of     , 2020, by and between the City of Twin Oaks, 
Missouri, a municipal corporation hereinafter referred to as the “City,” and NuToys Leisure Products, Inc., 
an Illinois corporation, hereinafter referred to as “Contractor,” with a business mailing address of 915 
Hillgrove, La Grange, Illinois, 60525. 

WHEREAS, the Contractor provided the City with the proposal, attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated herein by reference, for installation of soft playground surface, as described on Exhibit A (the 
“Proposal”), and the City wishes to engage the Contractor as provider of those services to the City, in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement;  

WITNESSETH: That the parties hereto for the considerations hereinafter set forth agree as follows:  

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Contractor’s services are necessary for the following Project of City: Soft Playground Surface Installation — 
Twin Oaks Park.   

Except as expressly specified herein, Contractor hereby agrees to provide the expertise, supplies, 
supervision, labor, skill, materials, equipment, and apparatus to perform all the services and do all the things 
necessary for the proper completion of the scope of services for the Project listed above and which _______ 
services are particularly described in the attached Exhibit A.  

The above-referenced services (hereinafter referred to as the “Work”) shall be provided by the Contractor in 
accordance with all the provisions of the Proposal and the attached Twin Oaks General Conditions which 
are incorporated herein by reference, and the terms of the General Conditions shall prevail over any 
conflicting terms that may otherwise be adopted herein as part of any attachment, including the Proposal.  If 
there is any conflict between the City’s General Conditions (attached hereto and incorporated herein by 
reference) and the Proposal, this Agreement and its General Conditions shall prevail.   

II. COMPENSATION 

Basic Compensation. The City hereby agrees to pay the Contractor as set forth below, as full compensation 
upon the completion of the Work: 
 
  Due at the City’s final acceptance of the Work:   $6,065.00  

 
III. TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENTS 

 
All invoices complete with necessary support documentation shall be submitted to the City and payment 
shall be made by City within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice received after satisfactory performance 
of the Work for the fees, prices, rates, or schedule of values set forth below. 
 

IV. CONTRACT SCHEDULE 
 
Time is of the essence. The Work shall be commenced on       , 2020, and shall be completed 
in a reasonable manner no later than      , 2020. Failure to complete the Work by the 
completion date shall result in a reduction in the amount due to the Contractor under this Contract in the 



 2 

amount of $100.00 per day as liquated damages, herein acknowledged to be reasonable compensation for 
such delay, in addition to any other remedy that the City may have hereunder. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement as of the effective date of Contract 
first above written. 

                                               
 
NUTOYS LEISURE PRODUCTS, INC.     CITY OF TWIN OAKS 
         
 
   
By                                                           By                                                           

       
Title   Title                                                          

         
   
DATED:          DATED:             
  
   ATTEST:       
     City Clerk 

 

 



 3 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI 
CONTRACTOR SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
Independent Contractor.  The Contractor shall be and operate as an independent contractor in the performance of this Contract.  The Contractor 
shall have complete charge of the personnel engaged in the performance of the Work, and all persons employed by the Contractor shall be 
employees of said Contractor and not employees of the City in any respect. 

Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor shall comply with all applicable City ordinances and other laws and regulations, Federal, State, and any 
political subdivision thereof, including but not limited to, unemployment and workers' compensation, occupational safety, equal employment and 
affirmative action and wage and price laws insofar as applicable to the performance of the Contract. Specifically, Contractor shall comply with the 
following state law requirements: 

• Work Authorization Program.  If the Contract is for services expected to cost more than $5,000.00, the Contractor shall comply with 
Section 285.530 RSMo., pertaining to enrollment and participation in a federal work authorization program (as defined therein) and shall 
provide verification through an affidavit (attached as Exhibit B) that the Contractor (1) does not knowingly employ any person who is an 
unauthorized alien in connection with the Contract and (2) is enrolled in a federal work authorization program and provide documentary 
proof thereof.  The affidavit shall contain the notarized signature of the registered agent, legal representative or corporate officer of the 
business entity including but not limited to the human resources director or their equivalent. 

• Proof of Lawful Presence.  Section 208.009 RSMo., requires that all applicants at the time of application for any contract provided by a 
local government provide “affirmative proof that the applicant is a citizen or a permanent resident of the United States or is lawfully present 
in the United States.”  Contractor’s affirmative proof must be established through (i) a Missouri driver's license, (ii) any “documentary 
evidence recognized by the department of revenue when processing an application for a driver's license,” or (iii) “any document issued 
by the federal government that confirms an alien's lawful presence in the United States.”  §208.009.3. 

Subcontracts.  The Contractor shall not subcontract any of the Work to be performed by it hereunder without the express written consent of the 
City.  In addition, this Contract shall not be assigned by the Contractor. 

Indemnification.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor agrees to defend with counsel selected by the City, and indemnify and hold 
harmless the City, its officers, engineers, representatives, agents and employees from and against any and all liabilities, damages, losses, claims 
or suits, including costs and attorneys' fees, for or on account of any kind of injury to person, bodily or otherwise, or death, or damage to or destruction 
of property, or any other circumstances, sustained by the City or others,  arising from Contractor's breach of the Contract or out of services and 
operations performed hereunder by the Contractor, including the City's reliance on or use of the services or products provided by the Contractor 
under the terms of this agreement. The Contractor shall not be liable for any loss or damage attributable solely to the negligence of the City.  To the 
extent required by law to enforce this provision, Contractor agrees that this indemnification requires Contractor to obtain insurance in amounts 
specified herein and that Contractor has had the opportunity to recover the costs of such insurance in the Compensation set forth in this Agreement. 

Insurance.  Contractor shall furnish the City the certificates of insurance for workers' compensation, public liability, and property damage, including 
automobile coverage in the amounts specified by the City in the request for proposals, if any, otherwise in the amounts stated on Exhibit C, but 
unless otherwise provided shall be no less than the maximum amounts of liability set forth in Chapter 537.610 RSMo., applicable to political 
subdivisions.  The policies of insurance shall be in such form and shall be issued by such company or companies as may be satisfactory to the City.  
The City, and such additional persons and entities as may be deemed to have an exposure to liability as a result of the performance of the 
Contractor's work, as determined by the City, shall be named as additional insured and the applicable insurer shall owe the City a duty of defense 
on all insurance policies required hereunder. The Contractor shall provide an Additional Insured Endorsement to the City that shall be approved by 
the City prior to commencement of any Work. 

In addition to the foregoing, the Contractor shall maintain Professional Liability "errors and omissions" insurance in the form for the coverages 
satisfactory to City as indicated in the request for proposals, if any, otherwise as stated on attached Exhibit C, if any, but in no event less than the 
maximum amounts of liability set forth in Chapter 537.610 RSMo. applicable to political subdivisions.  The City and Contractor waive all rights against 
each other for damages caused by fire or other perils to the extent covered by Builder's Risk or any other property insurance, except such rights as 
they may have to the proceeds of such insurance; provided that nothing herein shall be deemed a waiver of the City’s sovereign immunity relative 
to any claim against the City. 

Nondisclosure.  The Contractor agrees that it will not divulge to third parties without the written consent of the City any information obtained from 
or through the City in connection with the performance of this Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude disclosure of information by the City. 

Changes.  No change in this Contract shall be made except in writing prior to the change in the Work or terms being performed.  The Contractor 
shall make any and all changes in the Work without invalidating this Contract when specifically ordered to do so in writing by the City. The Contractor, 
prior to the commencement of such changed or revised Work, shall submit promptly to the City, a written cost or credit proposal for such revised 
Work.  If the City and Contractor shall not be able to agree as to the amount, either in consideration of time or money to be allowed or deducted, it 



 4 

shall nevertheless be the duty of Contractor, upon written notice from the City, to immediately proceed with such alteration or change, and Contractor 
shall be compensated the reasonable value of such Work.  No Work or change shall be undertaken or compensated for without prior written 
authorization from the City. 

Termination.  The City shall have the right to terminate the Contract at any time for any reason by giving the Contractor written notice to such effect.  
The City shall pay to the Contractor in full satisfaction and discharge of all amounts owing to the Contractor under the Contract an amount equal to 
the cost of all Work performed by the Contractor up to such termination date, less all amounts previously paid to the Contractor on account of the 
Contract Price.  The Contractor shall submit to the City its statement for the aforesaid amount, in such reasonable detail as the City shall request, 
within thirty (30) days after such date of termination.  The City shall not be liable to the Contractor for any damages on account of such termination 
for loss of anticipated future profits with respect to the remainder of the Work. 

Multi-year contracts; Non-appropriation.  Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the City is obligated only to make the payments 
set forth in the attached Contract as may lawfully be made from funds budgeted and appropriated for that purpose during the City's then current 
fiscal year at the discretion of the City.  If no funds are appropriated or otherwise made legally available to make the required payments for this 
Agreement during the next occurring fiscal year (an "Event of Nonappropriation"), this Agreement will terminate at the end of the then current fiscal 
year as if terminated expressly.  The failure or inability of the City to appropriate funds for this Agreement in any subsequent fiscal year shall not be 
deemed a breach of this Agreement by any party.   If applicable, this Agreement may be annually renewed at each fiscal year by inclusion of specific 
appropriation for this Agreement, from year to year not to exceed the maximum renewal period or term as set forth in the Agreement. 

Accounting.  During the period of this Contract, the Contractor shall maintain books of accounts of its expenses and charges in connection with 
this Contract in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and practices.  The City shall at reasonable times have access to these 
books and accounts to the extent required to verify all invoices submitted hereunder by the Contractor. 

Correction Period.  Contractor hereby expressly guarantees the aforesaid Work as to workmanship and quality of materials used in connection 
herewith for a term of one (1) year, commencing on the date of final acceptance by the City, and binds itself, its successors or assigns, to make all 
repairs or replacements which may become necessary within said period due to construction defects and nonconformity with the City specifications 
or contract. The Contractor warrants to the City that all materials and equipment furnished under the Contract and incorporated in the Work will be 
new unless otherwise specified, and that all Work will be of good quality, free from faults and defects and in conformance with the Contract.  The 
Contractor’s general warranty and any additional or special warranties are not limited by the Contractor’s obligations to specifically correct defective 
or nonconforming Work a set forth herein, nor are they limited by any other remedies provided in the Contract. 

Request for Proposals.  If the City issued a request for proposals in connection with the Work, such request for proposals and the proposal of the 
Contractor in response thereto are incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Contract.  In case of any conflicts between the request 
for proposals and the executed Contractor Services Contract or proposal of the Contractor, the requirements of the City’s Request for Proposal and 
this executed Contract shall control and supersede unless a change thereto is specifically stated in this Contract (including Exhibit A, “Scope of 
Work”). 

Project Records and Work Product.  The Contractor shall provide the City with copies of all documents pertinent to the Work which shall include, 
without limitation, reports, correspondence, meeting minutes, and originals of all deliverables. The City shall own all right, title and interest, including 
without limitations, all copyrights and intellectual property rights, to all documents and Work Product of the Contractor created in performance of or 
relating to this Contract.  Contractor agrees to take all steps reasonably requested by the City to evidence, maintain, and defend the City's ownership 
rights in the Work Product. 

Site Operations.  Where appropriate, the City will arrange for right of entry to any property at the request of the Contractor for the purpose of 
performing studies, tests and evaluations in connection with the Work. 

Personnel.  The Work shall be performed exclusively by the personnel of the Contractor identified in the Contractor's proposal and no other 
personnel of the Contractor shall perform any of the Work without the express written approval of the City. 

Representations.  Contractor agrees that it has not relied on any representations or warranties of the City, oral or written, other than expressly 
identified in this Contract.  The parties agree the Contract represents the entire agreement between the parties. 

Governing/Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and interpreted in accordance with the internal laws of the State 
of Missouri, without regard to its principles of conflict of laws. 

Other Special Provisions.  There are no special provisions set forth as part of this Contractor Services Agreement. 
 
     



 5 

EXHIBIT A 
Proposal 

 
 

 
  



Please verify the Bill To and Ship To address information when ordering.

BILL TO: SHIP TO:

City of Twin Oaks Twin Oaks Park

1381 Big Bend Road Ann Ave.

Twin Oaks, MO 63021 Twin Oaks, MO 63021

Attn:   Theresa Gonzalez

QTY. NO. DESCRIPTION EACH TOTAL

1 Lot PlayBound Poured-in-Place:

Cut out and reinstall 3-1/2" thick (8' CFH)

(thickness subject to nominal variation)

with top surface in 50% Color/50% Black

speckled mix for perimeter of existing surface.

Standard Aromatic Binder.

TOTAL INSTALLED PRICE 6,065$         

* Surface America's PlayBound Poured-in-Place system is IPEMA Certified.

*

*

*

*

*

*

Signature                                                    Title                                              Date

MTWI20CIT2.JLF

CALL 24 HOURS PRIOR TO DELIVERY:  John Williams (636) 225-7873

TERMS:  Our terms are net 30 to tax supported institutions or those who have an account with us.  1-1/2% 

per month interest will be charged on past due accounts.

ORDER FORM/PROPOSAL

October 27, 2020

PROJECT NAME: Twin Oaks Park

Above prices are in effect for 45 days.

Please include a copy of your Sales Tax Exemption Certificate with Order Placement.  Sales Tax 

will be charged, if applicable.

Installation performed by Certified Surface America Installer.   

Please note, color will not match existing;  Surface America recommends going with a 

coordinating colr and make perimeter look like a graphic.

Purchaser shall be responsible for security, as needed, to prevent vandalism and/or damage of 

any type to the surface during the installation process, curing time, and after the installation is 

completed.   

Ease of access into area is necessary for amount estimate;  if access if difficult, please advise 

and request a requote.

Teal, Yellow, Purple and Primary Red are considered Premium colors.  If one of the listed colors 

is selected for more than 25% of the top surface the unit price will be increased by $0.40 per Sq. 

Ft.

Installation of surfacing system shall occur only when minimum ambient temperatures are 40 

degrees For above throughout the day and overnight.



 6 

EXHIBIT B 
AFFIDAVIT OF PARTICIPATION IN 

FEDERAL WORK AUTHORIZATION PROGRAM 
 

 
Comes now      , first being duly sworn, on my oath and affirms that  
     (“Company”) is enrolled and will continue to participate in federal 
work authorization program with respect to employees that will work in connection with the 
contracted services related to and any incidental items associated with this work for the duration 
of the contract, if awarded, in accordance with Section 285.530.2, Revised Statutes of Missouri.   I 
also affirm that the Company does not and will not knowingly employ a person who is an 
unauthorized alien in connection with the contracted services for the duration of the contract, if 
awarded.  Attached to this affidavit is documentation of the Company’s participation in a federal 
work authorization program. 

(ATTACH DOCUMENTATION SHOWING THAT COMPANY PARTICIAPTES IN FEDERAL WORK 
AUTHORIZATION PROGRAM.  ALSO ATTACH DRIVER’S LICENSE OR OTHER PROOF OF LAWFUL 
PRESENCE, AS PROVIDED IN THE GENERAL CONDITIONS – 208.009 RSMo.) 

 
In Affirmation thereof, the facts stated above are true and correct (The undersigned understands that 
false statements made in this filing are subject to the penalties provided under Section 575.040, RSMo.). 
 
 
               
Signature (person with authority)     Printed Name 
 
 
               
Title         Date 
 
State of Missouri   ) 

) ss. 
County of     ) 
 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ day of ______________, 2020. 
 
 

      
My commission expires:     Notary Public 
 

 
 

  



 7 

Exhibit C 
 

Insurance 
 

Unless otherwise instructed in writing by the City, the Contractor shall obtain and maintain during the 
term of the Project and the Contractor Services Contract the insurance coverages at least equal to the 
coverages below, and as further provided in the General Conditions, but no event less than the individual 
and combined sovereign immunity limits established by Section 537.610 R.S.Mo. Insurance policies 
providing required coverages shall be with companies licensed to do business in the State of Missouri 
and rated no less than AA by Best or equivalent.  All costs of obtaining and maintaining insurance 
coverages are included in the proposal and no additional payment will be made therefor by the City. 
 

Comprehensive General Liability Insurance 
(including coverage for Bodily Injury and  
Property Damage) 

$435,849 per occurrence 
$2,905,664 aggregate 

Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance 
(including coverage for Bodily Injury and  
Property Damage) 

$435,849 per occurrence 
$2,905,664 aggregate 

  
 
In addition, the Contractor and all subcontractors shall provide Worker’s Compensation Insurance in at 
least statutory amounts for all workers employed at the Project site.  Unless instructed otherwise, the 
Contractor shall also provide a policy of Builder’s Risk Insurance in the amount of 100% of the complete 
insurable value of the Project, which policy shall protect the Contractor and the City, as their respective 
interests shall appear.  Before commencing any work, the Contractor shall provide to the City certificates 
of insurance evidencing the issuance and maintenance in force of the coverages required by this Exhibit 
D.  Each such certificate shall show the City, and such other governmental agencies as may be required 
by the City to be insured by underlying grant or contract relating to the Project, as an additional insured, 
and shall bear an endorsement precluding cancellation of or change in coverage without at least thirty 
(30) days written notice to the City.  Any self-insurance or deductible above $50,000.00 is not permitted. 
 
The City may waive any insurance coverages or amounts required by this Exhibit when the City deems 
such waiver may be in the interest of the public health, safety, and general welfare. 
 



CUNNINGHAM, VOGEL & ROST, P.C. 
legal counselors to local government 

333 S. Kirkwood Road, Suite 300 

St. Louis, Missouri 63122 
TEL:  314.446.0800 

FAX:  314.446.0801 

www.municipalfirm.com 

 

CITY ATTORNEY REPORT 

 

TO:  Mayor & Board of Aldermen, City of Twin Oaks 

 

CC:  Frank Johnson, City Clerk   

FROM: Paul Rost, City Attorney   

RE: City Attorney Report  

DATE:  December 8, 2020 

 
 

Summary of Zoning Code  

As stated previously, the Planning & Zoning Commission has completed its review and has made 

a recommendation for amendments to the City’s Zoning Code, Chapter 400, of the Municipal Code 

including an updated zoning district map.  

The following is a summary of the major changes to the Zoning Code: 

• Definitions thoroughly reviewed. Unused definitions removed, unclear definitions 

revised, uses added, other new definitions to yards added 

• Changes to where accessory structures can be located and allowable sizes 

o An accessory structure is a “structure, the use of which is clearly customarily 

incidental and subordinate to the principal building or use on the same lot. 

Examples include gazebos, detached pergolas, unenclosed outbuildings, pavilions, 

arbors, playground equipment, and similar structures.” 

o Accessory buildings are structures that are “roofed building, enclosed on all sides, 

clearly incident to and located on the same lot occupied by the principal use or 

building.” 

o So, now, the accessory building or structure’s size and location is proportionate to 

the size of the lot on which is proposed to be built: 

Lot Size (square feet) Maximum Cubic Feet 

Maximum Height 

(feet) 

Up to 10,980 960 12 ½ 

10,981 to 21,780 1440 12 ½ 

21,781 to 43,560 1960 12 ½ 

Greater than 43,560 3072 12 ½ 



City Attorney Report 

December 6, 2020 

Page 2  

 

 

 

Setbacks for Accessory Buildings/Structures: 

Lot Size (square feet) 
Side Yard 

Setback (feet) 

Rear Yard 

Setback (feet) 

Up to 10,980 11 5 

10,981 to 21,780 11 5 

21,781 to 43,560 16.5 7.5 

Greater than 43,560 22 10 

 

o Residents are still allowed to have both an attached and detached garage on a 

single lot, each up to a maximum of 700 square fee 

• Total revamp of parking regulations on residential property (no more references to 

parking pads, parking pad connector, etc.; clarifies commercial vehicle regulations, and 

RVs, etc.).  

o Circular drives are now allowed provided they are separated by more than 50 feet 

and do not exceed 13 feet in width 

o No more than 2 Recreational vehicles and off-road vehicles parked on a lot if not 

stored under roof; such vehicles if parked outdoors, must be parked on a driveway 

behind the front elevation line (A line that follows the contours of the elevation of 

the principal building facing the front lot line and that extends out from the 

corners of that elevation on a line generally parallel to the front lot line to the lot 

lines intersecting the applicable front lot line) 

o Vehicles have to be parked on a driveway (if not in a garage) 

o Heavy-duty commercial vehicles cannot be parked in the A&B district (except if 

delivering or picking up merchandise for delivery or employed in performing a 

repair or construction service may park for the purpose of making such pickup, 

delivery or repair) – Heavy Duty means a commercial vehicle with a gross vehicle 

weight of 14,000 pounds or more -- primarily Class 4-9 trucks (see attached) but 

also includes heavy construction equipment, such as excavators, backhoes, 

bulldozers, dump trucks, graders, and cranes, tracked vehicles, etc. 

o Driveways can now be closer than 11 feet from the property line. The smaller the 

lot, the closer to the property line: 

 Lot Size (square feet) and street frontage of > 50 feet* Side Yard Setback (feet) 

 Up to 10,980 1 

 10,981 to 21,780 3 

 21,781 to 43,560 6 

 Greater than 43,560 10 

*Street frontage of 50 feet or Less: Notwithstanding the above and regardless of lot size, 

where a lot’s street frontage is less than fifty feet, the side yard setback is one (1) foot.  

 



City Attorney Report 

December 6, 2020 

Page 3  

 

 

o No new driveway shall extend beyond the rear elevation line of the dwelling 

unless connected to a detached garage 

o New gravel drives still not allowed 

• Clarifications for development plan process in Commercial District; such as a clear 

process for amending already approved final development plans 

• Review of uses in Commercial District 

• Addition of special event permit process for limited time activities 

• Cleanup of official titles throughout of who administers and enforces zoning code 

• Clearly defines P&Z makeup (7 citizen members, the Mayor, and a Board representative, 

for a total of 9 members) 

• Addition of clear and concise standards for Board of Adjustment to grant a variance 

• Slight Change to Urban Design Guidelines to allow “fiber cement panels and siding” in 

the Commercial District (See Section A.5) 

• Updated the official zoning map 

 

  



City Attorney Report 

December 6, 2020 

Page 4  

 

 

 



City Clerk’s Report 
City of Twin Oaks, Board of Alderman 

December 11, 2020 

General Updates 
Restaurant Assistance 

● Staff reached out to every restaurant in the City with a phone call to offer assistance and 
inform them of the temporary outdoor dining extension (where applicable). Received one 
specific request for assistance from Imo’s in regards to an issue with the traffic light at 
the north exit to the shopping center on Big Bend. It reportedly will sometimes not cycle, 
leaving drivers unable to go west or north.  

● Staff contacted St. Louis County’s Traffic Department to investigate, who stated that the 
light uses a video detection system and that they occasionally have had issues with 
these systems failing to detect drivers. They asked that drivers report any problems to 
their signals malfunction hotline when they occur.  

 
Additional Signage for Crescent Road 

● The City is currently exploring adding additional signage to Crescent Road that would 
clearly state where the one-way traffic begins with the goal of educating drivers to stay in 
their proper lane. The City may also look at restriping the centerline for added visibility.  

 
Dog Bite  

● St. Louis Animal Control is continuing to investigate this incident. They have received 
statements from both parties and are waiting on a report from the veterinary. Officer 
Wehner will work with the County to issue any ordinance violations following the 
investigation’s conclusion.  
 

Aldi’s Development 
● BFA estimates they will have their review of the preliminary plans completed by Dec. 16. 

 
Dunkin Donuts 

● Based on recent discussions with the developer, construction could begin on this project 
in the next several weeks. Lease negotiations that are nearly finalized had partly been 
responsible for delaying the start date.  

Project Updates 
Park Paths Patching and Sealing 

● The City received bids from Topps Paving and Sealing for patching two sections (101 
square yards total) for $3,451 and for seal coating approximately 2,428 square yards for 
$3,035.  



● Contracts for the work have been sent to Topps for approval. Project is planned for 
spring 2021.  

 
Playground Surface Repair 

● The playground surface in the swings area has started to separate from the concrete 
edge. This two-step project will first involve Focal Pointe cutting and removing a 1’ wide 
strip around the perimeter and then NuToys will install pour-in-place isurface.  

● The cost for the removal by Focal Pointe is $1,487 and the cost for the install of new 
surface by NuToys is $6,065, for a total cost of $7,552. Work will be done in the spring 
as it requires consistent warmer temperatures.  

 
Woodland Oaks Light 

● Gerstner estimates the cost of replacing the broken fixture and installing the pole at 
$6,895.50. It assumes trenching a similar amount of conduit as the Boly Entrance 
project.  

 
Rose Garden Irrigation 

● We received an estimate for $1,200 from Alternative Rain to replace the drip irrigation 
system in the Rose Garden with a spray system. Work was completed on Dec. 9.  

 
Creek Bed Repair 

● DJM completed the project on Dec. 1.  
 
Crescent Road Sidewalk Project 

● Topographic survey completed on Nov. 23. BFA expects to have preliminary design 
completed by the end of December. 

 
Autumn Leaf Runoff 

● City Attorney Paul Rost has drafted an initial agreement for a Stormwater Management 
Easement. We will be meeting with BFA on Monday to discuss next steps on finalizing 
the agreement.  

 
Autumn Leaf Sewer Backups 

● Approval for this work was issued on Nov. 17. Contractor is now estimating work to 
begin on Dec. 16. We will send out information to residents once it’s confirmed.  

 
Crescent Triangle Footbridge 

● Installed and completed by maintenance staff on December 9.  


	1) REGULAR MEETING CALLED TO ORDER
	3) ROLL CALL
	4) APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	5a) 12-02-20 Board of Aldermen Regular Meeting Minutes.pdf
	MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE                                           BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF TWIN OAKS,
	VIRTURAL MEETING
	ST. LOUIS COUNTY, MISSOURI
	Also Present:   Frank Johnson, City Clerk
	Erin Seele, Attorney from Cunningham, Vogel & Rost
	Permanent records are kept of all minutes and ordinances.  Each ordinance is read a minimum of two times by title, unless otherwise noted.
	General Updates
	Project Updates

	There being no further business, Alderman Milne motioned to adjourn the regular meeting at 8:21 p.m., seconded by Alderman Whitmore and the motion passed with the unanimous consent of the Board of those present.

	5b) 12-02-2020 Workshop Meeting Minutes.pdf
	MINUTES OF THE WORK SESSION
	VIRTURAL MEETING
	CITY OF TWIN OAKS BOARD OF ALDERMEN
	WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 2, 2020

	5c) 12-18-20  Bills List.pdf
	Bills and Applied Payments

	5d) 11-15-20 Credit Card list.pdf
	Transaction Detail by Account

	6b) 202011 COTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Binder.pdf
	Title
	Clssfd
	Spprt
	11302020 City+of+Twin+Oaks_Balance+Sheet (6).pdf
	Balance Sheet


	8a) Bill No. 20-21 - Ordinance Amending Zoning Code and adopting Revised Zoning Map.pdf
	Binder-Full Zoning Code-Recommended by P&Z.pdf
	Art 1 Sec 400.010-060 General Provisions-2.pdf
	Section 400.010 Title.
	Section 400.020 Comprehensive Zoning Plan; Zoning Map.
	Section 400.030 Purpose.
	Section 400.040 Interpretation.
	Section 400.050 Effect on Previous Ordinances.
	Section 400.060 Validity and Severability.

	Art 2 Sec 400.070-080 Definitions.pdf
	Art 3 Sec 400.090-120 Districts And Boundaries.pdf
	Art 4 and 5 Sec 400.130-230 Art. IV and V A & B Single-Family Dwelling.pdf
	Article IV  "A" Single-Family Dwelling District Regulations
	Section 400.130 Use Regulations.
	Section 400.140 Height Regulations.
	Section 400.150 Area Regulations.
	Section 400.160 Off-Street Parking Facilities.
	Section 400.170 Site Development Plan Application and Approval Procedures.
	Section 400.180 Special Business Permit Procedure.

	Article V  "B" Single-Family Attached Dwelling District Regulations
	Section 400.190 Use Regulations.
	Section 400.200 Height Regulations.
	Section 400.210 Area Regulations.
	Section 400.220 Off-Street Parking Facilities.
	Section 400.230 Application and Approval Procedures.


	Art 6 Sec 400.240-270 Article VI - Supplemental Regulations (utiltities, dishes, outdoor lighting).pdf
	Section 400.240 Location Utilities.
	Section 400.250 Satellite Dishes.
	Section 400.260 Outdoor Lighting.
	Section 400.270 Reserved.

	Art 7 Sec 400.280-340 'C' Commercial District Regs.pdf
	Article VII  "C" Commercial District Regulations
	Article VII  "C" Commercial District Regulations
	Section 400.280 Use Regulations.
	Section 400.290 Additional Use Requirements.
	Section 400.295 Spacing Requirement for Medical Marijuana Uses.
	Section 400.300 Height Regulations.
	Section 400.310 Area Regulations.
	Section 400.320 Off-Street Parking Facilities In "C" Residential Districts.
	Section 400.330 Site Design Requirements.
	Section 400.340 Development Plan Process and Limited Development Plan Process.


	Art 8 Sec 400.350-370 'D' Park District Regulations.pdf
	Article VIII  "D" Park District Regulations
	Section 400.350 Use Regulations.
	Section 400.360 Site Design Requirements.
	Section 400.370 Application and Approval Procedures.


	Art 9 Sec 400.380-390 'PD' Planned Development District.pdf
	Article IX  "PD" Planned Development District
	Section 400.380 District Regulations.
	Section 400.385 PD-RxM District Regulations.


	Art 10 Sec 400.390-410 Off-Street Parking Regs Final.pdf
	Article X  Off-Street Parking Regulations
	Section 400.390 Residential Parking Requirements.
	Section 400.400 Non-Residential Parking Requirements.
	Section 400.410 Permit Required/Enforcement.


	Art 11 Sec 400.420-430 Conditional Uses Final.pdf
	Section 400.420 Conditional Uses.
	Section 400.430 Application and Approval Procedures.

	Art 12 Sec 400.440 Telecommunications Towers.pdf
	Article XII  Telecommunications Towers
	Section 400.440 Telecommunication Towers.


	Art 13 Sec 400.450-470 Continuance Of Use-Discontinuance Final.pdf
	Section 400.450 Continuance of Use.
	Section 400.460 Discontinuance.
	Section 400.470 Damage and Restoration.

	Art 14 Sec 400.480-510 Administration And Enforcement Final.pdf
	Administration and Enforcement
	Section 400.480. Code Enforcement Official.
	The City Clerk of the City or one (1) or more other appointees, agencies or entities as may be designated by the Board of Aldermen is hereby designated as the Code Enforcement Official who shall have the duties of enforcing this Chapter and is hereby ...
	Section 400.490. Certificates of Occupancy.
	Section 400.500. Fees and Deposits.
	Section 400.510. Violations and Penalties.
	article_XIV_Administration_And_Enforceme
	Section_400.480_Code_Enforcement_Officia
	Section_400.500_Fees_And_Deposits.
	Section_400.510_Violations_And_Penalties

	Art 15 Sec 400.520-540 Planning & Zoning Commission Final.pdf
	Article XV  Planning and Zoning Commission
	Section 400.520 Membership.
	Section 400.530 Organization And Operation.
	Section 400.540 Meeting Times.


	Art 16 Sec 400.550 Amendments Final.pdf
	Amendments
	Section 400.550. Procedural Requirements.
	Section_400.550_Procedural_Requirements.
	article_XVI_Amendments

	Art 17 Sec 400.560-610 Board of Adjustment Final.pdf
	Article XVII  Board of Adjustment
	Section 400.560 Board of Adjustment — Created.
	Section 400.570 Meetings.
	Section 400.580 Appeals to Board of Adjustment.
	Section 400.590 Purpose and Powers of The Board of Adjustment.
	Section 400.600 Decision of Board of Adjustment.
	Section 400.610 Appeals from Board of Adjustment.


	Art xx Sec 400.xxx Special Events.pdf
	Section 400.xxx  Special Event Permits.

	Appendix A, Urban Guidelines 2020 Rev Final.pdf


	9b) Resolution No. 20-28 - Resolution Approving Contract - NuToys Leisure Products .pdf
	Contract - NuToys - Playground Installation.pdf
	Twin Oaks, Missouri
	CONTRACTOR SERVICES CONTRACT
	I. SCOPE OF SERVICES
	II. COMPENSATION
	III. TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENTS
	IV. CONTRACT SCHEDULE
	Time is of the essence. The Work shall be commenced on       , 2020, and shall be completed in a reasonable manner no later than      , 2020. Failure to complete the Work by the completion date shall result in a reduction in the amount due to the Cont...
	CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
	Other Special Provisions.  There are no special provisions set forth as part of this Contractor Services Agreement.
	EXHIBIT A
	Proposal
	AFFIDAVIT OF PARTICIPATION IN
	Subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ day of ______________, 2020.
	Exhibit C
	Insurance

	Contract - NuToys - Playground Installation.pdf
	Twin Oaks, Missouri
	CONTRACTOR SERVICES CONTRACT
	I. SCOPE OF SERVICES
	II. COMPENSATION
	III. TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENTS
	IV. CONTRACT SCHEDULE
	Time is of the essence. The Work shall be commenced on       , 2020, and shall be completed in a reasonable manner no later than      , 2020. Failure to complete the Work by the completion date shall result in a reduction in the amount due to the Cont...
	CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
	Other Special Provisions.  There are no special provisions set forth as part of this Contractor Services Agreement.
	EXHIBIT A
	Proposal
	AFFIDAVIT OF PARTICIPATION IN
	Subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ day of ______________, 2020.
	Exhibit C
	Insurance


	9b) Resolution No. 20-28 - Resolution Approving Contract - NuToys Leisure Products .pdf
	Contract - NuToys - Playground Installation.pdf
	Twin Oaks, Missouri
	CONTRACTOR SERVICES CONTRACT
	I. SCOPE OF SERVICES
	II. COMPENSATION
	III. TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENTS
	IV. CONTRACT SCHEDULE
	Time is of the essence. The Work shall be commenced on       , 2020, and shall be completed in a reasonable manner no later than      , 2020. Failure to complete the Work by the completion date shall result in a reduction in the amount due to the Cont...
	CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
	Other Special Provisions.  There are no special provisions set forth as part of this Contractor Services Agreement.
	EXHIBIT A
	Proposal
	AFFIDAVIT OF PARTICIPATION IN
	Subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ day of ______________, 2020.
	Exhibit C
	Insurance

	Contract - NuToys - Playground Installation.pdf
	Twin Oaks, Missouri
	CONTRACTOR SERVICES CONTRACT
	I. SCOPE OF SERVICES
	II. COMPENSATION
	III. TIME AND MANNER OF PAYMENTS
	IV. CONTRACT SCHEDULE
	Time is of the essence. The Work shall be commenced on       , 2020, and shall be completed in a reasonable manner no later than      , 2020. Failure to complete the Work by the completion date shall result in a reduction in the amount due to the Cont...
	CITY OF TWIN OAKS, MISSOURI
	Other Special Provisions.  There are no special provisions set forth as part of this Contractor Services Agreement.
	EXHIBIT A
	Proposal
	AFFIDAVIT OF PARTICIPATION IN
	Subscribed and sworn to before me this _____ day of ______________, 2020.
	Exhibit C
	Insurance





